
CITY OF CEDARBURG 
MEETING OF COMMON COUNCIL 

 JULY 31, 2017 – 7:00 P.M. 
 
A meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, will be held on 
Monday, July 31, 2017 at 7:00 p.m. at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, Cedarburg, 
WI, in the Council Chambers.  
            

AGENDA 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER  - Mayor Kip Kinzel 

 
2. MOMENT OF SILENCE  

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
4.        ROLL CALL:  Present – 

 
 
 
 

Common Council – Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members  
John Czarnecki, Jack Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick 
Verhaalen, Mitch Regenfuss, Patricia Thome, Mike 
O’Keefe 
 

5. STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
6. APPROVAL OF MINUTES* - July 10, 2017 
 
7. COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS** Comments from citizens on a 

listed agenda item will be taken when the item is addressed by the Council.  At this time 
individuals can speak on any topic not on the agenda for up to 5 minutes, time 
extensions at the discretion of the Mayor.  No action can be taken on items not listed 
except as a possible referral to committees, individuals or a future Council agenda item. 

 
8. PRESENTATIONS 
 
 A. Oath of Office - Blake Karnitz, Fire Inspector 
 
* B. Presentation of 2016 Annual Fire Department Report 
 
9. NEW BUSINESS 
 
* A. Consider Outdoor Alcohol Beverage License for the Handën Distillery at W62 

N590 Washington Avenue; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 07/13/17, 
Landmarks Comm. 06/29/17) 

 
* B.  Consider application from Sheila Jean Rzentkowski of R.J. Thirsty’s at W62 

N559 Washington Avenue for the Class “B” beer and “Class B” liquor license 
formerly held by Easy Street; and action thereon 

 
* C. Consider request of Jimmy Phoa of New Fortune to amend the premise 

description of the Class “B” Beer and “Class B” liquor license of New Fortune at 

1 of 199



W62 N547 Washington Avenue to sell and serve alcohol outside during 
Strawberry Fest and Wine and Harvest Fest; and action thereon 

 
* D. Consider cancellation of Class “B” beer and “Class C” wine license of Sal’s Pizza 

for non-payment; and action thereon 
 
* E. Consider Ordinance No. 2017-19 related to sex offender residency restrictions; 

and action thereon 
   
* F. Consider payment of bills for the period 07/03/17 through 07/21/17, transfers for 

the period 07/02/17 through 07/15/17, and payroll for the period 07/02/17 through 
07/15/17; and action thereon 

 
*** G. Consider License Applications; and action thereon 
    
   1. Consider approval of new Operators License applications for the period 

ending June 30, 2018 for Teia J. Batiansila, Darren D. Hackmann, 
Rochelle L. Hackmann, Pamela A. Lidington, Christopher C. Nelson, Kerry 
K. Tharp, John P. Stolte, and Robert L. Vaccarella; and action thereon 

 
 2. Consider approval of renewal Operators License applications for the 

period ending June 30, 2018 for Elizabeth A. Albers, Elizabeth M. Bursten, 
Terri J. Heidtke, Patrick R. Riley, James L. Wendt; and action thereon 

   
10.       REPORTS OF CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENT HEADS 
 
* A. Administrator’s Report 
  1. Second Quarter Financial Report 
 
* B. City Clerk’s Report – Certify Code of Ethics 
   
11. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
** A. Comments and suggestions from citizens 
 B. Comments and announcements by Council Members  

C. Mayor’s Report  
 
12.     ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION 
 

It is anticipated the Common Council will adjourn to closed session pursuant to State 
Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the purchasing of public properties, the 
investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public business whenever 
competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to 
consider a Developer’s Agreement regarding the redevelopment of the Amcast property 
and to consider cellular tower lease document to be used for location on the monopole 
to be constructed on Western Avenue.  Approval of 07/10/17 closed session minutes.  

 
 
 

2 of 199



13.     RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 

The Council reserves the right to reconvene to open session to take action on matters 
discussed in the closed session. 

 
14. Consider Developer’s Agreement for the Amcast property; and action thereon 
 
15. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Individual members of various boards, committees, or commissions may attend the above meeting.  It 
is possible that such attendance may constitute a meeting of a City board,  committee or commission 
pursuant to State ex. rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, 173 Wis. 2d 553, 494 NW 2d 408 (1993).  
This notice does not authorize attendance at either the above meeting or the Badke Meeting, but is 
given solely to comply with the notice requirements of the open meeting law. 

 
 
* Information attached for Council; available through City Clerk’s Office.   
** Citizen comments should be primarily one-way, from citizen to the Council.  Each citizen who wishes to 

speak   shall be accorded one opportunity at the beginning of the meeting and one opportunity at the end 
of the meeting.  Comments should be kept brief.  If the comment expressed concerns a matter of public 
policy, response from the Council will be limited to seeking information or acknowledging that the citizen 
has been understood.  It is out of order for anyone to debate with a citizen addressing the Council or for 
the Council to take action on a matter of public policy.  The Council may direct that the concern be placed 
on a future agenda.  Citizens will be asked to state their name and address for the record and to speak 
from the lectern for the purposes of recording their comments. 

*** Information available through the Clerk’s Office. 
 

UPON REASONABLE NOTICE, EFFORTS WILL BE MADE TO 
ACCOMMODATE THE NEEDS OF INDIVIDUALS WITH DISABILITIES. 
PLEASE CONTACT THE CITY CLERK’S OFFICE AT (262) 375-7606 

E-MAIL:  cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us 
07/27/17 ckm    

3 of 199

mailto:cityhall@ci.cedarburg.wi.us


 

  CITY OF CEDARBURG     CC20170710-1 
                                                             COMMON COUNCIL UNAPPROVED 
                                                                      July 10, 2017 
        
A regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held on 
Monday, July 10, 2017, at City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, second floor, Council 
Chambers.  Mayor Kinzel called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 
ROLL CALL: Present -  Common Council – Mayor Kip Kinzel, Council Members Jack 

Arnett, Dick Dieffenbach, Rick Verhaalen, Mitch Regenfuss, Patricia 
Thome, Mike O’Keefe 

 
                          Excused - Council Member John Czarnecki 
                         
                    Also Present - City Administrator/Treasurer Christy Mertes, City Attorney Michael 

Herbrand, Deputy City Clerk Amy Kletzien, Director of Engineering 
and Public Works Tom Wiza, interested citizens and news media 

 
STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
At Mayor Kinzel’s request, Deputy City Clerk Kletzien verified that notice of this meeting was 
provided to the public by forwarding the agenda to the City’s official newspaper, the News Graphic, 
to all news media and citizens who requested copies, and by posting in accordance with the 
Wisconsin Open Meetings law.  Citizens present were welcomed and encouraged to provide their 
input during the citizen comment portion of the meeting. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member Dieffenbach, to approve 
the minutes from the June 26, 2017 meeting.  Motion carried without a negative vote with Council 
Member Czarnecki excused.  
 
COMMENTS & SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS - None 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
CONSIDER ISSUANCE OF A TRANSIENT ENTERTAINMENT LICENSE TO RAINBOW 
VALLEY RIDES, INC. FOR THE OZAUKEE COUNTY FAIR ON AUGUST 2 (1:00 P.M. 
TO 11:00 PM), AUGUST 3, 4, & 5 (10:00 A.M. TO 11:00 PM), AND AUGUST 6, 2017 (10:00 
A.M. TO 7:00 P.M.) AND THE REQUEST TO WAIVE THE REQUIREMENT FOR A 
CLEAN UP BOND AS REQUESTED BY AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY; AND ACTION 
THEREON  
 
Rainbow Valley Rides, Inc. has applied for a Transient Entertainment License for the Ozaukee 
County Fair.  A request has been received from the Ozaukee County Agricultural Society to waive 
the requirement of a clean-up bond.  According to Sec. 7-6-1(d)(3) of the Municipal Code, the 
Council has the option to waive this requirement, which has been done for the past twenty-two 
years. 
 

4 of 199



COMMON COUNCIL CC20170710-2 
July 10, 2017                     UNAPPROVED 
 
Motion made by Council Member Verhaalen, seconded by Council Member O'Keefe, to approve 
the issuance of a Transient Entertainment license to Rainbow Valley Rides, Inc. for the Ozaukee 
County Fair on August 2 (1:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.), August 3, 4,  5 (10:00 a.m. to 11:00 p.m.), and 
August 6, 2017 (10:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m.) and the request to waive the requirement for a clean-up 
bond as requested by the Agricultural Society.  Motion carried without a negative vote with Council 
Member Czarnecki excused. 
  
CONSIDER AGREEMENT WITH SHORT ELLIOT HENDRICKSON INC. FOR DESIGN, 
CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION AND INSPECTION SERVICES ASSOCIATED 
WITH THE COMMUNICATIONS MONOPOLE; AND ACTION THEREON 
 
Director Wiza explained that in March 2017 the Council authorized SEH to proceed with design of 
the Western Road communications monopole.  To expedite the process, the Common Council 
authorized a not-to-exceed amount of $28,700, which was the amount of the line item for “design” 
listed in the project cost estimate.  Since then SEH has submitted a detailed engineering service 
proposal which includes the design, bidding, construction administration, and inspection.  Because 
the amount of this proposal ($30,000) is slightly more than the amount previously approved, staff is 
bringing back the now detailed proposal for approval. 
 
In answer to Council Member Dieffenbach’s question, Director Wiza explained that construction 
will start this fall.   
 
Motion made by Council Member Regenfuss, seconded by Council Member Thome, to approve the 
agreement with Short Elliot Hendrickson Inc. for design, construction administration and inspection 
services associated with the communications monopole.  Motion carried without a negative vote 
with Council Member Czarnecki excused.   
 
CONSIDER REQUEST OF THE FRIENDS OF THE CEDARBURG LIBRARY TO WAIVE 
LIQUOR LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENT FOR EVENT TO BE HELD ON 
JULY 13, 2017; AND ACTION THEREON 
 
Council Member Dieffenbach explained that he initiated this request on behalf of the Friends of the 
Cedarburg Library; however, after further investigation realized that it was not doable under the 
current policy.  He stated that this should be allowed in the future because it is a member’s only 
night and there is no charge for the wine.  He would appreciate further review of the policy for 
future events.  He stated that the Friends of the Library work hard to raise as much as $600,000 in 
book sales to help the Library and it would not be cost efficient to purchase liquor liability for this 
one event.  No action was taken. 
        
CONSIDER PAYMENT OF BILLS FOR THE PERIOD 06/23/17 THROUGH 06/30/17, 
TRANSFERS FOR THE PERIOD 06/24/17 THROUGH 07/07/17, AND PAYROLL FOR 
THE PERIOD 06/18/17 THROUGH 07/01/17; AND ACTION THEREON 
 
Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member O'Keefe, to approve 
payment of bills for the period 06/23/17 through 06/30/17, transfers for the period 06/24/17 through 
07/07/17, and payroll for the period 06/18/17 through 07/01/17. 
 

5 of 199



COMMON COUNCIL CC20170710-3 
July 10, 2017                     UNAPPROVED 
 
In answer to Council Member Dieffenbach’s question, City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes 
explained that the $42,000 for foundation repair by Oostburg Concrete Products is for the Fire 
Department retaining wall.  
 
Council Member Verhaalen asked if the payment to Ramboll Environmental, shown on page 9, was 
to satisfy DNR reporting on the Prochnow property.  City Administrator/Treasurer Mertes 
confirmed that it was. 
 
Motion carried without a negative vote with Council Member Czarnecki excused.   
 
CONSIDER LICENSE APPLICATIONS; AND ACTION THEREON 
 
Motion made by Council Member Arnett, seconded by Council Member Thome, to approve new 
Operators License applications for the period ending June 30, 2018 for Antoinette L. Dunst, Vita 
Marie Ferrara, Jennifer Ann Jahn, David R. Kellner, Alexander J. Knaus, Robert M. Nash, Jamie 
Nevins, Andrea J. Patnode, and Lauren Siegesmund.  Motion carried without a negative vote with 
Council Member Czarnecki excused. 
 
Motion made by Council Member O'Keefe, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to approve 
renewal Operators License applications for the period ending June 30, 2018 for John O. Baker, 
Dixie K. Borzick, Evan N. Bray, Lois M. Bray, Richard L. Carlson, Benjamin S. Clithero, Edward 
J. Dettloff, Deborah A. Dunne, Ronald R. Ernst, LeRoy C. Haeuser, Lori A. Haeuser, Mark 
Hilgendorf, Madeline Houdek, Gregory J. Jourdain, Robert A. Kitzerow, Christine A. Krause, Craig 
E. Lowdermilk, Neal Maciejewski, Niall M. McCue, Jacki L. Moegenburg, Sheridan P. Riley, 
Richard J. Roden, Robert J. Roden, Kyle D. Scheithauer, Kari S. Schwartz, Thomas J. Shippen and 
Warren D. Seifert.  Motion carried without a negative vote with Council Member Czarnecki 
excused.  
 
ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT - None 
 
COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS - None 
 
COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS BY COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 
Council Member Dieffenbach explained that he has received calls regarding the change in pick up 
days for refuse in parts of the City.  It is difficult to pick up refuse on a Friday near the Fairgrounds 
when there are parking restrictions and sometimes it is not picked up until the following Monday.  
He asked that the routes be reviewed again. 
 
Council Member Arnett explained that the second Branding Committee meeting was held today.  
The group approved the RFP and will mail them by July 15 for return by August 15.  The 
Committee plans to choose a firm by September 15. 
 
In answer to Council Member O'Keefe’s question, Council Member Arnett stated that the RFP was 
modeled from another community. 
   
MAYOR’S REPORT - None 

6 of 199



COMMON COUNCIL CC20170710-4 
July 10, 2017                     UNAPPROVED 
 
ADJOURNMENT – CLOSED SESSION 
 
Motion made by Council Member Thome, seconded by Council Member O'Keefe, to adjourn to 
closed session at 7:17 p.m. pursuant to State Statutes 19.85(1)(e) to deliberate or negotiate the 
purchasing of public properties, the investing of public funds, or conducting other specified public 
business whenever competitive or bargaining reasons require a closed session, more specifically, to 
consider a Developer’s Agreement regarding the redevelopment of the Amcast property.   Approval 
of closed session minutes of 05/08/17.  Motion carried unanimously on a roll call vote with Council 
Member Czarnecki excused. 
 
RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION 
 
Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to reconvene 
to open session at 9:13 p.m.  Motion carried unanimously on a roll call vote with Council Member 
Czarnecki excused. 
 
CONSIDER DEVELOPER’S AGREEMENT FOR THE AMCAST PROPERTY; AND 
ACTION THEREON 
 
No action was taken. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion made by Council Member Dieffenbach, seconded by Council Member Arnett, to adjourn 
the meeting at 9:13 p.m.  Motion carried without a negative vote with Council Member Czarnecki 
excused.  
        
      Amy D. Kletzien, MMC/WCPC 
      Deputy City Clerk 

7 of 199



1 8 of 199



2 9 of 199



2016  
Active Membership Roster 

Over 30 years        1 to 10 years   
Edward A. Bublitz       Andrew Heidtke * Captain Engine Co. 
Jeffrey J. Vahsholtz * Chief      Matt Petrarca 
Raymond R. Jung       John Schrader 
John L. Oswald        David M. Schwantes 
Gregory G. Boerner       Craig Hartwig 
William H. Hintz * Asst. Chief      John E. Zarling 
         Megan Czisny 
21 to 30 years        Joseph W. Hintz *Lt. Asst Chief Engineer 
Caryl A. Giuliani        Robert Jung 
Suzanne V. Ernst       Caroline Kison 
Mark J. Montaine       Rex P. Roebken 
Scott E. Matusewic *Deputy Chief     Norine Nelson 
Kara Racine        Paul E. Riegel *Lt. Training Officer 
         William A. Esselmann 
11 to 20 years        Matthew J. Heiss *Lt. Rescue Co. 
Lisa M. Boerner        Peter C. Neuman    
James G. Bougie       Janet L. Weber  
Theresa M. Grube * Lt. Rescue Co.     Todd Whitrock 
Kim M. Gordon * Deputy Chief      Stacy K. Cooke 
Joel L. Bublitz        Becky Delsman 
Brian Kison        Kelly LaPorta 
Grant D. Witte        Stacy A. Seatz 
Whitney Dobson *Captain Safety Officer    Kari A. Klug 
Joseph Grube * Lt. Engine Co.      Bryan J. Price 
Craig A. Boerner * Lt. Chief Engineer     Paul Goetz 
Nathan M. Matter       Dustin Halyburton 
Peter Pautz        Randy Tews 
Christopher C. Hoerz       Jeffrey Frankard 
Nicole J. Zarling * Lt. Rescue Co.     Dennis Grulkowski   
         Jeffrey A. Klingler  
         Jeff Nelson 
         Andrew Hester 

         Under 1 year    
         Andrew Roberts 
         Jason Peterson 
         John Daggett 
Total Active Members:  61      Danielle Kussard 
*Chiefs and Officers  
                               

                           
 
 
 

        

 3 10 of 199



 

 

55

60

65

70

75

#  of Active Members

71 
68 

61 

Active Membership  (3 year span) 

2014
2015
2016

0

10

20

30

40

Over 30
years

21 to 30
years

11 to 20
years

1 to 10
years under 1

year

6 6 

16 

35 

8 
6 7 

14 

33 

8 
6 

5 

14 

32 

4 

# of Members 

Members’ Years of Experience 
(3 year span) 

2014
2015
2016

4 11 of 199



2016 Promotions 

Firefighter Dustin Halyburton took on the role of  
Public Education Coordinator for CFD.   
 
Dustin’s smile, his calm and cheerful attitude and  
love for teaching children is perfect for this role.   
 
For more about Public Education activities in 2016, 
see page 15. 
 
 
 
 
Tanya Zarling was promoted in March 2016 to Lieutenant of Explorers, and took her leadership role seriously.  
She participated in the Explorer Challenge skills test in June at Bayshore Mall, proudly and singly representing 
CFD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Explorers program gained 4 new members, increasing total membership to eleven.    
Explorers: Scott Anderson, Daniel Dowty, Heather Goetz, Ryan Hoffmann, Emily Jung, Ryan Klingler, Eddie 
Lanser, Katie Matusewic, Joardin Morris, Amy Tews and Tanya Zarling. 

 
 

5 12 of 199



In 2016, the bell tolled one last time for these CFD members: 
 
 

  Ardell Guetzke 
  Gerald Hammetter 
  Jim Langnes 
  Rodger Rahn 

 

6 

In Memoriam 

13 of 199



In 2016, the Cedarburg Fire Department responded to a total of 1,000 incidents in 
both the City and Town of Cedarburg, and mutual aid requests. 

 

0

200

400

600

Rescue
Fire

594 

152 
159 

52 15 
28 

City
Town
Mutual Aid

7 

0
100
200
300
400
500

EMS Rescue Call
Motor Vehicle

Accident

569 

22 

127 

28 11 
4 

City
Town
Mutual Aid

Types of Rescue 
Incidents in 2016 

 
City:  591   
Town: 155 

  Mutual Aid Given: 15 
 

Mutual Aid Received from other Departments 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Mutual Aid Received

6 

25 

3 

Thiensville

Grafton

Mequon

0

100

200

300

Paramedic Intercepts

229 

3 

Thiensville

Mequon

14 of 199



Types of Fire Incidents in 2016 
City: 154  Town: 52  Mutual Aid/Mabas: 28 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45
50
55

Fi
re

 A
la

rm
 (f

al
se

)
Al

ar
m

 M
al

fu
nc

tio
n

Ca
rb

on
 M

on
ox

id
e

Sm
ok

e/
G

as
/O

do
r

Sp
ill

/L
ea

k/
Ha

za
rd

ou
s

El
ec

tr
ic

al
St

ru
ct

ur
e 

Fi
re

Co
ok

in
g 

Fi
re

Gr
as

s/
Br

us
h 

Fi
re

Ve
hi

cl
e 

Fi
re

U
na

ut
ho

riz
ed

 B
ur

n
Ru

bb
ish

/T
ra

sh
Po

w
er

 L
in

es
/L

ig
ht

ni
ng

An
im

al
 R

es
cu

e

Ac
ci

de
nt

 c
le

an
up

/o
th

er

M
isc

/C
an

ce
le

d

M
AB

AS
/M

ut
ua

l A
id

39 

59 

3 

14 

10 

6 
4 

2 
0 

3 
0 1 1 2 

0 

10 

7 
10 

3 2 
3 4 

1 
4 

2 4 
1 2 

1 2 
6 

28 

City
Town
Mutual Aid

Structure fires in 2016   
City:  1 Radio Repeater building fire, 1 apartment balcony fire (minor), 
1 minor incident (floor heater) at the high school, and 1 couch fire (minor)  
Town: 1 blanket fire (minor)   
Other fire incidents:  Lightning strike to a home,  a car fire involving a shed, and an eating 
establishment kitchen fire. 
 
CFD responded to 14 MABAS box fire calls to assist other departments:   
3 to Grafton FD,  2 to Mequon FD,  3 to Newburg FD, 1 to Jackson FD, 1 to Port Washington FD, 
3 to Germantown & 1 to Thiensville FD.   
 
CFD also provided Mutual aid:  7 times to Grafton, 1 to Germantown, 1 to Thiensville.  Grafton 
and Thiensville assisted CFD 4 times –including cleanup for a diesel fuel spill at Firemen’s Park. 
 
Special incidents: 
• CFD assisted a person in distress who was stuck in an elevator 
•  In May CFD rescued 4 ducklings that had gotten into a storm drain 
• In July, a cat was rescued from a tree 
• In December, the CFD dive team saved a dog from the icy waters in Cedar Creek 
 
 
 

8 15 of 199



9 

0

500

1000

1500

Fire Calls Rescue
Calls Mutual Aid Total

169 

780 

58 

1007 

188 

839 

49 

1076 

205 

833 

61 

1099 

179 

812 

54 

1045 

204 

753 

43 

1000 

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Annual Fire and Rescue Incident Comparison over 5 years 
 

16 of 199



Apparatus 2016 Update 
In 2016, CFD replaced our 1990 engine.   The new engine is a 2017 Pierce Quantum P.U.C. (pump under cab) 
attack engine.  Purchase price $680,000.   
With all the newest safety features for the crew, it has a 1500gpm pump and a 1000 gallon water tank.  It is the 
first engine out to respond to structure fires. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In August, during the Ozaukee County Fair, a traditional “wet down” for the new engine was a memorable 
event. 
 
List of All Apparatus: 
• Rescue Squad 151 & 152, Medium Duty Transport Squad. These twin transports both have Kenworth 

chassis with Medtec bodies. The two units were designed by CFD rescue squad members with the safety 
of crews and patients in mind. Placed in service in July 2012.  Purchase price: $208,000 each 

• Heavy Rescue Squad 153, 2006 Pierce Quantum Heavy Duty Rescue. Placed in service January 2007. 
Purchase Price: $500,000 

• Grass Truck 157, 1989 GMC, custom pick up truck. Purchase price: $28,000 
• Truck 158, 2006 GMC 5500 / Pierce Wild Land Body. Purchase price: $110,000   (continued next page) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

10 17 of 199



• Ladder Tower 159 is a 1988 Pierce, 105 foot aerial platform powered by a 475 horsepower Detroit diesel 
engine. This truck does not carry water, but is equipped with a single stage, centrifugal Waterous Pump 
which can pump up to 1500 gallons per minute.  Purchase price:  500,000.  *In 2015, Tower 159 received 
safety and operational updates totaling $25,000. 

• Engine 161 is a 2005 Pierce Quantum Chrome series, the first one produced.  Placed in service February 
2005.  Purchase price:  $460,000 

• Engine 162 is a 2009 Pierce Quantum P.U.C. (pump under cab) engine. Placed in service August 2009.  
Purchase price:  $560,000 

• Engine 163 is a 2017 Pierce Quantum P.U.C. engine, the newest engine in CFD’s  fleet.  (see previous 
page for picture and info) 

• Tender 164 is a 1994 pumper/tanker.  A Pierce, Lance powered by a 450 horsepower Detroit diesel 
engine.  Updated in 2009 with remote control, automatic stainless steel dump shoots and a rear 
mounted camera system for safety.  Purchase price:  $270,000  Updates:  $22,000 

• Utility Truck 154 is a 2014 Chevrolet Tahoe 4x4.  Utilized by the fire inspector, for training and for special 
events.  Purchase price:  $60,000 

• Command Vehicle 156 is a 2013 Chevrolet Suburban 4x4.  This vehicle is used by command staff to 
respond to fire and select rescue calls.  Purchase price:  $80,000 

• Dive trailer was designed and built by members with a cargo trailer donated to the department in 
memory of 2 fallen firefighters.  The dive trailer responds to all dive calls and any other situations 
deemed necessary by the Chief.  Cost to build:  $20,000 

• Utility Truck 155 is a 2004 Chevrolet 2500 HD, 4x4 with crew cab pick-up.  Purchase price: $ 51,000 
• E.R.V. (Emergency Response Vehicle) is a 1970 Cushman utility cart converted into a patient transport 

unit, equipped with medical supplies and equipment needed to treat sick and/or injured patients, used 
for festivals and celebrations hosted in Cedarburg throughout the year. 

• B.E.R.T. (Bicycle Emergency Response Team) consists of two Cannondale Enforcement Bicycles.  These 
are used for EMT’s to respond quickly and safely through crowds to reach patients.   

• E.R.V. purchase price: $2,300.  B.E.R.T. purchase price: $1,520. E.R.V. Restoration costs:  $4,700. 
          Local business donation for painting: $3,000.  Total: $11,520 
 
Antique Fire Equipment 
The Cedarburg Fire Department has a collection of five pieces of antique apparatus. 
• 1907 horse-drawn Howe pumper along with a 1907 man-drawn hose cart. 
• 1924 Graham/Dodge pumper, the first motorized fire truck in the department. 
• 1928 Pirsch pumper.  Originally purchased new by CFD and then purchased back by other owners and 

restored.  Both pumpers are still fully driveable. 
• 1956 FWD (now Seagrave Fire Apparatus) Geesink Ladder Truck. The 85-foot unit was purchased in May 

1957.  In March 1976 it was empowered with a Detroit G-71 diesel engine.  In the spring of 1978, the 
body and ladder was repainted and refurbished to include an enclosed cab.  Original purchase price: 
$35,000.  In 2002, CFD purchased it back from the Bristol FD for $5,107. 
 

These antique trucks are all housed in the Station 3 museum and they are always crowd pleasers at the 
parades and shows. 

 

11 18 of 199



2016 Training 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Always a priority for the Cedarburg Fire Dept, many hours get devoted to specific fire and rescue training 
throughout the year, not only to make sure we deliver the best service to the community, but to keep our 
firefighters and EMS personnel safe while we carry out our duties. 

 
In 2016, department training hours consisted of: 
 
Fire Suppression :  1,346 hours 
EMS Rescue : 3,374 hours  (includes state re-certification courses) 
Engineers :  724 hours 
Auto Extrication :  70 hours 
Dive Team :  66 hours 
Explorers : 207 hours 
Officer Meetings : 160 hours 
 
Total:  5,947 hours 

 
 
 
 
 
 

12 19 of 199



CFD Training Hours  
(3 year span) 

10

310

610

910

1210

1510

1810

2110
2081 

722 

469 

227 

1245 

51 96 

2087 

540 485 

195 

1265 

10 124 

1346 

207 

724 

160 

3374 

70 66 

Training 
Categories 

2014
2015
2016

13 20 of 199



EMS Rescue Standby  
 Cedarburg Festivals 

Cedarburg Festivals are a very important part of the community, with thousands of 
people attending from surrounding cities and towns, as well as states!    
 
The Cedarburg Fire Department personnel is ready and on standby for these events 
during the year: Winter Festival, Strawberry Festival, July 4th, and Fall Harvest Festival.    
 
CFD personnel can also be found at each home football game for Cedarburg High School 
with the E.R.V. on the side of the field, in case of any emergency. 
 
 
In 2016, our EMS and Fire personnel logged over 950 hours standing by ready to 
respond with our mobile emergency cart (E.R.V.) and with emergency response teams 
on bicycles (B.E.R.T. ) 

14 21 of 199



Public Education 

The Cedarburg Fire Department’s Bureau of Public Education and Fire Prevention actively promotes 
the Department’s core objective of protecting life and property. Premised on the belief that 
prevention, rather than reaction, is the safest, most cost-effective way to further this objective, the 
Bureau strives to foster the public’s awareness and facilitate their implementation of the basic rules 
of fire safety.  This effort begins by reaching out to ordinary citizens, including the children, the 
adults, the elderly and the disabled. 
 
In 2016, CFD coordinated numerous types of public education events and put in over 300 hours of 
department personnel participation.    
 
January thru May: 
• Cedarburg Junior Woman’s Club tour of station with kids 
• St. Francis Survive Alive for 2nd grade 
• Cedarburg Preschool  
• Make a Wish PR Event 
• Sample of Cedarburg @ The Cultural Center 
• Thorson Elementary Read A Thon 
• St Francis 4K class – video and tour of station 

 
June thru September: 
• Survive Alive House – Thorson (2nd grade), Parkview (2nd grade),  
• History of CFD (organized by Cultural Center) Tours for 2nd 3rd and 5th grade students. 
• Kindercare – Fire engine visit 
• Safety Town (Classes 1, 2 and 3) 
• Survive Alive House, Tour and Squirt House 
• First Immanuel Lutheran  - Station tour and Survive Alive House 
• Thiensville Safety Day – new 163 Engine  
 
October thru December: 
• Cedarburg Safety Day @ Firemen’s Park 
• Truck Visit - Westlawn Elementary (kindergarten class) 
• Cedarburg Mom’s Club and Grafton Mom’s Club Station Tour 
• Safety Week  - classroom visit 4K 
• Safety Talk and Fire Extinguisher Training @ GHL Industries 
 
 

 
 

 15 22 of 199



Fire Prevention 
Three significant events in which the Cedarburg Fire Department annually participates includes: 
 
• Delivering Fire Prevention – a yearly event coordinated by Safe Kids Southeast Wisconsin. CFD delivers 

pizza certificates on behalf of local pizza establishments in department apparatus.  Once at a residence, 
the home is checked to verify that their smoke detectors are working properly.  If they are working, the 
pizza certificate is given to the homeowner.  If they are not, issues are reviewed and if the homeowner is 
in need of a smoke detector or CO detector, then CFD provides one free of charge. 

 
 
 
 
 

16 

In October, at the end of Fire Prevention 
Week, the Department held its annual  
Safety Day at Firemen’s Park.   
The Cedarburg Police Department, WI State 
Patrol and many other community 
organizations participated with displays and 
information on drug awareness, water safety, 
and home safety.  Multiple fire and rescue 
demonstrations included:  auto extrication, 
fire extinguishers, smoke detectors, dive 
team, fire sprinkler demo trailer and EMS.  
With our apparatus on display, CFD members 
are always happy to participate and answer 
any questions about the apparatus, the 
station and fire safety in general. 
 

Change Your Clock, Change Your 
Battery – this program is coordinated 
with Beyer’s True Value hardware 
store locally and reminds citizens to 
install new batteries in their smoke 
detectors when they change their 
clocks at the conclusion of Daylight 
Savings Time. Greeted by Department 
members and apparatus, shoppers 
and passersby were provided with 
hundreds of free batteries (thanks to 
Beyer’s) received fire prevention 
handouts. 
 

23 of 199



Goals for 2017 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
• Implementation of a Rescue Task Force 
• Purchase a new ambulance mobile cart to be used at festivals, football games, 4th of July and other 

events 
• Purchase of a UTV to be used as a first response fire vehicle for festivals and other events. 
• Hire a full time Fire Inspector who will inspect businesses in the City and Town of Cedarburg, and who 

also has EMS and Fire training/qualifications to be able to respond to rescue and fire calls 

Fire Safety Building Inspections 

For almost 20 years, the Cedarburg Fire Department has contracted Fire Inspection Services 
Inc. to conduct the semi-annual inspections for all commercial businesses in the City of 
Cedarburg.   In 2016, FIS completed 1207 total inspections for over 600 businesses in the City. 
 
Bill Koeppen, our part-time fire inspector within the Department, conducts the semi-annual 
inspections for over 70 commercial businesses in the Town of Cedarburg.  Bill completed 147 
total inspections for businesses in the Town, 43 premise inspections for liquor licenses in the 
City and Town, and over 25 new occupancy inspections for new businesses in the City. 
 
The idea of having the Department take over the inspections for the City, in addition to the 
Town of Cedarburg, became a short term goal this year.  Bill’s experience and his efficient 
organization have helped pave the path to hire a full-time fire inspector, who can take over 
when Bill is ready to retire. 
 

17 24 of 199



150th Anniversary Celebration 
On March 10, 2015, Chief Vahsholtz held the first meeting to 
discuss plans for celebrating  the Department’s  150th anniversary.   
During many weeks and months to follow (over a year and a half) 
several members stepped up to help with the planning and success 
of a multi-layered anniversary celebration, complete with a 200-
page historical anniversary book, which is a treasured memoir for 
all members past and present.   
 
The 150th  celebration was held on August 20,, 2016 and took place 
in Cedar Creek Park, complete with two live bands, a display of the 
department’s apparatus, kid’s games, the Sprecher fire truck 
serving beer/soda, and lots of food and refreshments served by the 
Cedarburg Lion’s Club. A memorable fireworks show, put on by 
Bartolotta Fireworks, was a perfect end to the night after a fun day 
mixed with sunshine and clouds! 
 
In addition to the book, several 150th commemorative items were 
created to help raise money including:  an anniversary patch, a 
150th challenge coin, fire boot shaped can koozies and 150th  
t-shirts designed by the committee for adults and children.  In 
addition, tickets for a 50/50 raffle were sold at Maxwell St Days and 
festivals, and by CFD members to help raise money. Much 
appreciation went to local businesses and groups who also gave 
donations to help support the department’s celebration.   
 
The event was advertised and promoted in the News Graphic, 
inviting the community citizens to attend and celebrate with the 
department -  over 550 who attended were past and present CFD 
members with their families, making it the largest CFD reunion in 
years! 

 
Co-chairs for the overall planning of the 150th anniversary:   
Bill Koeppen, Rich Van Dinter and Jeff Vahsholtz.   
 
The 150th committee included:  Hank Beyer, Denise Boerner-Lilly, Joel Bublitz, 
Becky Delsman, Dick Dieffenbach, Maggie Dobson, Dave Goggin, Kim Gordon, 
Andy Heidtke, Bill Hintz, Chuck Kison, Diana Klingler, Jeff Klingler, Scott 
Matusewic, Mark Montaine, Kara Racine and Ray Vollrath. 
 
Members who spent countless hours creating the 150th book: 
Denise Boerner-Lilly, Andy Heidtke, Dave Goggin, Diana Klingler, Jeff Klingler, 
Norine Nelson and Ray Vollrath. 
 18 25 of 199



19 26 of 199



20 27 of 199



 

 CITY OF CEDARBURG 

MEETING DATE:  July 31, 2017                                                               ITEM NO: 9. A. 

 

TITLE: Consider Outdoor Alcohol Beverage License for the Handen Distillery at W62 N590 Washington 

Avenue; and action thereon (Plan Comm. 7/13/2017, Landmarks Comm. 6/29/2017). 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  The “Händen Distillery” recently received conditional use approval to conduct their 

distilling operation from the renovated downtown building at W62 N590 Washington Avenue and they are now 

requesting an Outdoor Alcohol Beverage License to serve their product on the small patio out front. This patio 

measures 9’2” X 11’10” and will be accessed from within the distillery through a set of sliding glass doors. A 

steel guard rail is proposed to separate the patio from the front public sidewalk and a window will be added on 

the north wall of this outdoor patio area.   

 

This request is before you for approval in accordance with Section 7-2-17(b) of the Code of Ordinances which 

states: The Plan Commission shall review all proposed Outdoor Alcohol Beverage Licenses to determine 

if they are harmful, offensive or otherwise adverse to the surrounding neighborhood and shall 

recommend that the license be granted as requested, modified or denied. If the premise is within the 

Historic District, the Plan Commission shall take into consideration the recommendation of the 

Landmarks Commission.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: At their July 13, 2017 meeting, the 

Plan Commission recommended approval by unanimous vote. At its June 29th meeting, the Landmarks 

Commission reviewed this request for the location and type of fence enclosure and they also recommended 

approval by unanimous vote subject to: 

 Any unanticipated problems that may occur shall be the responsibility of the applicant to correct 

immediately upon notification.  

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 July 13, 2017 Plan Commission Minutes 

 June 29, 2017 Landmarks Commission Minutes. 

 Fence and patio plans. 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY: Greg Zimmerschied and John Padberg  

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT: Jonathan P. Censky, City Planner, 262-375-7610 

 

 

28 of 199



29 of 199



 LANDMARKS COMMISSION LAN20170629-1 
 June 29, 2017 UNAPPROVED 
 
A regular meeting of the Landmarks Commission, City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin, was held 
Thursday, June 29, 2017 at Cedarburg City Hall, W63 N645 Washington Avenue, lower level, 
room 1.  
 
The meeting was called to order by Chairperson Judy Jepson at 7:00 p.m. 
 
Roll Call: Present - Council Member Patricia Thome, Judy Jepson, Tom Kubala, 

James Pape, Robert Ross 
 

 Excused - Tomi Fay Forbes, Doug Yip 
 

 Also Present -  City Planner Jon Censky 
 
STATEMENT OF PUBLIC NOTICE 
 
Chairperson Jepson acknowledged that the agenda for this meeting was posted and distributed in 
compliance with the Wisconsin Open Meetings Law.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Motion made by James Pape, seconded by Robert Ross, to approve the minutes of the June 8, 
2017 meeting.  Motion carried without a negative vote with Tomi Fay Forbes and Doug Yip 
excused and Council Member Patricia Thome abstaining.  
 
COMMENTS AND SUGGESTIONS FROM CITIZENS – None 
 
REGULAR BUSINESS 
 
Consider Approval of Signs, Window, Paving and Railings for New Distillery at W62 N590 
Washington Avenue; and Action Thereon 
 
Don Stauss, the architect, reviewed the project along with the addition of a window on the north 
wall of the outdoor seating area. 
 
Robert Ross questioned the use of aluminum doors and Don Stauss explained that they are 
consistent with the existing doors. 
 
Planner Censky advised that the Landmarks review is part of the process for the Outdoor 
Alcohol Beverage License requested by the business owner for the outdoor seating area. The 
Plan Commission will review the request at its July 13, 2017 meeting and the Common Council 
will make the final decision. 
 
James Pape moved to approve the proposed wall and projecting signs, the sliding doors, the 
paving, the wrought iron/steel railing and the addition of a window on the north wall. The motion 
was seconded by Council Member Patricia Thome and carried without a negative vote, with 
Tomi Fay Forbes and Doug Yip excused. 

30 of 199



31 of 199



32 of 199



CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: July 31, 2017                                                                ITEM NO:   9. B. 

 

                           

TITLE:   Consider application from Sheila Jean Rzentkowski of R.J. Thirsty’s at W62 N559 Washington 

Avenue for the Class “B” beer and “Class B” liquor license formerly held by Easy Street; and action thereon 

 

 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:  Easy Street closed on June 30, 2017; therefore, a “Class B” liquor license is available.  

The current owner of the building has applied for the license.  This owner previously ran the business prior to it 

being leased to Dan Brush of Easy Street. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    N/A 

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  $600 annual fee 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:     None 

 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:     Sheila Rzentkowski 

 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:           Connie McHugh, City Clerk 
 
 
 

 

33 of 199



CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: July 31, 2017                                                                             ITEM NO:   9. C. 

 

                           

TITLE:  Consider request of Jimmy Phoa of New Fortune to amend the premise description of the Class “B” 

Beer and “Class B” liquor license of New Fortune at W62 N547 Washington Avenue to sell and serve alcohol 

outside during Strawberry Fest and Wine and Harvest Fest; and action thereon 

 

  

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:   The owners of New Fortune are seeking permission to alter the liquor license premise 

description to be able to sell and serve alcohol on the street in front of the business during Strawberry Fest and 

Wine and Harvest Festival.    

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    N/A 

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  N/A 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:     Request from Jimmy Phoa 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:     Jimmy Phoa 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:           Connie McHugh, City Clerk 
 
 
 

 

34 of 199



35 of 199



CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

MEETING DATE: July 31, 2017                                                         ITEM NO:   9. D. 

 

                           

TITLE:   Consider cancellation of Class “B” beer and “Class C” wine license of Sal’s Pizza for non-payment; 

and action thereon 

 

 

ISSUE SUMMARY:   The owner of Sal’s Pizza has not picked up or paid for his beer and wine licenses for 

the new licensing year.  Several attempts have made to contact the owner, including a letter mail on July 5, 

2017.  According to the City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances, Sec. 7-2-5(c) “Any licenses for which the 

license fee is not paid within fifteen (15) days of approval of the application by the Common Council shall be 

returned to the Common Council for cancellation or other disposition”. 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:    Cancel the licenses due to non-payment. 

 

 

BOARD, COMMISSION OR COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   N/A 

 

 

 

BUDGETARY IMPACT:  Loss of $200 annual license fee 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS:     Letter sent to owner 

 

INITIATED/REQUESTED BY:     Connie McHugh, City Clerk 

 

FOR MORE INFORMATION CONTACT:           Connie McHugh, City Clerk 
 
 
 

 

36 of 199



 
 
 
 
 

July 5, 2017 
 

 
 
Christian Leonard – Sal’s Pizza 
W63 N635 Washington Avenue 
Cedarburg, WI  53012 
 
Dear Mr. Leonard, 
 

Your 2017-18 Class “B” Beer and “Class C” Wine licenses have not been paid for or picked up.  
According to the City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances, Sec. 7-2-5(c) “Any licenses for which the license 
fee is not paid within fifteen (15) days of approval of the application by the Common Council shall be 
returned to the Common Council for cancellation or other disposition”. 
 

Please make arrangements to pay for and pick up this license immediately.  If it is not picked up 
or paid for the matter will be placed on the agenda of the July 31 meeting of the Common Council. 

 
Prior to release of the license a copy of your current Wisconsin seller’s permit must be provided, 

as well as a copy of a paid receipt from Cedarburg Light and Water. 
 
       Sincerely, 
 
 
 
       Constance K. McHugh 
       City Clerk 
 
 
 
 

cc:  Christy Mertes, City Administrator/Treasurer 
       Thomas Frank, Police Chief 
       Michael Herbrand, City Attorney 
       Home address of applicant 
 
 
 
 

 

 

37 of 199



IN MEMORI&M
Robyn L. Fcind,Jr. Ralph E. Houseman
Jciisn M. Cub 1916-2012
Michael P. Herbrand L.LP.
MargareiG.Zickuhr ATTORNEYS AT LAW OFCOUNSEL
Timothy S. Schounenbeig

1650 NINTH AVENuE Donald P. O’Mcara
John W. Stevens

Johnachan C. Woodward POST OFFICE Box 104

AmhcrJ. Horak GMrrON, WISCONSIN 53024-0104 TELEpHoNE
‘E’WW.HOUSEMANUW.COM (262) 377-0600

FACSIMILE
(262) 3774S0

July 26, 2017

Ms. Christy Mertes, Clerk
City of Cedarburg
P. o. Box 49
Cedarburg, Wisconsin.530l2

Re: Sex Offender Residency Restrictions

Dear Christy:

As a result of a recent decision by the United Stated Federal District Court, with regard to
sex offender residency restrictions imposed by the Village of Pleasant Prairie, I am recommend
ing an amendment to the City of Cedarburg’s Sex Offender Residency Restrictions and Child
Safety Zone Ordinance. I wanted to provide you with this letter as an explanation for that
recommended change.

On April 17, 2017, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin
decided the case Hoffman v. Village of Pleasant Prairie, 2017 \VL 1380560. In Hoffman. the
Court ruled that a sex offender residency restriction ordinance in the Village of Pleasant Prairie
was unconstitutional. The Pleasant Prairie ordinance restricted sex offenders from living within
3,000 feet of a “prohibited location” which included any school, daycare, park, trail, playground,
and other areas where children are known to congregate. The ordinance also prohibited
offenders from moving in to the Village unless they were originally domiciled in the Village at
the time of their most recent offense. Sex offenders that lived in the Village at the time that the
ordinance was adopted were allowed to stay, but the ordinance also placed a ban on renewing
rental agreements with offenders which would extend more than six (6) months beyond the
ordinance’s effective date.

In passing the ordinance, the Village of Pleasant Prairie prepared a map showing that the
ordinance would make more than 90% of the Village off limits to sex offenders. The remaining
10% was largely non-residential and, when factoring in the 3,000-foot prohibition from areas
where children may congregate, most of the Village’s low-income housing was excluded from
where offenders could reside. When enacting the ordinance, the Village did not obtain or
consider any studies or data regarding the safety risk of allowing designated offenders to live
near the prohibited locations. The Village also produced no evidence, either when adopting the
ordinance or in Court, indicating that sex offenders living outside of the Village at the time of
their last offense posed a greater safety risk than those who lived within the Village.

38 of 199



HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP

July 26, 2017
Page 2

The Hofthan Court found that the Village’s ordinance served to banish sex offenders
from the Village, especially when considering the provision requiring offenders living in rental
units to leave those units after six (6) months of the date of the adoption of the ordinance.
“Banishment” is deemed a form of punishment under the law and. therefore, the Court found that
the ordinance violated the Ex Post Facto clause of the United States Constiwtion, which
prohibits retroactive punishment by the government.

The Federal Court farther found that the Village Ordinance violated the equal protection
clause of the Constitution because it treated sex offenders differently. Those offenders who were
domiciled in the Village at the time of their last offense were allowed to remain in the Village.
Other offenders, who were not so domiciled, were blocked from moving in to the Village or, as
explained in more detail above, potentially compelled to leave the Village if they were tenants in
a rental unit. The Court noted that the Village had no evidence that the difference between these
groups had any bearing on the safety risk to the community. “The Court would likely be
compelled to find the ordinance constitutional if the Village had offered any evidence providing
such a justification.... It did not, and this failure leaves the Court no choice but to conclude that
the ordinance violated the Plaintiffs’ equal protection rights in making an irrational domicile-
based distinction between Designated Offenders.” Id. at page 8.

As a result of this recent case, I have had an opportunity to review the City’s existing Sex
Offender Residency Restriction Ordinance. Enclosed with this letter is a map showing those
residential areas in the City that would be available to sex offenders. The City Planner and staff
have attempted to calculate the rough percentage of residential units available to offenders, under
the current City Ordinance, and found that approximately 22% of the City’s total number of
residential units are available. We also believe that these units represent a relatively even cross
section of available units based upon valuation.

However, the current City Ordinance, at Section 5-6-3 (d) of the City Ordinance, includes
a domicile restriction similar to the Village of Pleasant Prairie ordinance. That section states as
follows:

In addition to, and notwithstanding the foregoing [residency restriction],
but subject to subsection (c) of this section, no person who has been
convicted of a sexually violent offense and/or crime against children
shall be permitted to reside in the City of Cedarburg and no supervised
release of such Wisconsin Statute Chapter 980 Sexually Violent Person
shall be established in the City of Cedarburg unless such person had
lived in the City of Cedarburg at the time of the offense resulting in the
person’s most recent conviction for committing the sexually violent
offense or crime against children.

39 of 199



HOUSEMAN & FEIND. LLP

July 26, 2017
Page 3

This type of domicile restriction was very common in ordinances adopted by
municipalities setting forth residency restrictions. However, and as a result of the finding in
Hoffinann v. Village of Pleasant Prairie cited above, I am recommending that the City eliminate
this provision from its existing ordinance.

Further, I have provided two studies for the Common Council to review and consider
regarding the recidivism rate of sex offenders when considering this Amendment. As you will
see, I have cited to the studies in the recitals of the proposed enclosed Amendment.

Please contact me if you would like to discuss this matter in more detail. At that time, I
am happy to axmwer any other questions or concerns that you may have regarding this matter.

Very trnly yours,

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP

7D
Michael P. Herbrand

MPH:csp
Enclosures

40 of 199



CITY OF CEDARBURG 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2017-19 
 

An Ordinance Amending Section 5-6 
Of the City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances 

Relating to Sex Offender Residency Restrictions 
 

WHEREAS, the Wisconsin Statutes provide for the punishment, treatment and 
supervision of persons convicted or otherwise responsible for sex crimes against 
children, including their release into the community; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedarburg places a high priority on maintaining public safety 
through highly skilled and trained law enforcement, as well as dependency upon laws 
that deter and punish criminal behavior; and 

WHEREAS, sex offenders have a very high rate of recidivism, and, according to a 
2015 report by the State of Wisconsin Department of Corrections, sex offenses that 
reference children represent a greater proportion of re-offenses by sex offenders than 
other types of sex offenses; and 

WHEREAS, according to a 2003 report by the U.S. Department of Justice, sex 
offenders are the least likely to be cured and the most likely to re-offend and prey upon 
the most innocent members of our society, and more than two-thirds of the victims of 
rape and sexual assault are under the age of 18; and  

WHEREAS, it is not the intent of the Common Council to impose additional punishment 
on an Offender, but, rather, serve and promote the City’s compelling interest to 
promote, protect and improve the health, safety and welfare of its citizens; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having considered the proposed amendment to the 
Municipal Code of the City of Cedarburg to amend the residency restrictions for certain 
sex offenders and additional provisions to further protect children, and upon all of the 
records, files, studies, reports and proceedings pertaining to the subject matter, and all 
of the prior actions and experience of the City of Cedarburg, the Common Council finds 
that the proposed Ordinance, as Amended, will serve to protect the health, safety, and 
welfare of the Community. 

THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Cedarburg, Wisconsin do hereby 
ordain that Section 5 of Chapter 6 of the City of Cedarburg Code of Municipal 
Ordinances is hereby amended as follows: 

1. Section 5-6-3(d) of the City of Cedarburg Code of Ordinances is hereby deleted 
as follows:   
 
(d) In addition to and notwithstanding the forgoing, but subject to subsection 

C of this section, no person, who has been convicted of a sexually violent 

41 of 199



offence and/or crime against children, shall be permitted to reside in the 
City of Cedarburg and no supervised release of such Wisconsin Statute 
Chapter 980 sexually violent person shall be established in the City of 
Cedarburg unless such person had lived in the City of Cedarburg at the 
time of the offense resulting in the person’s most recent conviction for 

committing the sexually violent offense and/or crime against children. 
 

2. This ordinance shall take effect upon passage and posting. 

 

Passed and adopted this 31st day of July, 2017. 

 

              
Kip Kinzel, Mayor 

 
 
ATTEST: 
       
Constance K. McHugh, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
       
Michael P. Herbrand, City Attorney 

42 of 199



CHAPTER 6 
 

 Sex Offender Residency Restrictions 

and Child Safety Zone 
(Ord. 2010-02) 

 

5-6-1 Purpose and Intent 

5-6-2 Definitions 

5-6-3 Residency Restrictions 

5-6-4 Loitering 

5-6-5 Penalties 

 

SEC.  5-6-1  PURPOSE AND INTENT. 

 

The city finds and declares that sex offenders are a serious threat to public safety. Given the high 

rate of recidivism for sex offenders, the city believes that in addition to the protections afforded 

by state law near schools, day care centers and other places children frequent, reducing 

opportunity and temptation is appropriate to minimizing the risk of re-offence to better protect 

the children in these public places. This chapter is a regulatory measure aimed at protecting the 

health and safety of children in the City of Cedarburg from the risk that convicted sex offenders 

may re-offend in locations close to their residences where children tend to congregate or be 

regularly present. It is the intent of this chapter not to impose a criminal penalty but rather to 

serve the city’s compelling interest to promote, protect and improve the health, safety and 

welfare of the citizens of the city by creating safety zones around locations where children 

regularly congregate in concentrated numbers wherein certain sexual offenders and sexual 

predators are prohibited from establishing temporary or permanent residence and wherein access 

by certain sexual offenders and sexual predators shall be restricted and excluded.   

 

SEC.  5-6-2  DEFINITIONS. 

 

As used in this chapter and unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

A sexual violent offense shall have the meaning as set forth in Wis. Stats. 980.01(6) as amended 

from time to time. 

 

A crime against children shall mean any of the following offenses set forth within the Wisconsin 

Statutes, as amended, or the laws of this or any other state or the federal government, having like 

elements necessary for conviction, respectively: 

 Wis. Stats. 940.225(1) First Degree Sexual Assault; 

 Wis. Stats. 940.225(2) Second Degree Sexual Assault; 

 Wis. Stats. 940.225(3) Third Degree Sexual Assault; 

 Wis. Stats. 940.22(2) Sexual Exploitation by Therapist; 

Wis. Stats. 940.30 False Imprisonment-Victim was a minor and not the offender’s child; 

Wis. Stats. 940.31 Kidnapping-Victim was a minor and not the offender’s child; 

Wis. Stats. 944.01 Rape (prior statute); 

Wis. Stats. 944.06 Incest; 

Wis. Stats. 944.10 Sexual Intercourse with a Child (prior statute); 

43 of 199



Wis. Stats. 944.11 Indecent Behavior with a Child (prior statute); 

Wis. Stats. 944.12 Enticing Child for Immoral Purposes (prior statute); 

Wis. Stats. 948.02(1) First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child; 

Wis. Stats. 948.02(2) Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child; 

Wis. Stats. 948.025 Engaging in repeated Acts of Sexual Assault of the Same Child; 

Wis. Stats. 948.05 Sexual Exploitation of a Child; 

Wis. Stats. 948.055 Causing a Child to View or Listen to Sexual Activity; 

Wis. Stats. 948.06 Incest with a Child; 

Wis. Stats. 048.07 Child Enticement; 

Wis. Stats. 948.075 Use of a Computer to Facilitate a Child Sex Crime; 

Wis. Stats. 948.08 Soliciting a Child for Prostitution; 

Wis. Stats. 948.095 Sexual Assault of a Student by Instructional Staff; 

Wis. Stats. 948.11(2)(a) or (am) Exposing Child To Harmful Material-felony sections; 

Wis. Stats. 948.12 Possession of Child Pornography; 

Wis. Stats. 948.13 Convicted Child Sex Offender Working with Children; 

Wis. Stats. 948.30 Abduction of Another’s Child; 

Wis. Stats. 971.17 Not Guilty by Reason of Mental Disease-of an included offense; and  

Wis. Stats. 975.06 Sex Crimes Law Commitment. 

 

“Facility for children” means a public or private school, a group home, as defined in Section 

48.02(7), Wisconsin Statutes, a residential care center for children and youth, as defined in 

Section 48.02(15d), Wisconsin Statutes, a shelter care facility, as defined in Section 48.02(17), 

Wisconsin Statutes, a daycare center licensed under Section 48.65, Wisconsin Statutes, a daycare 

provider certified under Section 48.651, Wisconsin Statutes, or a youth center, as defined in 

section 961.01(22), Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

“Offender” means a person who has been convicted of or has been found delinquent of or has 

been found not guilty by reason of disease or mental defect of a sexually violent offense and/or a 

crime against children. 

 

“Permanent residence” means the place where a person sleeps, abides, lodges or resides for 

fourteen (14) or more consecutive days or which qualifies as a residence under the holdings of 

the Wisconsin Supreme Court and which may include more than on location, and may be mobile 

or transitory.  

 

“Recreational trail” means all parts and segments of the Ozaukee Interurban Trail. 

 

“Sexually violent offense” shall have the meaning as set forth in Section 980.01(06), Wisconsin 

Statutes, as amended from time to time. 

 

“Temporary residence” means residence or premises meeting any of the following criteria: 

1. A place where the person sleeps, abides, lodges or resides for a period of fourteen 

(14) or more days in the aggregate during any calendar year and which is not that 

person’s permanent residence as defined in this section; 

2. A place where the person routinely sleeps, abides, lodges or resides for a period of 

four (4) or more consecutive or nonconsecutive days in any month and which is 

44 of 199



not that person’s permanent residence as defined in this section; or 

3. A place where a person sleeps, or which qualifies as a temporary residence under 

the holdings of the Wisconsin Supreme Court, and which may include more than 

on location, and may be mobile or transitory. 

 

SEC.  5-6-3  RESIDENCY RESTRICTIONS. 

 

(a) No offender shall reside within five hundred (500) feet of real property that supports or 

upon which there exists any of the following uses: 

(1) Public parks, parkways, parkland, park facilities; 

(2) Public swimming pools; 

(3) Public libraries; 

(4) Recreational trails; 

(5) Public playgrounds; 

(6) Schools for children; 

(7) Athletic fields used by children; 

(8) Daycare facilities; 

(9)   Specialized schools for children, including, but not limited to a gymnastics 

 academy, dance academy or music school; 

(10) Aquatic facilities open to the public.  

(11) Facilities for children’s clubs, e.g. Boy Scout and Girl Scout Houses. 

(b) Measurement of Distance. The distance shall be measured from the closest boundary line 

of the real property supporting the residence of an offender to the closest boundary line of 

the real property that supports or upon which there exists any of the uses enumerated in 

subsection A of this section. 

(c) Residency Restriction Exceptions. An offender residing within five hundred (500) feet of 

real property that supports or upon which there exists any of the uses enumerated in 

subsection A of this section does not commit a violation of this chapter if any of the 

following apply: 

(1) The offender is required to serve a sentence or is otherwise involuntarily required 

to reside in a jail, prison, juvenile facility, or other correctional institution or 

mental facility. 

(2) The offender has established a residence prior to the effective date of the 

ordinance codified in this chapter. 

(3) The use enumerated in subsection A of this section began after the  offender 

established a residence. 

(4) The offender is a minor or ward under guardianship. 

(d) In addition to and notwithstanding the forgoing, but subject to subsection C of this 

section, no person, who has been convicted of a sexually violent offence and/or crime 

against children, shall be permitted to reside in the City of Cedarburg and no supervised 

release of such Wisconsin Statute Chapter 980 sexually violent person shall be 

established in the City of Cedarburg unless such person had lived in the City of 

Cedarburg at the time of the offense resulting in the person’s most recent conviction for 

committing the sexually violent offense and/or crime against children. 

 

SEC. 5-6-4  LOITERING. 

45 of 199



 

It is unlawful for any person defined as an offender pursuant to Section 9.34.020 to loiter or 

prowl in the locations enumerated under Residential Restrictions herein, in a place, at a time, or a 

manner not usual for law-abiding individuals under circumstances that warrant alarm for the 

safety of persons or property in the vicinity. 

 

SEC. 5-6-5  PENALTIES AND REMEDIES 

 

(a) Forfeitures. Any person found guilty of violating this chapter shall be subject to a 

forfeiture of not less than five hundred dollars ($500.00) nor more than one thousand 

dollars ($1,000.00) for each violation. Each violation and each day a violation continues 

or occurs shall constitute a separate offense.  

 

(b) Injunction-Violation of Residency Restrictions. If an offender establishes a permanent or 

temporary residence in violation of the Residency Restrictions contained herein, the chief 

of police may refer the matter to the city attorney. The referral shall include a written 

determination by the chief of police that, upon all of the facts and circumstances and the 

purpose and intent of this chapter, such violation interferes substantially with the 

comfortable enjoyment of life, health, safety of another or others. Upon such referral, the 

city attorney shall bring an action in the name of the city in circuit court to permanently 

enjoin such residency as a public nuisance.      

  
 (Ord. 2010-02) 

  

46 of 199



 

47 of 199



EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
    

  B
LV

D.

VICTORIA CT.

CR
ES

CE
NT

ARBOR   DR.

BRISTO
L L

N.

ORIOLE LN.ASPEN
CT.

TA
MARAC

K D
R.

SU
SA

N
CT

.

ST.

ASPEN
CA

MB
RI

DG
E 

    
    

    
    

 AV
E.

CA
MB

RI
DG

E CT
.

LYNNWOOD  LANE

FAIRDALE   DR.

BROOKDALE   DR.

AR
BO

R  
    

     
    

    
     

 DR
IVE

WILLOWBROOKE         DR.

FR
AN

KL
IN

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

AV
E.

WALNUT         ST.

ELM          ST.

PINE                ST.

ALDER ST.

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
  A

VE
.

APPLETREE  LN.

HA
W

TH
OR

NE
   L

N.

HIL
GE

N  
   A

VE
NU

E

BO
BO

LIN
K 

    
 A

VE
.

KE
UP

    
  R

D.

PINE     RD.

COLUMBIA        ROAD

TO
PV

IE
W

   T
L.

TOPVIEW
CT.

HARVEST LN.

ROLLING
MEADOW CT.

ROLLING
MEADOW LN.

COURT

CLEVELAND   ST.

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
    

    
    

    
    

 B
LV

D.

BEECH     ST.

TO
W

ER
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
   A

VE
.

HA
RR

IS
ON

    
    

    
    

    
 AV

E.

LINDEN          STREET

WALNUT

MO
NR

OE
    

   A
VE

.

LO
CU

ST
    

  A
VE

.

OAK                    STREET

HICKORY                     STREET

CHESTNUTST.

CLEVELAND ST.

ST.
LN

.

WASH-      INGTON   AVE.

HA
RV

ES
T  

 L
N.

PO
PL

AR
    

   A
VE

.

PINE STREET
SH

EB
OY

GA
N  

   R
OAD

MILL            S
T.

HANOVER AVE.

WASHINGTON       AVE.

WESTERN                     ROAD

ST
. J

OH
N 

    
 A

VE
.

MA
DI

SO
N 

    
    

    
    

 AV
E.

CENTER                 ST.

HI
LL

CR
ES

T  
    

    
   A

VE
.

MULBERRY
GREYSTONE

CT.

WEST

POINTE CT.

WEST

POINTE ST.

GR
EY

ST
ON

E 
  D

R.

MOLDENHAUER
CT.

WINDWOOD   DRIVE

 WESTERN              ROAD

POINTE  AVE.

HI
LB

ER
T

LANE

HIG
HL

AN
D 

 DR
.

HAMILTON                           ROAD

HIL
BE

RT
    

AV
E.

WURTHMANN
ST.

CA
RD

INA
L A

VE
. LINCOLNBLVD.

WIRTH  ST.

SO
MM

ER
SE

T
AV

E.

MC
KI

NL
EY

 B
lvd

.

WILSHIRE  DR.

PA
RK LANE

PARK

SPRING ST.

SH
EB

OY
GA

N 
   R

OA
D

ME
QU

ON AV
E.RIV

ER
ED

GE
 D

R.

WINDSORCT.

VAN  BUREN   D
R.

POLK ST.

FIL
LM

OR
E

FILLMORE
CIR.

GARFIELD
CIR.

GARFIELD       ST.

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

AV
E.

CA
RD

IN
AL

   A
VE

NU
E

WILSON  ST.

FOX POINTE  AVE.

BUCHANAN
GREENWAY

TR.

WILSON ST.

COTTON-WOOD CT.

PALMETTO
 CT.

PA
LM

ET
TO

 AV
E.

EV
ER

GR
EE

N  
  B

LV
D.

EV
ER

GR
EE

N 
    

    
    

  B
LV

D.

ALYCE                      STREET

COMMERCE CT

CEDAR
POINTE CT.

CE
DA

R

LINCOLN BOULEVARD

GR
AN

T 
    

    
  A

VE
.

KE
NN

ED
Y 

    
    

 AV
E.

MADISON
CT.

JACKSON                 STREET

WE
ST

LA
W

N 
    

    
    

    
    

  A
VE

.

MA
DI

SO
N 

    
    

    
  A

VE
.

WINDWOOD
CT.

HA
NO

VE
R 

    
    

   A
VE

.

ADAMS        ST.

FAIRFIELD

AVE.

CTH C       (PIONEER ROAD) 

PHEASANT
CT.

PARTRIDGE
CT.

WI
LL

IA
MS

 D
RI

VE

CRANES   CROSSING

BRIDGE        ROAD

COLUMBIA        
   ROAD

HIG
HL

AN
D 

  D
R.

HAMILTON                                                ROAD

CO
LU

MB
IA

CT
.

CEDAR RESERVE CIR.

ST
RU

CK
    

 LN
.

CEDAR CT.

SPRING COURT
(PVT)

CR
EE

K 
VI

EW
 C

T.

GREYSTONE  DR.

BURR   LANE

FAIRFIELD ST.

LINCOLN                         BLVD.

PIERCE CT.
(PVT)

PIO
NE

ER

CONCORD  ST.

TA
UN

TO
N 

  A
VE

.

WA
UW

AU
TO

SA
    

RO
AD

WA
UW

AT
OS

A 
 R

OA
D

BRIDGE   ROAD

KE
NS

IN
GT

ON
    

AV
E.

DAYTON ST.

LE
IC

ES
TE

R
AV

E.

BERKSHIRE ST.

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
    

    
   A

VE
.

DO
ER

R 
    

   W
AY

CTH C (PIONEER ROAD) 

MADISONAVE.

FAIR   ST.

ALPINE   DR.

BUCKINGHAM
CT.OXFORD

OXFORD
CT.

DORCHESTER

ES
SE

X

ESSEX
CT.

COVINGTON
SQ.

DE
RB

Y

CASTLE  CT.
MANCHESTER

SQ.

REGENCY
CIR.

WARWICKSQ.

CE
DA

R 
RID

GE
  D

R

ORCHARD

ME
AD

OW CT
.

BYWATER LN.

WASHINGTON          AVE.

BRIDGE        ROAD

CLEVELAND                       ST.

CLEVELAND
CT.

BI
RC

H

ST
.EDGEWATER   DR.

SUNNYSIDE    LN.

COLUMBIA     R
OAD

TURNER

ST.

TYLER            ST.

ME
QU

ON
    

 AV
E.

RI
VE

RE
DG

E
DR

.
WOODLAND RD.

LEXINGTON  ST.

SUSAN                       LANE

WASHINGTON       AVE.

HAMPTONCT.

PINE    ST.

TOPVIEW

ST
. J

OH
N 

    
    

AV
E.

REGENCY  LN.

ETON  CT.

GEORGETOWN DR.

WI
ND

SO
R 

DR
.

CE
DA

R 
  R

ID
GE

    
DR

.

ME
AD

OW
    

    
    

LN
.

BYWATER  LN.

HI
GH

W
OO

D 
    

    
    

 D
R.

HA
W

TH
OR

NE
    

    
  A

VE
.

PORTLAND ROAD

HIG
HL

AN
D D

R.

PIERCE
AV

E.

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
    

 A
VE

.

ZEUNERT ST.

WEST  HIGHLAND DR.

S.T.H.  60

SP
RU

CE

MA
DI

SO
N 

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

  A
VE

.

CE
DA

RRIDGE DR.

REGENCYCT.

JU
NI

PE
R 

  L
AN

E

MA
RG

IE
  L

AN
E

(P
RV

)

PORTLAND   ROAD

BUCHANAN
CT.

S.T.H.   60

C.
T.H

.   
I

MO
NT

GO
ME

RY
 AV

E.

BALFOUR ST.

HAMPTON   AVE.

DRURY KE
UP

    
 R

OA
D

JACKSON  ST.

JO
HN

SO
N 

  A
VE

.

MAPLE
ST.

PRAIRIE

SPRING     STREET

LANDMARK

DRIVE

MCKINLEY BLVD.

TAFT   ST.

LAYTON
ST.

THORNAPPLE              LANE

HA
W

TH
OR

NE
 L

N.

SARANGELA
CT.

COVENTRY
CT.

ST. ANNE ST.

CHATHAM

ST. JAMESCT.

LO
ND

ON
CT

.

CHURCHILL ST.

KINGSTON
CT.

COVENTRY   ST.

PO
PL

AR
    

 AV
E.

HA
RR

IS
ON

    
    

    
    

    
    

  A
VE

.

GL
EN

W
OO

D 
    

    
    

    
 D

RI
VE

FAIRHAVEN
CT.

FAIRVIEW
CT.

HO
LL

Y 
    

    
    

    
    

    
LA

NE

SUSAN  LANE

C.T.H. NN

I

SUNNY  LN.

STONY   KETTLE DR.

SHERMAN   RD.

BRENTON LN.

AV
E.

ST.

CI
DE

R

MILL

WE
BS

TE
R 

 AV
E.

CT.

AV
EN

UE

DR.

CIRCLE

DR
IV

E

DR.

LE
NOX

PL.

COVINGTON

SQ. EAST

DRIVE

 HILL N DALE

IN
TE

RU
RB

AN
    

    
    

    
 TR

AI
L

BYWATER       LN

AV
E.

PO
INT

E  
 AV

E.

WASH.   CT.

BRIDGE

COMMONS CT.

(PVT)
INTERURBAN     

   T
RAIL

JE
FF

ER
SO

N 
 AV

E.

PARKLAND  ROAD

GR
EE

N 
    

BA
Y  

  R
D.

LA
NC

AS
TE

R CT
.

QUAIL   CT.

SYCAMORE  LN.

WA
UW

AT
OS

A 
  R

D.
  (S

.T.
H.

 18
1)

S.T.H.   60

HI
LL

TO
P 

  D
R.

CO
VE

RE
D

BR
ID

GE
    

RD
.

ST.

AV
E.

FIELDCREST

ST.

S.T.H.   60

HIGHLAND        DR.

CREEKSIDE   L
N.

CH
IC

KA
DE

E 
 LN

.

COTTON-WOOD   LN.

LILAC
CT.

BOXELDER
LN.

DOVE   CT.

W.  BRIDGE

CT.

KE
UP

    
 R

OA
D

HIGHLAND

CIR.

CROSSINGS

(PVT)

CA
NA

DI
AN

NA
TIO

NA
L

R.R.

GR
EE

N 
 B

AY

GRE
EN

    
 BA

Y  
  R

D.

CT.

LN
.

GREEN     BAY    RD.

W.  FALLS  RD.

AUDUBON
CT.

ASPEN  ST.

CEDAR   ST.

BEECH  ST.

BRIDGE     ST.

W.   BIRCH   ST.

PRAIRIE  VIEW
CT.

VIE
W

ROAD

PR
AI

RI
E 

VI
EW

RO
AD

RIDGEWAY

WESTERN AVE.

WA
UW

AT
OS

A 
    

    
    

RO
AD

CE
DA

RB
UR

G 
 R

OA
D

RD
.

CA
NA

DI
AN

    
    

    
    

    
    

 N
AT

IO
NA

L  
    

    
 R

.R
.

HOLLYHOCK

RD.

SU
NS

ET
   L

N.

HI
GH

VI
EW

    
 D

R.

RIVER   VISTA   DR.

TIMBERCREST LIN
DA

LE
    

DR
.

DR.
TIMBERCREST

CT.

GREEN     
BAY    R

D.

ROMANITACT.

BITTER  SWEET

LN.

CE
DAR

VA
LL

EY
DR

.

LAKEFIELD    RD.

BL
UE

BI
RD

CIR
.

BO
BO

LIN
K 

   A
VE

.

BOBOLINK
LN.

W.   MAPLE       ST.

BO
BO

LIN
K 

   A
VE

.

INTERURBAN      
  TRAIL

JUNIPER
CT.

BO
BW

HI
TE

  L
N.

JUNIPER

W.  CHESTNUT

LANE

W.   ALTHEA                   DR.

JUNIPER                        DR.

W.   WALTERS               DR.

W.

LILAC

LN.

W. LILAC    LN.

EVERGREEN

(PVT) CT.

HARRISON
CT.  (PVT)

CEDAR    CREEK

LN
.

IN
TE

RU
RB

AN
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
  T

RA
IL

DR
IVE

CL
OV

ER
LN

.

GLENVIEW
LN.

IN
TE

RU
RB

AN
    

    
    

    
 TR

AI
L

ACORN

W.                   OAK                  ST.

W. DR.

CH
AT

EA
U

CHATEAU       DR.

RESERVE
DR.

W. ORCHARD

DR
.

LIN CO LN                             BLV D.

LINCOLN  CT.
(PVT)

CEDAR    C
REEK

CEDAR    CREEK

CEDAR    CREEK

TRAIL

WISCONSIN    AVE.

DO
UG

LA
S 

LA
NE

HENRY CT.

KE
NZ

IE
 W

AY
 (P

VT
)COLLEEN WAY

(PVT)

JAMES CIR. (PVT)

LUCAS CT.(PVT)

N1500

N1400

N1300

N1200

N1100

N1000

N900

N800

N700

N600

N500

N400

N300

N200

N100
N14400

N14300

N14200

W6
80

0

W6
60

0

W6
40

0

W6
20

0

W7
00

0

W7
20

0

W7
40

0

W7
60

0

W7
80

0

W8
00

0

W8
20

0

W6
00

0

W5
80

0

W5
60

0

W5
40

0

W5
20

0

N14300

N14200

W5
00

0

W4
80

0

W4
60

0

W4
40

0

N1500

N1400

N1300

N1200

N1100

N1000

N900

N800

N700

N600

N500

N400

N300

N200

N100
N14400

W7
00

0

W7
20

0

W7
40

0

W7
60

0

W7
80

0

W8
00

0

W8
20

0

W6
80

0

W6
60

0

W6
40

0

W6
20

0

W6
00

0

W5
80

0

W5
60

0

W5
40

0

W5
20

0

W5
00

0

W4
80

0

W4
60

0

W4
40

0

±
1 inch = 2,150 feet

CITY OF CEDARBURG CHILD SAFETY ZONE MAP

48 of 199



US. Department of Justice
Office of Justice Prognms &
Bureau of Justice Stadsdcs

n S S • on
•Ofli iiiTTIm flt %flW
flttafl V 1i3111 *J1 LYt-et

Offenders Released
from Prison in 1994

By Patrick A. Langan, Ph.D.

Erica L. Schmitt
and Matthew P.. Durose

Statisticians, Bureau ofJustice Statistics

November 2003, NCJ 198281

49 of 199



Contents

Introduction and highlIghts 1

Definitions 3

Imprisonment offense
Sex offender
Rapist
Sexual assaulter
Child molester
Statutory rapist
First release
Prior arrest
Rearrest
Reconvicflon
Returned to prison

— with a new sentence
—with orwithout a new sentence

Demographic characteristics 7

All sex offenders (table 1)
Rapists and sexual assaulters (table 1)

Child molesters and statutoiy rapists

(table 2)

Sentence length and urns served 9

All sex offenders (table 3)
Rapists and sexual assaulters (table 3)

Child molesters and statutory rapists

(table 4)

Prior criminal record Ii

MI sex offenders (table 5)
Sex offenders compared to

non-sex offenders
Rapists and sexual assaulters (table 5)

Child molesters and statutory rapists
(table 6)

Four measures of recidivism 13

Four measures
All sex offenders (table 7)
Sex offenders compared to

non-sex offenders
Rapists and sexual assaulters

(table 7)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 8)
Time to recidivism

- All sex offenders (fable 9) -

Rapists and sexual assaufters
(table 9)

Child molesters and statutory
rapists (table 10)

Rearrest for any type of crime 18

Demographic characteristics
All sex offenders (table 11)
Rapists and sexual assaulters

(table 11)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 12)
Time sewed before 1994 release

All sex offenders (table 13)
Rapists and sexual assaufters

(table 13)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 14)
Prior arrest for any type of crime

All sex offenders (table 15)
Rapists and sexual assaulters

(table 15)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 16)
Number of prior arrests for any type
of crime

All sex offenders (table 17)
Rapists and sexual assaulters

(table 17)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 18)

State where rearrested for any type of
crime

All sex offenders (table 19)
Sex offenders compared to

non-sex offenders
Rapists and sexual assaulters

(table 19)
ChHd molesters and statutory

rapists (table 20)

Rearrest and reconviction
for a new sex crime 24

Rearrest and reconvicUon
All sex offenders (table 21)
Sex offenders compared to

non-sex offenders
Rapists and sexual assaufters

(table 21)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 22)
Time to rearrest

MI sex offenders (table 23)
Rapists and sexual assaufters

(table 23)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 24)
Demographic characteristics

All sex offenders (table 25)
Time served before 1994 release

All sex offenders (table 26)
Prior arrest for any type of crime

All sex offenders (table 27)
Rapists and sexual assaufters

(table 27)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 28)
Number of prior arrests for any type
of crime

All sex offenders (table 29)
Prior arrest for a sex crime

All sex offenders (table 30)
Rapists and sexual assaufteis

(table 30)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 31)
State where rearrested for a sex csime

All sex offenders (table 32)
Sex offenders compared to

non-sex offenders
Rapists and sexual assaulten

(table 32)
Child molesters and statutory

rapists (table 33)

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Pdsoa in 1994 iii
50 of 199



Introduction and highlights

In 1994, prisons in 15 States released

9,691 male sex offenders. The 9,691
men are two-thirds of all the male sex
offenders released from State prisons
in the United States in 1994. This
report summarizes findings from a
survey that tracked the 9,691 for 3 full
years after their release. The report
documents their recidivism,” as
measured by rates of rearrest, récdn- —

viction, and reimprisonment during the
3-year followup period.

This report gives recidivism rates for
the 9,691 combined total. It also
separates the 9,691 into four overlap
ping categories and gives reddMsm
rates for each category:

• 3,115 released rapists

• 6,576 released sexual assaulters

• 4,295 released child molesters

• 443 released statutory rapists.

The 9,691 sex offenders were released
from State prisons in these 15 States:
Arizona, Maryland, North Camhna,
California, Michigan, Ohio, Delaware,
Minnesota, Oregon, Florida, New
Jersey, Texas, Illinois, New York,
and Virginia.

Highlights

The 15 States in the study released
272,111 prisoners altogether in 1994.
Among the 272,111 were 9,691 men
whose crime was a sex offense (3.6%
of releases).

On average the 9,691 sex offenders
sewed 3% years of their 8-year
sentence (45% of the prison sentence)
before being released in 1994.

Rearrest for a new sex crime

The first 12 months following their”\
release from a State prison was the
period when 40% of sex crimes were
allegedly committed by the released
sex offenders.

Recidivism studies typically find that,
the older the prisoner when released,
the lower the rate of recidivism.
Results reported here on released sex
offenders did not follow the familiar
pauem. While the lowest rate of
rearrest for a sex crime (3.3%) did
belong to the oldest sex offenders
(those age 45 or older), other compari
sons between older and younger
prisoners did not consistently show
older prisoners’ having the lower
rearrest rate.

The study compared recidivism rates
among prisoners who sensed different
lengths of time before being released
from prison in 1994. No clear associa
tion was found between how Tong they
were in prison and their recidMsm rate.

Before being released from prison in
1994, most of the sex offenders had
been arrested several times for differ
ent types of crimes. The more prior
arrests they had, the greater their likeli
hood of being rearrested for another
sex crime after leaving prison. Re
leased sex offenders with 1 prior arrest
(the arrest for the sex crime for which
they were imprisoned) had the lowest
rearrest rate for a sex crime, about 3%;
those with2 cr3 prior arrests for some - — -

type of crime, 4%; 4 to 6 prior arrests,
6%; 7 to 10 prior arrests, 7%; and 11
to 15 prior arrests, 8%.

On average, the 4,295 child molesters
were released after serving about 3
years of their 7-year sentence (43% of
the prison sentence).

Compared to the 9,691 sex offenders
and to the 262,420 non-sex offenders,
released child molesters were more
likely to be rearrested for child molest
ing. Within the first 3 years following
release from prison in 1994, 3.3% (141
of 4,295) of released child molesters
were rearrested for another sex crime
against a child. The rate for afl 9,691
sex offenders (a category that includes
the 4,295 child molesters) was 2.2%
(209 of 9,691). The rate for all 262,420
non-sex offenders was less than half of
1% (1,042 of the 262,420).

Of the approximately 141 children
allegedly molested by the child moles
ters after their release from prison in
1994, 79% were age 13 or younger.

Introduction

Compared to non-sex offenders’—
released from State prisons, released Rearrest for a sex crime against a child

sex offenders were 4 times more likely
to be rearrested for a sex crime. The 9,691 released sex offenders

Within the first 3 years following their tincluded 4,295 men who were in prison

release from prison in 1994, 5.3% (517 \for child molesting.
of the 9,691) of released sex offenders
were rearrested for a sex crime. The ,/Of the children these 4,295 men were

rate for the 262,420 released non-sex imprisoned for molesting, 60% were

offenders was lower, 1.3% (3,328 of age 13 or younger.
262,420).

Half of the 4,295 child molesters were
20 or more years older than the child
they were imprisoned for molesting.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Re/eased fltm Prison in 1994 151 of 199



9efinitions

Imprisonment offense The 9691
prisoners were men released from
State prisons in 1994 after serving
some portion of the sentence they
received for committing a sex crime.
The sex crime they committed is
referred to throughout the report as
their “imprisonment offense.” Their
imprisonment offense should not be
confused with any new offense they
may have committed after release.

Sex offender The 9,691 released men
were all violent sex offenders. They are
called “violent” because the crimes
they were imprisoned for are widely
defined in State statutes as “violent”
sex offenses. ‘Molenr means the
offender used or threatened force in
the commission of the crime or, while
not actually using force, the offender
did not have the victim’s “factual” or
legal” consent Factual consent means
that, for physical reasons, the victim did
not give consent, such as when the
offender had intercourse with a
sedated hospital patient or with a
woman who had fallen unconscious
from excessive drug taking. “Legal”
consent means that thevictim willingly
participated but in the eyes of the law,
the victim was not old enough or not
sufficiently mentally capable (perhaps
due to mental illness or mental retarda
tion) to give his or her “legal” consent.

State statutes give many different
names to violent sex offenses: ‘forcible
rape,” “statutory rape,” “object rape,”
“sexual assault,” ‘sexual abuse,” “forci
ble sodomy,” “sexual misconduct,”
“criminal sexual conduct,” “lascivious
conduct,” “carnal abuse,” “sexual
contact,” “unlawful sexual intercourse,”
“sexual battery,” “unlawful sexual activ
ity,” “lewd act with minor,” ‘indecent
liberties with a child,” “carnal knowl
edge of a child,” “incest with a minor,”
and “child molesting.”

“Violent” sex offenses are distinguished
from “nonviolent” sex offenses and
from “commercialized sex offenses.”
Nonviolent sex offenses include morals
and decency offenses (for example,

indecent exposure and peeping torn),
bestiality and other unnatural acts,
adultery, incest between adults, and
bigamy. Commercialized sexual
offenses include prcstitution, pimping,
and pomography. As used throughout
this report, the terms “sex crimes” and
“sex offenders” refer exclusively to
violent sex offenses.

Each of the 9,691 sex offenders in this
repert is ciatsifiad as either a rapist or
a sexual assaulter. Classification was
based on information about the impris
onment offense contained in prison
records supplied for each sex offender
released from prison in 1994. Also
based on imprisonment offense infor
mation, an inmate could be categorized
as a child molester andlor a statutory
rapist Classification to either of these
two categories is in addition to, not
separate from, classification as a rapist
or sexual assaulter. For example, of
the 3,115 sex offenders classified as
rapists, 338 were child molesters. Or,
to put it another way, the imprisonment
offense for 338 of the 4,295 child
molesters identified in this report was
rape. Similarty, 3,957 of the 4.295 child
molesters were also sexual assaulters.

Sexual
Total Raoists assaulterschild

molesters
Statutory
raDists

The report gives statistics for all sex
offenders and each of the four types —

rapists, sexual assaulters, child moles
ters, and statutory rapists. (See
Methodology on page 37 for details on
how sex offenders were separated into
categories.)

Rapist “Violent sex crimes” are
separated into two categories: ‘rape”
(short for “forcible rape”) and “other
sexual assault.” As used throughout
this report the terifi “rapist” refers to a
released sex offender whose imprison
ment offense was defined by State law
as forcible intercourse (vaginal, anal, or
oral) with a female or male. Rape
includes “forcible sodomy” and
“penetration with a foreign object.”
Rape excludes statutory rape or any

other nonforcibje sexual act with a
minor or with someone unable to give
legal or factual consent As used
throughout this report, “rape” always
means “forcible rape.” “Statutory rap&
is not a type of forcible rape.

A total of 3,115 sex offenders are
identified in the report as released
rapists — about a third (32%) of the
9,691 released sex offenders.

‘However, enough ihfoftrátibrito àlearly
distinguish rapists from other sexual
assaulters was not always available in
the prison records used to categorize
sex offenders into different types.
Consequently, the number of rapists
among the 9,691 was almost certainly
greater than 3,115: how much greater
is unknown.

Sexual assaulter By definition in the
report, all sex offenders are either
“rapists” or “sexual assaufters.” Sex
offenders whose imprisonment offense
could not be positively identified as
‘rape” were placed in the “sexual
assault” category. To the extent that
rapists were reliably distinguished from
sexual assaulters, “sexual assaulteis”
identified in this report were released
sex offenders whose imprisonment

An obstacle to identifying rapists from
penal code information is that the label
“rape” is not used in about half the 50
States. However, released sex offend
ers whose imprisonment offense was
rape could still be identified. To illus
trate, in one State, the term criminal
sexual conduct refers to all types of sex
crimes. The statutory language was
consulted to determine if an offenders
imprisonment offense involved “inter
course” that was ‘forcible,” in accor

4.295 338 3.957 dance with the definition of rape used
443 21 422 in this report. If the offense was not

found to involve intercourse (or
penetration), then the inmate was not
classified as a rapist The same was
true of force; if the statutory language
did not include a reference to force (or
coercion), the offense was not catego
thed as rape.

RecidMsm of Sax Offenders Released from Pfisa in 1994 352 of 199



Excvptions for children old enough to
give consent Certain adults can be
prosecuted for having consensual
intercourse with a child who has
reached the age of consent. For
example, in one State it is a third
degree felony for a psychotherapist to
have intercourse with a 17-year-old
dilenteven though 17 is over the
minimum age of consent in that State.
In another State, where an adult gener
ally bannot.be proecuIed f’r having--.’
consensual intercourse with a 16-year-
old, an exception is made when the
adult is the child’s school teacher. In
that case the teacher can be prose
cuted for a “class A” misdemeanor.
Exceptions are made for other profes
sions as well (clergy, for example).

In this report, 443 of the 9,691 released
sex offenders are identified as statutory
rapists based on information supplied
by the prisons that released them.
There were more than 443 statutory
rapists among the 9,691 released male
sex offenders, but the 443 are all that
could be positively identified with the
Limited information available. One
reason statutory rapists are not easily
identified from penal code information
available on the released sex offenders
is that most States do not use the term
“statutory rape” in their laws.

First release Though all 9,691 sex
offenders in the study were released in
1994, for a fourth of the offenders 1994
was not the first year of release since
receiving their prison sentence. This
group had previously served a portion
of the sentence and were released,
then violated parole and were returned
to prison to continue serving time still
left on that sentence. For the remaining
75% of sex offenders released, the
1994 release was their “first release,’
meaning their first discharge from
prison since being convicted and
sentenced to prison.

“First release’ should not be confused
with first ever release from a prison.
“First release’ pertains solely to the
sentence for the imprisonment offense

(as defined above). It does not pertain
to any earlier prison sentences offend
ers may have served for some other
offense.

Attention is drawn to first releases
because certain statistics in the report
— for example, “average time served,”
“percent of sentence served,’ “child
molesters age when he committed the
sex crime for which he was
imprisonee —ccu5d only ba computed
for those prisoners classified as first
releases. For such statistics, date first
admitted to prison for their imprison
rnent offense was needed. Since
prison records made available for the
study only provided this admission date
on first releases, first releases neces
sarily formed the basis for the
statistics.

Prior arrest Statistics on prior arrests
were calculated using arrest dates
from the official criminal records of the
9,691 released sex offenders. Only
dates of arrest were counted, not the
number of arrest charges associated
with that arrest date. To illusftate, one
man was arrested on March 5, 1970,
and that one arrest resulted in 3
separate arrest charges being filed
against him. In this study, that March 5
arrest is considered one prior arrest

Prior arrests were measured two differ
ent ways in this report. The first way
did not include the imprisonment
offense for which the sex offender was
in prison in 1994. Prior arrest statistics
that did not include the imprisonment
offense are found in sections of the
report that describe the criminal
records of the 9,691 sex offenders at
the time of release from prison. In this
case, any arrest that had occurred on a
date prior to the sex offender’s arrest
for his imprisonment offense was
considered a prior arrest. For example,
one released sex offender was found
to have four different dates of arrest
prior to the date of arrest for his impris
onment offense. Those four arrests
resulted in 17 different charges being
brought against him. When describing

this released prisoners criminal record,
he is considered to have four prior
arrests.

The second way of measuring prior
arrests did include the imprisonment
offense of the released sex offender.
Prior arrest statistics that did include
the imprisonment offense are found in
sections of the report that describe the
recidivism rates of the 9,691 sex
oriender fuliowing their release from —

prison. In this case, any arrest that had
occurred on a date prior to the sex
offender’s release from prison was
considered a prior arrest. By definition,
all 9,691 sex offenders had at least one
arrest prior to their release, which was
the sex crime arrest responsible for
their being in prison in 1994. This
means that the sex offender who was
arrested on four different dates prior to
the arrest for his imprisonment offense
under the first definition of prior arrest
was, under this second definition;
classified as having five prior arrests,
once his imprisonment offense is
included.

Thirteen tables in the report provide
statistics on prior arrests (and, in 2 of
the 13. prior convictions and prior
imprisonments). In tables 15, 16, 17,
18, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 36, and 37,
“prior arrests’ includes the sex crime
arrest for the imprisonment offense;
these tables have the heading “prior to
1994 release,’ In tables Sand 6, “prior
arrests” excludes that arrest these
tables have the heading “prior to the
sex crime for which imprisoned.

In all tables, the same counting rule
was used: arrest dates, not arrest
charges, were counted to obtain the
number of prior arrests.

Rearrest Unless stated otherwise, this
recidivism measure is defined as the
number or percentage of released
prisoners who, within the first three
years following their 1994 release,
were arrested either in the same State
that released them (in this report those
arrests are called “in-State’ arrests) or
in a different State (those arrests are

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Pds7 in 1994 553 of 199



Demographic characteristics

All sex offenders

Of the 9,691 released sex offenders,
approximately —

• 6503(67.1% of the 9691) were
white males (table 1)

•3,053(31.5%) were black males
• 136(1.4%) were males of other races

(Asian, Pacific Islander, American

Indian, and Alaska Native).

The vast majority of sex offenders
were non-Hispanic males (80.1%).
Half were over the age of 35 when
released.

Rapists and sexual assaultess

As defined in this report, all sex offend
ers are either @rapistsn or asexual

assaulters.” Of the 9,691 released sex

offenders, 3.115 were rapists and the
remaining 6,576 were sexual
assaulters.

Of the 3,115 rapists, 1735(55.7% of
3,115) were white males and 1,327
(42.6%) were black males. Of the
6,576 sexual assaulters, 4,768 (72.5%
of 6,576) were white males and 1,723
(26.2%) were black males.

Rapists and sexual assaulters were
close in age at time of release: over
70% were age 30 or older. Median age
at time of release was about 35 yearn
for both rapists and sexual assaufters.

Table 1. Demographic characteristIcs of sex offenders released

from prison in 1994, by type of sex offender

Percent of released prisoners

Prisoner Sexual

daracterisUc MI Rapists assaultem

Total 100% 100% 100%

Race
Mfte 67.1% 55.7% 72.5%

Black 31.5 42.6 28.2

Other 1.4 1.7 1.3

Hispanic origin
Hispanic 19.9% 22.5% 18.9%

Non-Hispanic 80,1 77.4 81.1

Age at release
18-24 122% 10.6% 13.0%

25-29 16,4 17.3 16.0

30-34 20.0 22.4 18.8

35-39 19.1 20.9 16.3

40-44 13.3 13.3 13.3

45 or older 19.0 15,5 20.6

Age at release
Average 36.8 ys 36.1 yrs 37.1 yrs

Median 35.3 34.9 35.5

Total released 9,691 3,115 6,576

Note: The 9,691 sex offenders were released in 15 Slates. Data identifying

ra were reported for 98.5% of 9,691 released sex offenders; Hispanic

origin for 82.5%; age forvirtuafly 100%.
Age at release 18-24 indudes the few who were under age 18

when released from prison in 1994.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released frTYn Prison in 1fl4 7
54 of 199



Sentence length and time served

All sex offenders

All 9,691 sex offenders selected to be
in this study had a prison sentence
greater than 1 year. The shortest terms
were a day over 1 year the longest
were life sentences. The fact that sex
offenders with a life sentence (18
offenders in the study) were among the
9,591 released in 1994 should not be

beise only rarely doiffa
sentences in the United States literally
mean imprisonment for the remainder
of a person’s life. Most felons receMng
a life sentence are eventually paroled
(unpublished tabulation of data from
the 1997 BJS Survey of Inmates in
State Correctional Facilities).

• on average a rapist spent more time
in confinement before being released
(5% years) than a sexual assaulter
Gust under 3 years)

• median sentence length was longer
for rapists (half of the rapists had a
sentence of 9 years or more, while half
of the sexual assaulters had a
sentence of 5% years or more)

• 39.2%, oLthe 311S rapists were in
prison for over 5 years prior to release,
while 12.5% of the 6,576 sexual
assauftera served 61 months or more

• rapists sewed 49% of their sentence
before being released, compared to
43% for sexual assaulters.

Depending on the length of their
sentence and the amount of time they
had sewed before being released,
some of the released sex offenders
would have been on parole (or some
other type of conditional release)
throughout the full 3 years they were
tracked in this study. For example,
when released, 53.3% of rapists had
more than 3 years left to serve on their
sentence. In their case, any..new
crimes they committed during this
3-year followup period were offenses
committed while still on parole. By
comparison, just over half of released
sexual assaufters had more than 3
years left to serve.

On average, a sex offender released
from prison in 1994 had an 8-year term
and sewed 3½ years of that sentence
(45%) before being released (table 3).
Half of the released sex offenders had
a sentence length of 6 years or less.
Half had served no more than a third of
their sentence before being released.
When released, the majority (54.5%)
had more than 3 years of their
sentence remaining to be sewed.

Rapists and sexual assaulten

Rape always involves forcible inter
course, whereas sexual assault (as the
term is used here) never does,
although it can involve other types of
forcible sexual assault. Because forci
ble intercourse is considered to be a
more serious offense than other forms
of forcible sexual assault, penalties for
rape are generally more severe than
those for sexual assault,

Consistent with the more serious
nature of rape —

‘on average a released rapist had a
longer sentence Gust over 11 years)
than a sexual assaulter Gust under 7
years)

Table 3. Sentence length and time served for sex offenders released
from prison in 1994, by type of sex offender

Sexual
chamdettic All Rapists assaulters

Sentence length (in months)
Mean 97.3 mc 134.0 no 82.5 mo
Median 72.0 108.0 66.0

Time served (in months)
Mean 42.3 mc 62.6 mc 34.1 mo
Median 313 462 26.5

Percent of sentence served 44.9% 49.3% 43.1%

Upon release in 1994, percent
who had served—

6monthsorless 4.5% 3.1% 5.0%
7-12 9.5 3.0 12.1
13-18 16.5 10.5 19.0
19-24 . 9.7 5.1 11.5
25-30 8.1 6.1 8.9
31-36 9.9 8.0 101
37-60 21.6 24.9 20.2
61 months or mom 20.2

- 39.2 12.5

Upon release in 1994, percent wtth
time still remaining to be served
6 months or less 2.6% 2.4% 2.9%
7-12 5.0 5.7 4.7
13-18 8.4 6.2 9.2
19-24 12.8 9.3 142
25-30 8.1 6.2 8.8
31-36 8.5 6.9 9.1
3760 25.1 22.8 26.0
61 months or more 29.4 40.5 24.9

Total first releases 6,470 1,859 5,860

Note: The 6,470 sex offenders were released in 13 States. Figures are based on first releases
only. First releases include only those offenders leaving prison for the first time since beginning
their sentence. First releases exclude those who left prison in 1994 but who had previously been
released under the same sentence and had returned to prison for violating the coniWoas of
release.

RoddMsm of Sex Offenders Released from Rison in 1994 9
55 of 199



Prior criminal record

All sex offenders

Arrests and convictions for minor traffic

offenses, pubflcdwnkenness, and
other petty crimes are often not

entered into official criminal records.
Since official records formed the basis

for this study’s statistics on arrests and

convictions, these statistics understate
levels of contact with the justice
system. Statistics shown throughout

this report on arrests and convictions
pertain most!y to arrests and convic
tions for felonies and serious
misdemeanors.

Statistics on prior arrests in this section
of the report do not include the impris
onment offense for which the sex
offender was in prison in 1994.

At the time the 9,691 male sex offend
ers were arrested for the sex crime that
resulted in their imprisonment —

• 78.5% (7,607 of the 9,691 men) had

been arrested at least one earlier time
(table 5)

half had 3 or more prior arrests
for some type of crime

• 58.4% (5,660 men) had at least one

prior criminal conviction

• 13.9% (1,347 men) had a prior

conviction for a violent sex offense

• 4.6% (446 men) had been convicted

for a sex crime against a child

• nearly a quarter had served time in a

State or Federal prison at least once
before for some type of crime.

All 9,691 were in prison in 1994
because they had been arrested and
convicted for a sex offense. For 71.5%

of the 9691 men (6,929), that arrest
was their first ever for a violent sex
crime. In other words, these 6929 men
had no previous arrest for a sex
offense. For the remaining 28.5%
(2,762 men)1 that arrest was not their
first sex offense arrest. Some had

been arrested once before far a sex- ‘ -

crime and some two or more times
before.

To illustrate, one of the 9,691 sex
offenders in this study had his first

arrestfora sex crime in 1966, when he
was age 19; he was also arrested for
sex crimes in the 1970’s and I 980s, in
three different States. The arrest for his

imprisonment offense was in 1982. In
the early part of 1983, 4 months after
his arrest, he was convicted of sexual
assault and began serving a 25-year
prison term. Eleven years later, in 1994
at age 47, he was released.

For 75% of the 9,691 sex offenders,
their 1994 release represents their first

release since being sentenced for their
cff:rto. Tho rztg 25% had

previously sewed time under the same
sentence, had been released, had

violated one or more conditions of their
parole and, consequently, were
retumed to prison to continue sewing
time still remaining on their sentence.

Table 5. Prior criminal record of sex offenders released from prison in 1994,

by type of sex offender

Sexual

Prior to the sex time for which imprisoned All Rapists assaulters

Percent with at least I prior arrest for—S
My o’ime 78.5% 53,1% 78.3%

My sex offense 28.5 28.7 28.4

Sex offense against a child 10.3 5.7 12.5

Prior arrests for any alma’
Mean 4.5 5.0 4.2

Median 3 3 2

Percent with at least I prior conviction for—•

My czime 58.4% 62.9% 58.2%

My sex offense 13.9 14.6 13.5

Sex offense against a child 4.6 3.4 5.2

Prior convictions for any cdme
Mean 1.8 2.0 1.7

Median 1 1 1

Percent with prior prison sentence for any cdme 23.7% 28% 21.6%

Percent who were first reloasesb 74.9% 66.9% 78.7%

Total released 9,691 3,115 6,576

Note: The 9,591 sex offendeis were released in 15 States.

‘Pdor does not include the arrest, conviion, or prison sentence that was the reason

the sex offenders were in prison in 1994. Persons with no prior arrest or prior convictions

were coded zero and were included in the lojlaUons of mean and median prion. Calculation

of prior convictions excluded Ohio, and caiailation of prior prison sentences excluded Ohio and

Virginia.
bData on first releases are based on releases from 13 States. First releases include only those

offenders leaving prison for the ffrst time since beginning their sentence. First releases exclude

those who left prison in 1994 but who had previously been released tmder the same sentence

and had returned to prison for violating the conditions of release.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Av in 1994 11
56 of 199



Four measures of recidivism

‘_,_ __• __•, ,_ — ..,_;_.,.... ..4L1—
- ).fl—i i.d fri iii.fli —.

without a new prison sentence.

“Percent rearreste& is calculated by
dividing “the number rearrested” by
“the number released from prison in
1994.”

“Percent recarMcte& is obtained by
dividing “the number reconvicted” by
“the number released from prison in
19947 (It is not calculated by dividing
“the number reconvicted” by “the
number rearrested.”)

“Percent returned to prison with a new
sentence” is calculated by dMding “the
number returned to prison with a new
sentence” by “the number released
from prison in 1994.” (It is not calcu
lated by dMding “the number returned
to prison with a new sentence” by The
number reconvicted.)

Except where stated otherwise, all four
recidivism measures —

• refer to the full 3-year period follow
ing the prisoners release in 1994

• include both “in State” and “out-of

State” recidivism.

“In-State” recidivism refers to new
offenses committed within the State
that released the prisoner in 1994.
“Out-of-State” recidivism is any new
offenses in States other than the one
that released him in 1994.

Not all 4 of the recidMsm measures
are based on data from 15 States —

• ‘Percent rearrested” is based on 15
States

• “Percent reconvicted” is based
on 14 of the 15 States participating
in the study

• “Percent returned to prison with a
new sentence” is based on 13 of
the 15 States

• ‘Percent returned to prison with or
without a new sentence’ is based
on 9 of the 15.

Three of the four recidivism meaures
were calculated from data on fewer
than 15 States because the information
needed to perform the calculations was
not available (or not readily available)
from each of the 15 participating
States. Notes at the bottom of the
tables alert readers to such missing
data.

Four measures

All sex offenders

The 9,691 sex offenders in this study
were all released from prison in 1994.

Within the first 3 years following their
release —

• 43% (4,163 of the 9,691) were
rearrested for at least 1 new crime
(table 7)

•24% (2,326 of the 9,691) were
reconvicted for any type of crime

• 11.2% (1,085 of the 9,61) were
returned to prison with another
sentence

•38.6% (3,741 of the 9,691)were
returned to prison with or without
a new sentence.

For approximately three-fourths of the
4,163 men who were rearrested for
some new crime, their most serious
rearrest offense was a felony; for the
remaining fourth, the most serious was

a misdemeanor (not shown in table).

Of the 4,163 mn rearrested for some

new offense, nearly 9 in 10 (81%) were

still on parole when taken into custody
(not shown in table). -

This section measures recidivism four
ways:

• percent rearrested for any type of
crime

• percent reconvicted for any type of
crime

• percent returned to prison with a new
prison sentence for any type of crime

Table 7. RecIdivism rate of sex offenders released from prison in 1994,

by recidivism measure and type of sex offender

Percent of released prisoners
ReddMsm Sexual
measure MI Rapists assaultefs

Within 3 years following release:

Rearrested for any type of crime 43.0% 46.0% 41.5%

Reconvided for any type of crime” 24.0% 27.3% 22.4%

Returned to prison with a new
sentence for any type ofaimeb 11.2% 12.6% 10.5%

Returned to prison with or
without a new sentenc& 38.6% 43.6% 36.1%

Total released 9,691 3,115 8,576

Note: The 9,691 sex offenders were released in 15 States.
“Because of missing data, prisoners released in Ohio were excluded
from the calculation of percent reconvicted.
bNew prison sentence” includes new sentences to State or Federal prisons

but not to local jails. Because of missing data, prisoners released in Ohio and Virfrnia

were excluded from the calculation of percent returned to prison with a new sentence.

“With or without a new sentence’ includes prisoners with new sentences to State or

Federal prisons plus prisoners returned for technical vioLations. Because of missing data,

prisoners released in 6 States (Aiona. Oeiaware Maryland, New Jersey, Ohio, and Virginia)

were excluded from the calculation of percent returned to prison with or without a new sent&.

New York State aztody records did not always distinguish prison returns fitmja returns.

Consequently, some persons received in New York jails were probably mistakenly classified

as prison returns. Also, california with a relatw’ely high return-to-prison rate affects the overall

rate of 36.6%. Wtien California is excluded, the return-4o-prison rate foIls to 27.9%.

ReddMsm of Sex Offenders Released from Also, in 1994 13
57 of 199



Child molesters and statutory rapists

Of the child molesters and statutory
rapists released from prison in 1994 —

• 1693 of the 4,295 child molesters

(39.4%) and 221 of the 443 statutory
rapists (49.9%) were rearrested for a
new crime (not necessarily a new sex
crime) (table 8)

• 876 of the 4295 child molesters

(20A%) and 145 of the 443 statutory
rapists (32.7%) were reconvicted for
any type of crime

• 9% of the 4,295 child molesters and

13% of the 443 statutory rapists

were resentenced to prison for their
new conviction offense

• 38% of the 4,295 child molesters and

46% of the 443 statutory rapists were
back in prison within 3 years as a result
of either a new prison sentence or a
technical violation of their parole.

The most serious offense for three-

fourths of the 1,693 child molesters
whd were rearrested was a felony, and

a misdemeanor for the remainder (not
shown in table). Following their release

in 1994, 221 statutory rapists were

rearrested for a new crime. The most

serious offense that approximately

three-fourths were charged with was a
felony (not shown in table).

The 876 child molesters reconvicted for
any type of crime included 643 (73.4%)
whose most serious reconviction
offense was a felony; the 145 recon
victed statutory rapists included 97
(66.7%) whose most serious was a
felony (not shown in table).

Table B. Recidivism rate of child molesters and statutory rapists
released from prison In 1994, by recidivism measure

Percent of released prisoners
Recidivism child Statutory
measure molesters rapists

Within 3 years following release:

Rearrested for any type of cñme 39.4% 49.9%

Reconvicted for any type of aime’ 20.4% 32.7%

Returned to prison with a new
sentence for any type of crim& 9.1% 13.2%

Returned to prison with or
without a new sentence’ 38.2% 45.7%

Total released 4,295 443

Note: The 4,295 child molesters were released in 15 States; the 443 statutory rapists

in 11 Stales. Because of overlapping definitions, all statutory rapists also appear under the

column diild molesters)’
‘Because olmissing data, prisoners released in Ohio were excluded from the calculation of

percent recx,n’Aded.
bNew prison sentence” includes new sentences to State or Federal prisons but not to local jails.

Because of missing data, prisoners released in Ohio and Virginia were excluded from the calcu

lation of percent returned to prison with a new sentence.
Wjth or without a new sentence” indudes prisoners with new sentences to State or Federal

prisons plus prisoners returned fortednical violations. Because olmis&ng data, prisoners

released inS States (Arizona, Delaware, Maryland, New Jersey, Ohio, and Virpinia) were

excluded from the calculation of percent returned to prison with or without a new sentence. New

York State custody records did not atways distinguish prison returns from jail returns. Conse

quently, some persons received in New York jails were probably mistakenly classified as prison

returns. Also, California with a relatively high return-to-prison rate affect the overall rate of

39.4%. Vben California is excluded, the return-to-prison rate fails to 23.4%.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Aisai in 1994 15
58 of 199



Child moieste,s and statutory rapists
Table 10. RecIdivism rate of child molesters and statutory rapists released

from prison in 1994, by type of recidivism measure and time after release
Cf the 4,295 released child molesters,

Cumulative percent of sex offenders 1,693 (39.4%) were rearrested during

reased from prison in 1994 the 3-year followup period (table 10).
lime after Child Statutory me majority of those charged (approxi
1994 release molesters rapists mately 982 of the 1,693, or 58%) were
Rearrested for any type charged in the first 12 months. While
of crIme within —

6 months 16.0% 18.5% 49.9% of released statutory rapists

1 year 22.9 29.8 were rearrested within 3 years, nearTy
2 years . - 32.9 42.4 three-fifths of those rezrrests occurred
3 yearn 39.4 49.9 within the first year folTowing release

Reconvicted forany ,
(29.8% 149.9% = 60%).

of crime within —.

6 months 3.0% 4.5%
1 year 7.1 13.6
2 years 14.5 24.4
3 years 20.4 32.7

Returned to prison with a new
sentence for any type of crime within_b

6 months 1.5% 0.9%
1 year 3.1 4.0
2 years 6.5 9.3
3 years 9.1 13.2

Total released 4,295 443

Note: The 4,295 diild molesters were released in 15 States;
the 443 statutory rapists in 11 States. Because of overlapping
definitions, all statutory rapists also appear under the column ‘child molesters.’
‘Because of mis&ng data, prisoners released in Cub were
exciuded 1mm the catc4jtation of percent reanvic*ed.
bNew sentence” indudes new sentences to State or Federal prisons
but not to local jails. Because of missing data, prisoners released in Ohio
and Virginia were excluded from the calculation of percentage returned to prison
with a new sentence.

ReddMsm of Sex Offenders Released from Rison in 1994 1759 of 199



Age The younger the sex offender was
when released, the higher was his like
lihood of being rearrested. For exam

ple, the rearrest percent for statutory

rapists younger than 25 was higher
(70.0%) than the rearrest percent for
statutory rapists ages 25 to 30 (56.4%).

The same was true among child
molesters.

Time served before 1994 release

All sex offenders

Sex offenders who served the shortest

amount of time in prison before being
released (6 months or less) had a
higher rearrest rate (45.7%) than those

who served the longest (over 5 years,
39.9% rate) (table 13). Similarly,
prisoners who served 6 months or less
had a higher rearrest rate (45.7%) than
those who served 7 months to 1 year

(42.1%). However, other comparisons
did not indicate a connection between

serving more time and lower
recidivism. For example, among sex
offenders who served 1 to 134 years in
prison before being released, 38.9%
were rearrested for all types oiciimes,
compared to 46.7% of sex offenders

who served a bit longer — 1% to 2
years. Similarly, released prisoners

who served between 3 and 5 years in
prison had a higher rate of rearrest

(38.9%) than released prisoners who
served 2% to 3 years (35.7%).

ecause of these mixed results, and
others illustrated below, the data do not
warrant any general conclusion about
an association between the level of
recidivism and the amount of lime
served.

Rapists and sexual assaulters

Among sexual assaulters who served
no more than 6 months, 45.0% were
rearrested for all types of crimes.
Those who served a little longer—
from about 6 months to 1 year — had
a lower rearrest rate, 43.1%. Those
released after serving even morn time
—1 to 1% years —had an even lower

rate, 39.2%. However, there are
numerous instances where serving
more time was not linked to lower
recidivism. For example, rapists
released after about 1 to 1% years in

prison had a 37.6% rearrest rate, while

those imprisoned a little longer—from

about 1% to 2 years — had a higher

rate, 51.1%.

Child molesters and statutorj rapists

Among released statutory rapists and
child molesters, the results continued
to be mixed regarding an association
between the rate of recidivism and the
amount of time served (table 14). For
example) child molesters released after
serving about 2 to 23% years had a
higher rate of rearrest hr all types of
crimes (39.4%) than those who served
somewhat longer — about 2% to 3
years (27.2%). However, the rearrest
rate rose (31.5%) among molesters

who served more time —3 to 5 years.

Child molesters and statutory rapists I Table 14. Rearrest rate of child molesters and statutory rapists released

from prison in 1994, by time served before being released

Race The rearrest rate among
released child molesters was 51.7% for Percent rearrested for any

black men and 36.2% for white men type of crime within3ye2rs

(table 12). Among statutory rapists, Time served in prison child Statutory

black men (61.5%) had a higher before 1994 release molesters rapists

rearrest rate than white men (46.0%). 6 months or less 42.9% 56.7%
7-12 39.7 45.3
13-18 34.5 43.9

Hispanic origin Among released 19-24 45.5 48.9

prisoners whose imprisonment offense 5-3O 39.4 25.9

was statutory rape, Hispanics (56.9%) 3136 27.2 59.1 -

37-60 31.5 21.4
were more likely than non-Hispanics 61 months or more 29.9 33.3
(48.8%) to be rearrested within the
3-year followup period. The opposite Total first releases 3,104 317

was true of child molesters, as Hispan- Note: The 3,104 child molesters were released in 13 SLates; the 317 statutory rapists in 10

ice had a lower rearrest rate (37.1%) States. Secause of overlapping definitions. a statutory rapists also appear under the column

thild molesters.” Figures are based on first releases only. First releases indude only those
than non-Hispanics (41.9%). offenders leaving prison for the first tkrie since beginning theIr sentence. First releases exclude

those who lefi prison in 1994 but who had previously been released under the same sentence

and had returned to prison for violating the conditions of release.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released firm Prison in 1994 19
60 of 199



Number of prior arrests
for any type of crime

Stafisti on prior arrests in this section
of the report do include the imprison
ment offense of the released sex
offender.

All sex offenders

- The number of times a prisoner was
arrested in the past was a relatively
good predictor of whether that prisoner
would continue his criminality after re
lease (table 17). Prisoners with just one
prior arrest for any type of crime had a
24.8% rearrest rate for all types of
crimes. With two priors, the percent
age rearrested rose to 31.9%. With
three, it increased to 36.9%. With four,
it went up to 42.6%. With additional
priors, there were further increases,
ultimately reaching a rearrest rate of
67.0% for released prisoners with the
longest criminal record (more than 15
prior arrests).

Rapists end sexual assaultem

Both rapists and sexual assaulters
followed the pattern described immedi
ately above: The more prior arrests they
had, the morn likely they were to have
a new arrest for some type of crime
after their release in 1994.

Table 17. Rearrest rate of sex offenders releathd from prison in 1994,

by type of sex offender and number of prior arrests for any type of crime

Number of adult arrests Sexual
prior to 1994 release MI Rapists assautters

Percent rearrested for any typo
of crime withIn 3 years

I prior arrest for any type of alma 24.8% 28.3% 23.6%
2 31.9 36.4 29.9
3 36.9 36.3 37.1
4 42.6 47.2 40.4
S 50.5 48.5 51.6
8 49.7 47.3 50.9
7-10 59.0 59.6 58.6
11-15 65.1 63.7 66.0
l6ormore 67.0 66.1 67.5

Percent of released prisoners

Msexoffenders 100% 100% 100%
I priorarrest for any type of alma 21.5 16.9 23.7
2 16.0 152 16.3
3 11.9 111 11.8
4 9.0 9.2 8.9
5 72 8.0 6.8
6 6.3 6.6 6.1
7-10 14.4 15.8 13.8
11-15 7.9 8.9 7.4
IGormore 5.8 7.2 52

Total released 9,691 3115 6,576

Note: TIm 9,691 sex offenders wete released in 15 States.
‘By definition, all sex offenders had at least 1 arrest prior to their ielease: namec the arrest
responsale for their being in prison 1994. In this table, that arrest is counted as 1 prior arrest

RecidMsm of Sex Offenders Released ftuai Prison in 1994 2161 of 199



Child molesters and statutorj rapists

Out of the 4,295 child molesters, 1,693

were rearrested for any new crime after

being released from prison in 1994

(table 20). The 1,693 reddMsts

consisted of 84.8% whose new arrest

was in the same State that released

them in 1994, and 152% whose

alleged violation occurred in a different

State.

About half of all statutory rapists were

not rearrested r any type of crime

after their release. Of the 221 who

*ere, 16.6% were rearrested outside

the State where they were released.

I

Table 20. Where child molesters and statutory rapists were rearrested

for any new crime following release from prison In 1994

Percent of rearrested pdsoners

State wt,em rearrested Child Statutory

within 3 years molesters mpsts

Total 100% 100%

Same State wtiere released 84.8 83.4

Moit- State 15.2 16.6

Total rearrested for any new time 1,693 221

Nate: The 1,693 rearrested thd molesters were released in 15 States,

but table pertages are based on 14 States The 221 rearrested statutory rapists

were released fr 11 States, but table penmdages am based on 10 States.

ReddMsm of Sex Offenders Released frtvn attn in 1994 2362 of 199



Time to rearrest

All sex offenders

Wth 6 months fttlowing their release,
1.4% the 96&t men aere rearrested
for a new sex afrne (faNe 23). Wthfri 1
year the cumulative totar grew raal%
rearrested B’g the end & tie 3-year
t&stup periöd altogether 5.3% had
been rearrested thc another sex crime.
The first year was the period when
40% of the new sex crimes were
mmitted (since 2.1% /5.3% = 40%).

Rapists and sexuarassauIters

The &styear following release
mundfor40% of the new sex

ccmrnitted by beth refeased
rapists (since 2.0% 1 5.0% = 40%) and
released sexual assaulters (since 2.2%
I&&%= 40%).

Child molesters and statutory rapists

For child molesters and statutory

__the

iiye kAowig their
release was the perkd when the
bust ntzrxther of reckrMsts were
remste& SkEilac b iapis and
seusaf assautss, nit40% of the
Tests fiX n SCX &It coanDilted
by child molesters and statutory rapists
occurred durinc the first year (table 24).

Demogmphic characteristics

Affc &encfes

Race Among sex offenders rereased
from prison in 1994, black men (5.6%)
anwhita men (S% were about
equally ilkely to be rearrested for
another sex crime (table 25).

Hispanic origin Among released sex
offenders, non-Hispatics were morn
likely to be rearrested for a new sex
offense (6A%) than Hispanics (t 1%).
One reason fbi the lower rearrest rate
for Hisparrfos may be that some were
deported knme<ateTy foLlowing their
ease.

Age Recidivism studies typically find
that, the older the prisoner when
released, the rower the rate ofrec
vism. Results reported here on ie
based sex offenders did not follow the
rnjtem.iAthjle the lowest rate
of rearrest for a sex crime (33%)
belong to the oldest sex offenders
(those age 45 or older), other compari
sons between older and younger
prisoners did not consistentty show
older prisonersi having the lower
rearrest rate.

23 31 sex offenders released from prison in 1994k percent rearrested
rot any new sex crimes by type of sex offender and time aStor release

QJmLaffwe— -.

new aine---
£.-d

AK Raçi

6ii..a 1.4% 1.3% 1.4%
lycar . ii 10 22
2ys 19 17 4.1
3 veaxs 5.3 5.0 5.5

TobJ released 9,691 3,115 6,576

Mo Tie 9691 sex cxles wee rsed ii 15 SZaa

Table 24. 01 thud nAL.s aid thtdoq 11&b released from p&on in 1994,

percat rearrested for any new sex trifle, by time after release

Ctndafive — ieanested for any
asa cue.,edfrd te

Thne after Chi Siatuiory
1994 release nxas mosts

6 months 1.3% 1A%
lytar 22 ao
2 years 3.9 3.2
3 years 5.1

TalaJ released 4,295 443

Note: The 4,295 dill molesters cc released in 15 States;
the 443 statutory rap&sts ii 11 Statea Becatme of ovedpàig defritions.

stty raçts ao appea wE ife a*am “dt molester&’

lirear
1994 ra

Table aorsex otThndetsret
front prison ii 1994. percent

rearrested for any newsaa,
by demonjaphlc d,kfks
of IPL..!,Jt ttp:

Pta i.n it ci wL-..,.-d
.JL-,.h-,c ,c,tr for

Prisoner new sex aine vtin

daac 3 ys

To4al rnieased 5.3%

Raw
Wbile 5.3%

5.6
Other 4.4

Wspanlc origin
Hispanic 4.1%
Non- Ifrspanic

Agearebase
18-24 5.1%
25-29 5.5
30-34
35-39 6.1
40-44 £6
65 or okler 3.3

Total released 9.691

Nate: The 9.691 sex offenders wet released

ii 1 States. Data idecSyig raw wee
reported 98.5% of 9,691 relea sa
offenders; Hispanic origin t 815%; age

far dtmty lfl

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Re/eased fran Thiscn in 1994 2563 of 199



Child molesters and statutory rapists

Released child molesters with more
than one prior arrest were more Likely
than those with only one arrest in their
crhiñnal record to be rearrested for a
new sex aime (5.7% compared to
32%) (le 28). The sane was true
of statutory rapists (&3% compared
to

Nurñber of prior arrests
for any type of crime

All sex ofiande,s

The morn arrests (for any type of

crime) the sex offender had in his
afrilnal record. the nne ceIy he w

to be rearrested for another sex aine

after his release ftom — (labia fl
Sex offenders with one —est (the

arrest for the sex crime forwhich they
had been dned) had the L-

rate, about 3%; those with 2 or S pta
arrests ne type of aiie. 4%;

4 to 6 prior arrests, 6%; 7 to 1(7 prior
arresfs 7%; and it to 15 prior

Table 2$. Of chId molesters and statutory rapists released from prison
in 1994, percent F ipstsd for any new sex crime, by prior arrest
for any type of crime

Ch&i Statutory

Mast — to 1994 release molesters rapists

Pacwt rearrested for any new sex crime within 3 yaws

Total 5.1% 5.0%

Tic wmst raspor,le forflbe in pnson h 1994 was — -

Tick &st arrest for any type of a*ne 3.2 3.5
5.7 5.3

Percent of released prisoners

Total 100% 100%

TM arrest respoc3* lot th& b*g in prison in 1994 was—t
Tl 1st arrest for any type of aine 232 19A
Not Ufr first atTest for any type of aime 76.8 80.6

Total released 4,295 443

Not The 4,295 d*J molestersemd in 15 Stales; ff 443 statz4o€y rapists in 11 States.

Beof ovedapping d itksz alt staháxy rs eisa appear tut the &,Ltnnn ‘uiild

‘Ry t,&a; al o&fxs hat at least 1 arrest prior to if release: randy. the arrest

resparble forffbeing in pram in 199k starrest ai type ci aite pertain

xse ited---.-
C1st aestc the r,4rise wrest

respIe for tmk being in psrx1 in 199k

Table Z9. Of sex offenders released front fan in 1294, ptatma.Jrd

for any new sex ahue, by number of prior .irr*rany type of oine

hmnb ata&tai

—b 1994 release

Al oêert
1 prawstforacwtypeofaEne
2
3

PmtieaitIraqa
nine wW*3s

4
5

5.3%
3.3

6

4.3

7-10
11-15

4.4
5-B

16cr more

6.3
6.1
6.9
7.8

2

PS sex o&nders
I pmr arrest for any type of nine

7.4

3
4

Percent of released flonefS

5
6

100%
21.5
16.0

7-10

11.9

11-15
16cr more

9.0
7.2
6.3

Total released

14.4
7.9
5.8

9,691

Note: The 9,691 sex ofnders wie released in 15 States. By clefiniüon, a sex offerders lad at

least I arrest pra to their release: namely, the arrest tesponstle for their being in prison in 1994.

In INs table. that wrest is cowiled as one prior arrest.

RecidMsm of Sex Offenders Released from Risai Th 1994 2764 of 199



I.

State where rearrested for a sex
crime

When sex offenders were arrested for
new sex crimes after their release, the
new arrest typically occurred in the
same State that released them. Those
arrests are referred to as “in-State
arrests. When released sex offenders
left the State where they were incarcer
ated and were charged by police with
new sex crimes, those arrests are
referred to as “out-of-State’ arrests.

Al! sex offenders

Of the 9,691 released sex offenders,
517 were rearrested for a new sex
crime within 3 years. Most of those sex
crime arrests (85.2% of the 517, or 440
men) were in the same State that
released them (table 32). Seventy-
seven of them (14.8% of the 517) were
arrests in a different State.

Sex offenders cornpared
to non-sex offenders

The 15 States in this study released
262,420 non-sex offenders in 1994, of
whom 3,328 were rearrested for a new
sex crime within 3 years (not shown in
table). Of the 3,328 non-sex offenders
arrested for a new sex crime, an
estimated 10% were men rearrested
outside the State that released them.
The 15% figure for released sex
offenders was high by comparison
(table 32).

released them in 1994. For the remain
ing 13.4%, the arrest was elsewhere.

Of all statutory rapists, 5% (22) were
rearrested for a new sex crime after
their release. Of these 22, none had
the new arrest outside the State that
released them.

Rapists and sexual assaulters

A total of 155 released rapists and 362
released sexual assaulters were
rearrested for a new sex crime within
the 3-year followup period. In-State
arrests for new sex crimes accounted
for 85% of the rearrested rapists and
B5% of the rearrested sexual
assaulters. Out-of-State arrests
accounted for the rest.

Child molesters and statutor,’ rapists

A total of 221 child molesters were
rearrested for a new sex crime (not
necessarily against a child) after their
release (table 33). Among the 221
were 191 (86.6%) whose new sex
crime arrest was in the same State that

Table 32. Where sex offenders were rearrested for a new sex crime
following their release frQm pri’on in 1S4, u type of sez offender

Percent of rearrested prisoners
Stale where rearrested Sexual
within 3 years All Rapists assaullers

Total 100% 100% 100%

Same State where released 85.2 85.2 85.2
Mother State 14.8 14.8 itS

Total rearrested for a new sex crime 517 155 382

Mole: The 517 rearrested sex offenders were released in 15 Slates,
but table percentages are based on 14 States.

Table 33. Where child molesters and statutory rapists were rearrested
for a new sex crime following their release from prison in 1994

Percent of rearrested
prisoners

Stale where rearrested child Statutory
within 3 years molesters rapists

Total 100% 100%

Same State where released 86.5 100
Mother Slate 13.4 0

Total rearrested for a new sex crime 221 22

Note: The 221 rearrested thUd molesters were released in 14 States.
but table percentages are based on 13 States. The 22 rearrested statutory
rapists were released in 6 States, but table percentages are based on 5 StaLes.

RecidMsm of Sex Offenders Released from aison in 1994 265 of 199



66 of 199



67 of 199



Assuming that the 209 sex offenders
who were rearrested for a sex crime
against a child each victimized no more
than one child, the number of sex
crimes they committed against children
after their prison release totaled 209.
Assuming that the 1042 non-sex
offenders rearrested for a sex crime
against a child after their release also
victimized only one child, the number of
sex crimes against a child that they
committed Was 1 ,U42. The combined
total number of sex crimes is 1,251
(209 plus 1,042 = 1,251). Released sex
offenders accounted for 17% and
released non-sex offenders accounted
for 83% of the 1,251 sex crimes
against children committed by all the
prisoners released in 1994(209/1251
= 17% and 1,042 I 1,251 = 83%).

Rapists and sexual assaufteis

Following their 1994 release, 1.4% of
the 3,115 rapists (44 men) and 2.5% of
the 6,576 sexual assaulters (165 men)
were rearrested for molesting a child
(table 34).

Child molesters and statutoiy rapists

Within 3 years following their release
from prison in 1994, 141 (3.3%) of the
released 4,295 child molesters and 11
(2.5%) of the 443 released statutory
rapists were rearrested for molesting
another child (table 35). For the
reasons outlined earlier, these percent
ages undercount actual rearrest rates
by a few percentage points at most.

Each of the 141 released molesters
rearrested for repeating their crime
represented at least I child victim. Of
the conservatively estimated 141
children allegedly molested by released
child molesters, 79% were age 13 or
younger, 9% were 14 or 15 years of
age, and 12% were ages 16 or 17.

Table 35. Of child molesters and statutory rapists released from prison
In 1994, percent rearrested for a sex crime against a child,
and percent of their alleged victIms, by age of victim

Percent rearrested for a sex
aime against a child within 3 years
child Stalutory
molesters rapists

Total 3.3% 2.5%

Number released 4,295 443

Age of child that sex offender was Percent of
cnarped with molestinn after release alleoedN moiesed childre

13 or younger 79.2% 30.O’°h
14-15 9.1 10.0*
16-17 11.7 60.0’

Number of molested children 141 11

Note: The 4,295 child molesters were released in 15 States; the 443 statutory rapists in 11
States. Because of overlapping definitions, all statutory rapists also appear under the column
“child molesters.” The approximate ages of the children allegedly molested by the 141 prisoners
after their release were available for 54.6% of the 141. ‘Number of molested children” was set to
equal the number of released sex offenders rearrested for child molesting.
Percentage based on 10 or fewer cases.

Prior arrest for a sex crime child molesting were morn likely to be
against a child arrested for child molesting (6.4%) than

those who had no arrest record for sex
Al! sex offenders with a child (1.7%) (table 36).

After their 1994 release from prison,
sex offenders with a prior arrest for

Table 36. Of sex offenders released from prison in 1994, percent rearrested
for a sex crime against a child, by prior arrest for a sex crime
against a child and type of sex offender

Arrest prior to 1994 release

Percent rearrested for a sex crime
against a child within 3 years

Total

Sexual
All Rapists assaulters

The arrest responsible for their
being in prison in 1994 was—’

Their first arrest for a sex aime against a child
Not their first arrest for a sex aime against a child

2.2% 1.4% 2.5%

Percent of reloased prisoners

Total

1.7 1.3
6.4 4.0

1.9
6.9

The arrest responsible for their
being in prison in 1994 was —.

Their first arrest for a sex aime against a child
Not their first arrest for a sex aime against a child

100% 100%

Total released

100%

89.7
10.3

94.3
5.7

87.5
12.5

9,691 3,115 6,576

Note: The 9,691 sex offenders were released in 15 States.
6y definition, all sex offenders had at least 1 arrest prior to their release: namely, the arrest

responsible for their being in prison in 1994. “First arrest for a sex crime against a child”
pertains exclusively to those released prisoners whose first arrest was the sex
offense arrest responsible for their being in prison in 1994.

Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Risci in 1994 3168 of 199



Rearrest for other types of crime

5.3% (517 men) were rearrested
for a sex offense

- 171% (1,658 men) were rearrested
for a violent crime

• 133% (1285 men) were rearrested
for a property crime of sothe kind.

Of the 9,691 released men, 168 (1.7%)
were rearrested for rape and 396
(4.1%) were rearrested for sexual
assault. The 168 rearrested for rape
plus the 396 rearrested for sexual
assault totais 564, which is 47 greater
than the total 517 who were rearrested
for a sex crime. The reason is that 47
men were rearrested for both rape and
sexual assault

The category of violent crime for which
a prisoner was most likely to be
rearrested was assault (5.8%, or 848 of
the 9,691); the category least likely was
homicide (0.5%, or45 of the 9,691
men).

Just over I in 5 sex offenders (2,045
out of 9,691) were rearrested fore
public-order offense, such as a parole
violation or traffic offense.

Rapists and sexual assaalters

Among the 3,115 released rapists—

‘46% (1,432) were rearrested
for a crime of any kind

18.7% (582) were rearrested
for a violent crime

• 0.7% (22) were rearrested for
homicide

• 14.7% (459) were rearrested

Table 41. Rearrest rate of sex offenders released from prison in 1994,
y type of sex offehder and àharge at rearrat

Percont rearrested for specified
offense within 3 years

Sexual
Rearrest tharge All Rapists assaulters
All charges’ 43.0% 46.0% 41.5%

Violent offensesb 17.1% 18.7% 164%
Homidd& 0.5 0.7 0.3
Sex offense’ 5.3 5,0 5.5

Rape 1.7 2.5 1.4
Sexual assault 4.1 2.6 4.7

Robbery 2.7 3.9 11
Assault 8.8 8.7 8.8

Property offenser 13.3% 14.7% 12.6%
Burglary 3.8 4.4 3.5
LarnyItheft 5.7 6.1 5.6
Motor vehide theft 1.7 2.3 1.4
Fraud 2.1 1.8 2.2

Dnig offenses’ 10.0% 112% 9.4%

Public-orderoffenses 21.1% 20.4% 21.4%

Other offenses 5.9% 5.0% 6.3%

Total released 9,691 3115 6,576
Note: The 9,691 sex offenders were released in 15 States. Detail may not add to totalsbecause persons may be rearrested for more than one type of charge.
‘NI ofiènses include any offense type listed in footnotes b through F plus
“otheC and unknown” offenses.
‘Tal violent offenses include homicide, kidnaping, rope, other sexual assault, robbery,assaults, and other violence.
‘Homicide includes murder, voiunlaiy manslaughter, vehiilar manslaughter, negligentmanslaughter, nonnegligent manslaughter, unspecified manslaughter, and unspecified homicide.dlndudes both rape and sexual assault.
‘Total property offenses include burglary, larceny, motor vehicle theft, fraud, forgery,embenlement, arson, stolen property, and other forms of property offenses.Drug offenses include drug trafficking, drug possession, and other forms of drug offenses.‘Pubhc-order offenses include traffic offenses, weapon oftnses, probation and paroleviolations, court-related offenses, disorderly conduct, and other such offenses.

for a property offense.

A relatively small percentage of rapists
(2.5%, or7S of the 3,115) were
charged with repeating the crime for
which they were imprisoned.

All sex offenders

Of the 9,691 male sex offenders
released from prison in 1994—

43% (4,163 men) were rearrested
for a crime of any kind (table 41)

Among the 6,576 released sexual
assaulters —

‘41.5% (2,731) were rearrested
for a crime of any kind

16.4% (1,076) were rearrested
for a violent crime

‘0.3% (23) were rearrested
for killing someone

• 12.6% (826) were rearrested
for a property offense.

Nearly 1 in 20 released sexual
assaulters (4.7%, 01308 of the 6,576)
were charged with committing the
same type of crime for which had just
served time in prison.

34 Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Prison in 199469 of 199



Victims ot sex crimes

Survey of State inmates

The 9691 prisoners in this study were
all men sentenced to prison for sex
crimes. Characteristics of the victims
of these sex crimes were largely
unavailable for the study. For informa
tion on imprisoned sex offenders and
their victims, data were drawn from a
survey covering the approximately
73,000 maie sex offenders in State
prisons nationwide in 1997.

Of the 73,000 victims of their sex
crimes —

• about 90% were female
• nearly 75% were white
• 89% were non-Hispanic
“36% were below age 13
• altogether, 70% were under age 18.

Child victims of sex crimes were more
likely than adult victims to be male
(11% versus 3%). Whites made up
76% of child victims and 66% of adult
victims.

The biggest difference between child
victims and adult victims was their
relationship to the man who committed
thesexcrime: -

Among cases where the victim was
under 18, the boy or girl was the
prisoner’s own child (16%), stepchild
(16%), sibling orstepsibling (2%), or
other relative (13%) in nearly half of all
child victim cases (46%). Among
cases where the victim was an adult,
the victim was a relative less
often (11%).

Among inmates who were in prison for
a sex crime against a child, the child
was the prisoner’s own child or step
child in a third of the cases. Seven

percent of the inmates reported their
child victims to have been strangers.
Among adult victims, 34% were
strangers to their attacker.

Victim characteristic

CharacteristIcs of vIctims of rape or sexual assault, for which male inmates
were serving a sentence in State prisons, 1997

Percent of victims of rape or sexual assault
Victimaqe

All — _8 years org der Under 18 years
Thtaf 100% ‘100% 100%

Gender
Male 8.8% 2.8% 11.1%
Female 91.2 97.2 88.9

Race
VThite 73.2% 66.0% 76.4%
Slad 22.8 30.2 19.4
Other 4.0 3.8 4.2

Hispanic origin
Hispanic 11.3% 9.9% 12.1%
Non-Hispanic 88.7 90.1 87.9

Age
l2orunder 36.4% — 51.8%
13-17 34.1 — 48.4
18-24 . 10.8 36.7% —

25-34 11.2 37.9 —

35-34 7.0 23.8 —

55 or over 0.5 1.6 —

Victim was the prisone?s —

Spouse 1.1% 3.8% 0%
Ex-spouse . 0.6 2.0 0
Parenustepparent 0.6 0.4 0.6
Oqchüd 11.5 IA 15.7
Stepchild 11.2 0.4 15.8
Sibling/stepsibling 1.3 0.4 1.7
Otherrelative 9.4 2.1 12.7
Boy/girlfriend 5.5 8.2 4.4
Ex.boy/giHfriend 1,1 2.0 0.8
Friend/ex-hiend 22.7 24.5 22.0
Acuaintanc&other 19.4 20.1 19.6
Stranger 15.6 34.4 6.7

Note: Data am from the BJS Survey of Inmates in State conecbonal Fadlites, 1997. This table
is based on 73,116 prisoners who reported having one victim in the crime for which they were
sentenced to prison. (They accounted for approximately 84% of all incarcerated male sex
offenders in 1997.) Data identifying victim’s sex were reported for 99.8% of the 73,116 males
incarcerated for sex aimes; victim’s race were reported for 98.9%; Hispanic origin for 98.2%;
victim’s age for 97.1%; victim’s relationship to prisoner for 98.3%. Detail may not sum to total
due to missing data for age of victim.
—Not applicable.

Total estimated number 73,116 20,958 50,027

36 Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Prison in 199470 of 199



cases in which the data were available,
but treated both in the tables and in the
text as though it were based on the
total population. For example, “24%” is
the statistic that appears in aU tables
and text that give the percent recon
victed; and since 24% of 9,691 is
2,326, the text says that “2,326 of the
9691 were reconvicted,” despite the
fact that the “24%” was actually ob
tained by dividing 2,180 by 9,085. The
ten could have •en written to say
“2,180 of the 9,085 were reconvicted,”
but that wasn’t done because introduc
ing a new denominator (9,085) into the
text would have created confusion for
the reader.

Missing data on out-of-State rearrests

Because of missing information, the
study was unable to determine how
many inmates released from New York
prisons were rearrested outside of New
York. The study was able to document
how many prisoners released in the
other 14 States were rearrested
outside the State that released them.
Because of incomplete New York data,
the repofts recidivism rates are
somewhat deflated.

Missing data on rearrest for a sex
crime

According to arrest records compiled in
the study, 4,163 of the 9,691 released
sex offenders were rearrested for a
new crime of some kind. It was not
always possible to determine from
these records whether the new crime
was a sex crime. For 202 rearrested
prisoners, the arrest record did not
identify the type of crime. For the rest
the record did identify the type but the
offense label was not always specific
enough to distinguish sex crimes from
other crimes. For example, if the label
said “contributing to the delinquency of
a minor,” “indeceny,” “morals offense,”
“family offense,” or “child abuse,” the
offense was coded as a non-sex crime
even though, in some unknown
number of cases, ft was actually a sex
crime.

According to arrest records, 5.3% of
the 9,691 (517 out of 9,691) released
sex offenders were rearrested for
another sex crime. For the two reasons
described immediately above, 5.3%
was probably an undercount of how
many were rearrested for a sex crime.
How much of an undercount could not
be firmly determined from the data
assembled for the study. However, a
conservative measure of the size of the
undercount was obtained from the
data The study database included 121
rearrested sex offenders whose arrest
record did not indicate they were
rearrested for a sex crime (the rearrest
was either for a non-sex crime or for an
unknown type of crime) but whose
court record did indicate they were
charged with a sex crime. When the
study calculated the percentage
rearrested for a sex crime, the 121
were not included among the 517 with
a rearrest for a sex crime. Had the 121
been included in the calculation of the
rearrest rate, the total number
rearrested for a sex crime would have
been 638 rather than 517, and the
percentage rearrested for a sex crime
would have been 6.6% rather than
5.3%. This suggests an undercount of
about 1 percentage point

Texas prisoners classified as ther
type of release”

Texas released 692 male sex offend
ers in 1994, of which 129 were classi
fied as release category “iT, defined
as “other type of release.” Numerous
data quality checks were run on the
129 and the 64 of them who were
rearrested. The rearrest rate for the
129 was about average for Texas
releases. But numerous anomalies
were found for the 64 who were
rearrested:
1. The rearrest offense for the 64 was
always missing from their arrest record
2. The date of rearrest for the 64 was
always the same as their release date
3. Virtually all 64 were reconvicted for a
sex crime
4. The sentence length imposed for
their new sex crime was identical to the

sentence they were serving when
released in 1994.

Because of these anomalies, the 129
were excluded from the calculation of
“percent reconvicted for a sex crime.”

Counting rules

In this report, rearrest was measured
by counting the number of different
p&sons who were rearrested at least
once. A released prisoner who was
rearrested several times or had multi
ple rearrest charges filed against him
was counted as only one rearrested
person. The same counting rule
applied to reconvicUon and the other
recidivism measures.

If a released prisoner was rearrested
several times, his earliest rearrest was
used to calculate his time-to-rearrest.
The same counting nile applied to
reconviction and recidivism defined as
a new prison sentence.

If a released prisoner had both in-State
and out-of-State rearrests, he was
counted as having an out-of-State
rearrest regardless of whether the
out-of-State rearrest was his earliest
rearrest The same rule applied in
cases where the released prisoner had
both felony and misdemeanor
rearrests, or both sex crime and
non-sex crime rearrests. The person
was counted as havihg a felony
rearrest or a sex crime rearrest regard
less of temporal sequence.

The aim of these rules was to count
people, not events. The only tables in
the report that do not follow the nile are
tables 41 and 42.

First release

All 15 States had first releases, but
they could not be identified in I State
(Ohio). They could be identified in
Michigan, but Michigan data on
sentence length did not fit the stud/s
definition. Since sentence length was
critical to several statistics calculated

38 Recidivism of Sex Offenders Released from Prison in 199471 of 199



fr55jUIUDSUdWill)pQS29J&dSJOpU9flQX09J0WSMIp)O5’Ø’

—

72 of 199



PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT SERIES

Sex Offender Recidivism after Release
from Prison

Office of the Secretary
Research and Policy Unit

Inquiries regarding this report may be directed to the authors:

Joseph R. Totor II, Ph.D. Anthony Streveler, M.S.W.
(608) 240-5814 (608)240-5801
Josephtoiar(Thwi,ccn,ingov Anthony5rovclerlawiscomn.gov

01 W130

— 04
t

:tS .;

OF C0

September 2015

0
C

A
73 of 199



PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT SERIES

Sex Offender Recidivism after Release
from Prison
September 2015

Table of Contents

Executive Summary .4
Introduction 6
Release from Prison Recidivism Rates for Sex Offenders 8

General Recidivism Rate Trends 8
General Recidivism Rate Trends for All Offenders versus Sex Offenders 9
Sexual Recidivism Rate Trends 10
General Recidivism Trends by Gender 11
General and Sexual Recidivism Rate Trends by Age at Release 12
General Recidivism Rates by Time to Recidivism Event 13

0Sexual Recidivism Rates by Time to Recidivism Event 14 C
0General and Sexual Recidivism Rates by Race 15
UGeneral Recidivism Rates by Release Type 16 2

Sexual Recidivism Rates by Release Type 17 0
UGeneral Recidivism Offense Types 18

Sexual Reoffending 19 c 0

CCReferences 20 o
I,

Appendix A 22 E
Definition of Recidivism 22 a
Methodology 22
Recidivism vs. Reincarceration 26 tfl

•1

74 of 199



Appendix B .27
Defined Sexual Offenses by UCR Category 27

Appendix C 29
Table 1. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders (1992-2010) 29
Table 2. General Recidivism Trends for All Offenders (1992-2010) 30
Table 3. Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders (1992-2010) 31
Table 4. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Age: 3-Year Follow-up 32
Table 5. Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Age: 15-Year Follow-up 33
Table 6. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Race: 3-Year Follow-up 34
Table 7. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Type: 3-Year Follow-up..35
Table 8. Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Type: 1 S-Year Follow-up ..35
Table 9. General Recidivism Offense Types for Sex Offenders 36

75 of 199



c’ ( Hlcjiilt’r ltiIi i.iit \iI-r rouL l’rL!IL

Executive Summary
The Wisconsin Department of Corrections (WI DCC) defines
recidivism as a new offense resulting in a conviction and
sentence to the WI DCC. Three-, five-, ten-, and fifteen-year
follow-up periods are calculated beginning on the day the
offender is released from prison. Recidivism rotes represent the
number of persons who hove recidivoted divided by the total
number of persons in a defined population. All recidivism rates
are based solely on Wisconsin offenses that have resulted in
court dispositions that include custody or supervision under the
WI DCC. This report summarizes recidivism rates for a total of
12,849 predominantly male sex offenders released from the
Wisconsin prison system between 1992 and 2010. Any
offender that was committed to the Department of Health
Services (DHS) as a ‘Sexually Violent Person’ under Wisconsin
Chapter 980 was excluded from this analysis.

Recidivism rates for sex offenders have generally been on the
decline from 1992 and when compared to the overall offender
population, their rates of general recidivism are lower
(approximately 10-18% lower at any given cohort year). From
1992 to 2010 the three-year general recidivism rate for sex offenders decreased by 4O.O°/ (or 11.2
percentage points). Rates of sexual recidivism for this group have also declined over time, with the three-year
rate decreasing by 74.1% (4.3 percentage paints) between 1992 and 2010.

The two core findings pertaining to lower rates of recidivism for
sex offenders when compared to the overall offender population
and the considerably low sexual recidivism rates have strong
empirical support within the research literature. In fact, empirical
studies comparing recidivism rates (particularly for convictions with
a new sentence) of sex offenders and other offender groups
commonly show lower general recidivism estimates for sex
offendersi1 Si L 12, ii IL 12, iS ii I, ILfl 12,22 However, the
manner in which a study calculates recidivism (e.g. arrest,
reincarcerotion, or revocation) can also impoct how sex offender

rates compare to other offender groups. In fact, some research studies that calculate recidivism using arrest12’
2.1, reincarceration.ZLflfl, or revacationZ.12J.have found comparable or higher rates of recidivism for sex
offenders compared to other groups. Nevertheless, when specifically examining sexual recidivism, the
research literature predominantly shows very low rates for sex offenders (particularly in comparison to
general recidivism rates), even at long follow-up periods (up to 15 years

II I run ,% / U I )vp aim, t’,, i a) Corr,ri ions
( l[JDOCI

Deli ni hull ol Ret jill; isil t:

Following an episode of incarceration
with the WI DCC, to commit a criminal
offense that results in a new conviction
and sentence to WI DCC custody or
supervision1.

Dethil Lion of Sextial Reeidivi,..ni:

Following an episode of incarceration
with the WI DCC, to commit a sax
offense that results in a new conviction
and sentence to WI DCC custody or
supervision. A sex offense is defined by
WI criminal code (WI Stat. 301.45) and
generally includes offenses that require
registration as a sex offender.

Ui”nilii isni UuI(.s bi

lofloit— IL/I I ‘n/oil
Release Follow-up Recidivism

Year Period Rate

2010 3-year 16.8%
2008 5-year 23.5%
2003 10-year 39.1%
1998 15-year 47.6%

II ctü.in !) jii Pc 1 (

76 of 199



‘. -UIlt IiIrr lhridi LIIl iIur Nlt ironi

Additional Recidivism Trends from 1992—2010: Sexual Reeidirisn, flutes liv
Gender. Male sex offender recidivism patterns mirrored IolIoiu-up Period
that of the overall sex offender release population. There Release Follow-up Recidivism

Year Period Patewere too few female sex offenders at any release year to
obtain a reliable recidivism estimate. 2010 3-year 1.5%

2008 5-year 1.7°k
Age at Release. General and sexual recidivism rates 2003 10-year 44%

among sex offenders generally decreased as age 1998 15-year 6.0%
increased. Offenders aged 20 to 29 made up the largest
overall proportion of recidivists.

Time to Recidivism Event. In the three-year general recidivism follaw.up period, 75% of sex offender
recidivists committed their offense within the first two years following release from prison. In the fifteen-year
sexual recidivism follow-up period, 75% of recidivists committed their offense within five years after release.

Race. Black sex offenders had slightly higher general recidivism rates than White sex offenders, but lower
rates of sexual recidivism. General and sexual recidivism rates for both groups declined over time.

Release Type. Offenders discharged directly from prison without supervision exhibited the highest general
recidivism rates and lowest sexual recidivism rates. Those with discretionary releases to parole supervision
demonstrated lower recidivism rates (both general and sexual) than those with non-discretionary releases to
supervision.

General Recidivist Offense. The largest number of sex offender recidivists committed public order offenses,
followed by violent offenses, property offenses, and then drug offenses. In addition, the proportion of sex
offender recidivists who were convicted of a sex offense declined over time. Less than ten percent of sex
offender recidivists released in 2010 had a sex offense as their most serious recidivism conviction; down from
20.7% in the 1992 release cohort.

Sexual Re-offense. Independent of follow-up period, for sex offenders that were released from prison
between 1992 and 2010, 631 (4.9°/o of all releases) sex offenders re-offended sexually. Of the most
common offenses for sexual recidivists, convictions for offenses that specifically reference children were
generally more common than offenses without a specific victim reference and non-contact offenses.

II $41010111 I), fHIIIUOO( uf (.n.o, ho,,’
j’ri. of in

77 of 199



I )Iitiidcr lciIi’ i.’,i \Iiar Iilta;i Iroi.i l’rIohI

Introdnetion

The Wisconsin Department of Corrections (WI DCC) defines recidivism as the following:

Following on episode of incarceration with the WI DOC, to commit a criminal offense
that results in a new conviction and sentence to WI DOC custody or supervision.

WI DCC recidivism rates represent the number of persons who hove recidivated divided by the total number
of persons released from an episode of confinement that included one or more adult conviction prison
sentences. Recidivism rates are based only on Wisconsin offenses, resulting in court dispositions that include
custody or supervision under the WI DCC. This means that persons who have committed offenses and ore
subsequently serving their sentences under other state or federal jurisdictions are not counted as recidivists
under this definition. Furthermore, charges that do not result in a conviction due to plea bargaining or are
read-in during sentencing, offenses that result in only jail dispositions, fines or forfeitures, and those that result
in municipal violations are not included in recidivism rate calculations (see Appendix A for a detailed listing of
conviction types that are not included in the calculation of recidivism). Offenders who were released from
prison but were subsequently committed as a ‘Sexually Violent Person’ under Wisconsin Chapter 980 were
also excluded from the analysis as these offenders did not spend time in the community before admission to a
Department of Health Services (DHS) facility. In other words, since these offenders were immediately
admitted DHS core, they would not hove a similar opportunity to recidivote following release from WI DCC
custody. For more detail on Wisconsin’s general standards for the definition and measurement of recidivism,
see the framework established by the State’s Criminal Justice Coordinating Council (CJCC)A!.

Recidivism rates for four different follow-up periods ore presented throughout this report. A follow-up period
is the timeframe during which an offender is tracked to determine if he/she committed a new criminal offense.
Recidivism rates are reported for three-, five-, ten-, and fifteen-year follow-up periods. Additionally, this
report includes recidivism rates for cohorts of offenders released from prison between 1992 and 2010 (years
1990 and 1991 were excluded from analysis due to a low number of releases in those years). A group of
offenders released in the same year is referred as a release cohort. Appendix A (see page 22) provides a
detailed description of the methodology used to calculate recidivism rates.

For the purposes of this report, two distinct types of recidivism rates ore reported: 1) general recidivism and
2) sexual recidivism. General recidivism rates reflect any type of re-offense behavior and subsequent
conviction after release from prison, including a sexual offense that does not fall into the excluded dispositions
listed above. Sexual recidivism reflects re-offense behavior that ref lects a specific set of sex offenses that are
used as inclusionary criteria for submission to the sex offender registry. The types of offenses that are used to
define sexual recidivism are presented in Appendix B (see page 27). As this report specifically focuses upon
sexual offenders and their recidivism patterns, this same set of offenses was used to define sexual offenders
as a cohort (individuals whose release from prison came after serving a sentence for one of the offenses listed
in Appendix B), For ease of interpretation, graphs and tables within this report focusing upon general
recidivism are presented in grey scale whereas those highlighting sexual recidivism rates are presented in
blue scale.

1 I)p,;,. 4 ,,ip,,iiiii I’.,u. I, of if,

78 of 199



“...( III,II Itii,li’ i—li, tIir lil -is’ Ir,i,i ‘ri—li

WI DOC uses date of re-offense as the recidivism event date. Offenders are not always apprehended and
convicted until many years after an offense occurs. WI DOC does not obtain data for an offense until a court
sentences an offender to WI DCC custody or supervision. This means that historical recidivism rates can
change depending on when the analysis is done. For example, if an offender was released from prison in
1995 and committed an offense in 1996, but was not arrested, convicted, and sentenced until 2009, the
recidivism rate for 1995 releases as calculated in 2008 would not count the offender as a recidivist.
However, when the rate was calculated again in 2010, the offender would be counted as a recidivist for the
1995 release cohort. Therefore, it is important to note that for this reason, recidivism rates presented in
previous Recidivism after Release from Prison reports may differ slightly from rates in the present report.

This report also differs from recidivism rates previously presented in the June 2014 Recidivism after Release
from Prison report1, particularly due to the emphasis on offenders that were released from prison for sex
offenses. Further, rates for an additional release year (i.e. 2010) and additional follow-up periods (i.e. five-,
ten-, and fifteen-year follow-ups) are reported for overall trends in recidivism rotes, both for general
recidivism as well as sexual recidivism. The present report also includes new data on recidivism rates broken
down by gender, age at release, time to recidivism event, race, release type, and recidivism offense types.
When general recidivism rates are broken down based on these demographic characteristics, a three-year
follow-up period is used in order to facilitate a comparison to the rates reported in the most recent Recidivism
after Release from Prison1 report. However, when reporting on sexual recidivism rates, a fifteen-year follow-
up period is reported. As will be shown later, this fifteen-year rate for sexual recidivism was chosen in order
to maximize the base-rate of sexual re-offense patterns, since they tend to be substantially lower than that of
general recidivism rates.

II ‘ct.s,u I)-,i,u,i-i/ 4 (,,,-r (eii

79 of 199



‘t-’ UhIts,lt’r lvsjs.ll’ —‘is ll,r lsltts. finiii Pr’—,,,

Release from Prison Recidivism Rates for Sex Offenders

General Recidivism Rate Trends
The figure below shows general recidivism rates for sex offender releases from prison beginning in 1992, by
release year and follow-up period. In general, the rates of recidivism across each follow-up period have
decreased since 1993. For example, between 1992 and 2010, the three-year general recidivism rate
amongst sex offenders decreased by 40.0% (1 1.2 percentage points). General recidivism rates are
calculated at three, five, ten, and fifteen years post-release and are cumulative (meaning that the longer
follow-up periods include all instances of recidivism from the shorter follow-up periods).’

1,200

60%
1,000

15-year

::: 800

:°°° I
10%

3-year 200

0% 0N fl 5t5 .0 0’ 0 — N Cl - tfl .0 N 0’ 0a a a a a a a a 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 —a a a a a a a a a 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
N N N N N N N N N N N

Year Released from Prison

• Recidivism rates for years I 990 and 1991 ‘—crc escluded due Is lsw overall number of releases.

General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders at Select Release Year?
3-Year Follow-Up 5-Year Follow-Up I 0-Yew Follow-Up I 5-Yea, Follow-Up

Release Total Total Total Total
Year Releases Recidivist, Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivisfo

1 992 293 82 280% 293 104 35.5% 288 141 49.0% 287 155 540%
1 995 455 130 286% 452 168 37.2% 448 21 B 487% 445 234 52.6%
1998 535 129 24.1% 530 176 33.2% 526 228 43.3% 517 246 47.6%
2003 859 187 21.8% 853 254 29.8% 845 330 39.1% — — —

2008 1,005 176 17.5% 1,001 235 235% — — — — — —

2010 1007 169 16.8% — — — — — — — — —

See Tabici in Appeidie C page 29) far a table including all release year,.

Offenders who died within the lime frame of each specified follow-up period were removed from each cohort prior to recidivism rolecalculations. This resulted in slightly different numbers of offenders released and recidivist, for each fallow-vp period for each given release year.

600

II lS((Jtt’llt IL ;csltuss ui .1 1,.,

80 of 199



((I tHiler flet idi i,,’1 l,’r Rt’ls’at’ urosti

General Recidivism Rate Trends fur All Offenders versus Sex Offenders
The figure below highlights a comparison of the general recidivism rates for all offenders as compared to
offenders that were released from prison after the completion of a sentence term for a sex offense. The
recidivism rates presented here are based off of releases from prison by release year and follow-up period,
beginning in 1992. Overall, genera) recidivism rates for all offenders as well as for sex offenders have
declined over time for each of the follow-up periods. However, the general recidivism rates for all offenders
are consistently 10-18% higher across each cohort year and follow-up period than for sex offenders,
suggesting that the risk for re-offense among sex offenders is markedly lower.

70%
All Offenders

— SexOffenders ..,
60%

• “.‘

as

i ::: .
• .

• .
. •

.

.

1 0%

0% --
3-year 5-year 10-year 15-year

Recidi,nm roles for years 1990 and 1991 “ereex cfvded due to io,u overall ,wrnber of releases.

General Recidivism Trends for All Offenders at Select Release Years
3-Year fallow-Up S-Year Follow-Up (0-Year Follow-Up I S-Yew Follow-tip

Release Total Tolol Total Total
Yew Release, Recidivists Pelea,e, Recidivists Releases Recidivist, Releases Recidivist,
1992 3,631 1,542 42.5% 3,618 1,881 52.0% 3,582 2,194 61.3% 3,556 2,308 64.9%
1995 4,922 2,025 41.1% 4,905 2,456 50.1% 4,870 2,945 60.5% 4,823 3,074 637%
998 4,761 1799 37.8% 4740 2,296 48.4% 4,689 2742 585% 4,646 2,880 62.0%

2003 7,870 2,889 36.7% 7,826 3,629 46.4% 7744 4,377 56.5% — — —

2008 9,092 2,796 30.8% 9,030 3656 405% — — — — — —

2010 8,466 2,679 31.6% — — — — — — — — —

5., Tqi,2 in Appendix c (pag, 30) for a table Including all release yearn.

It VilOIl%tIl !)ptirtirrill it? I (‘lUll 111111% Il,,,,,, ‘f ?f,

81 of 199



‘i’ I )Ilitsiltr ltsstIi\ —‘si \Il,’ Iuliasi lrt,sts l’,i—on

Sexual Recidivism Rate Trends
The figure below shows sexual recidivism rates for sex offender releases from prison beginning in 1992, by
release year and follow-up period. Compared to general recidivism patterns, the rates of sexual recidivism
are considerably smaller, which is not surprising given these rates focus on a specific subset of criminal activity.
Overall, the rates of recidivism across each follow-up period have decreased since 1993, despite a fairly
significant spike in sexual recidivism rates across all relevant follow-up periods in the 2001 release cohort. For
instance, between 1992 and 2010, the three-year sexual recidivism rate amongst sex offenders decreased
by 72.4% ç4.2 percentage points). Sexual recidivism rates ore calculated at three, five, ten, and fifteen years
post-release and are cumulative (see description on page 8).2

20% T F
1,200

18%

1,00016%

°°

10% 600

8% 15-year

i I
0%i

- 0
N fl t Ui 0 t a 0 — N fl ‘0 ‘0 r-. 0- 0a a a a a a a a 0 a o 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 —a a- a a a a a a a o 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

N N N N N N N N N N N

Year Released from Prison
Recidivhe roles icr years 1990 cad 1991 ‘acre eacluded due a low overall number of reieoseu.

Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders at Select Release Years
3-Year Follow-Up 5-Year Follow-Up IC-Year Fo4low-Up 15-Year FoUow-Up

Release Total Sexual Total Sexual Total Sexual Total Sexual
Year Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivlsts Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivlsus
1992 293 17 5.8% 293 18 6.1% 288 22 7.6% 287 22 7.7%
1995 455 23 5.1% 452 27 6.0% 445 32 7-fl’0 445 32 7.2%
1995 535 17 3.2% 530 20 3.8% 526 27 5.1% 5)7 31 6.0%
2003 859 20 2.3% 853 27 3.2% 845 37 4.4% — — —

2008 1,005 14 14% 1,001 17 1.7% — — — — — —

2010 1,007 15 1.5% — — — — — — — — —

See qbJm in Appendix C lpa9e II tar a table nctudin all release years.

2 Offenders who died within the fimefrome of each specWied fallow-up period were removed from each cohort prior to recidivism role
calculations. This resulted in slightly different numbers of offender, released and recidivisls for each fallow-vp period for each given release year.

II u.qo,i,s, l).’pui till-ni if (“Fir, l’lz Ill ill iii

82 of 199



Iifejitler HccptIi —itt \fl,r Rt-li.it- froth

General Recidivism Trends by Gender
The table below reports the rates of general recidivism separately for male and female sex offenders. Mole
offender recidivism roles followed the some pattern as the overall trend for WI DOC sex offender recidivism
rate5, as there were very few female sexual offenders in any given cohort year. In fact, the numbers of
female sex offenders were so low across each cohort year (less than five percent of the release cohort in any
year of the follow-up period) that a reliable recidivism rate could not be calculated. Sexual recidivism rates
by gender are also not reported here, as there was only one instance of sexual recidivism for female
offenders across any follow-up period (the 2001 release year for the five- and ten-year follow-up periods).3

General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Gender: 3-Year Follow-up
Male Femafe

Release Total Total
Year Releoies Recidvists Releases Reci&vhsts
1992 292 82 28.1% 1 0 —

1993 422 130 30.8% 6 0 —

1994 308 92 29.9% 5 1 —

1995 450 129 28.7% 5 1 —

1996 480 123 25.6% 5 0 —

1997 509 146 28.7% Ii I —

1998 527 128 24.3% 8 1 —

1999 491 115 23.4% 5 0 —

2000 614 151 24.6% II I —

2001 609 132 217% B 0 —

2002 702 149 21.2% 11 2 —

2003 847 187 22.1% 12 0 —

2004 850 202 238% 14 2 —

2005 822 186 226% 13 1 —

2006 840 160 19.0% 20 7 —

2007 934 161 17.2% 8 I —

20GB 994 176 177% 11 0 —

2009 985 174 172% 12 0 —

2010 991 166 16.8% 16 3
Note. Reddtni.m ‘o’en are only p.e..nted —hen the gender gron. represantred ci
eat, rye perer.? of the total reheat. colon for the gven year-

A sub-group of offenders must make up of least five percent of the t0t01 release cohort for recidivism rates to be reported. Recidivism rote. forvery small populations can be misleoding os slight changes in numbers of recidivist. con produce large changes in recidivism rates.

Il hItlLs:lI lIj,,ittctt. itt .5< tori-i tout.’ l’,. )J ,.j Jt.

83 of 199



‘ (Ithistlur Bi’idi iiii Uiir Bilra;e

General and Sexual Recidivism Rate Trends by Age a! Release
The two tables below highlight the three-year general and fifteen-year sexual recidivism roles by age at
release for sex offenders. For general recidivism, younger sex offenders tended to recidivate at a higher rote
than older sex offenders. However, the rates of sexual recidivism by age for the fifteen-year follow-up
period revealed a less consistent pattern. Though on
average the greatest percentage of sexual recidivists fell Cviii parisoii
into the 20-29 age group, sex offenders aged 50-59 had J ‘)(t1I G’,ivral flvridiz’isin J?uits in .-lgwJbr

III 0/f inth’r.s (2010)the next highest proportion of recidivists. Beyond this
Age Total Recidivismseeming irregularity, the rates of sexual recidivism were

.

Category Releases Recidivists Rategenerally negatively correlated with age (lower rates of
iQor Younger 130 67 —recidivism at higher ages). Total numbers of releases and 20-29 3,179 1,205 37.9%

numbers of recidivists for offenders aged W or younger
and those 60 or older are included in the tables, but due to 50-59 757 154 20.3%
the very small numbers of offenders in these categories, 600, Older 116 17 —

recidivism rates are not reported.

General Recidivism trends for Sex Offenders by Age: 3-Year Follow-up’
7992 200? 2070

Age Calegory Total Releases Recidivists Total Releases Reddivists Total Releases Recidivists
l9orYounger 2 I — 1 o — 4 0 —

20-29 1 1 6 45 38.8% 207 60 29.0% 388 90 23.2%
30.39 101 22 21.8% 217 49 22.6% 265 49 18.5%
40-49 55 12 21,8°/n 127 16 12.6% 211 25 11.8%
50.59 12 2 — 44 5 11.4% 105 4 3.8%

60arOlder 7 0 — 22 2 — 37 2 —

See Tnh[e4 in Appendix C page 321 for a fable including nil release year, tar he 3.yeor foliow.,p period.

Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Age: 1 5-Year Follow-up’
1992 1995 7998

Sexual Sexual 5exual
Age Category Total Releases Recidivisis Total Releases Recidivisfs Total Releases Recidivists
l9orYounger 2 0 — 2 0 — 10 1 —

20-29 115 9 7.8% 184 11 6.0% 183 11 6.0%
30-39 101 6 5.9% 157 13 8.3% 185 14 7.6%
40-49 54 5 9.3°/, 71 4 5.6% 97 4 4.1%
50-59 12 2 — 23 3 13.0% 32 1 3.1%

60 or Older 3 0 — 8 1 — 10 0 —

See Table 5 in Appendlu C page 331 far a fable including cii release years for ftse 1 5-year fob—-up period.

4 A sub-group of offenders must make up at /east five percent af the latat release cohort for recidivism rates to be reparted. Recidivism rates farvery small populations con be misleading as slight changes in numbers of recidivists con produce large changes in recidivism rates.

II ,,uons,,n, /)piiitiii nil ii ( u,ifl-,(lrflis
ls IJ 11,

84 of 199



-‘ (Iflcj’iltr flcjtlj Iiit H-I.- Irmi Prii,t

General Recidivism Rates by Time to Recidivism Event
For sex offenders who recidivated within a three-year period (general recidivism), the majority did so within
two years of their release from prison. Half of all sex offenders who were released between 1992 and 2010
re-offended within approximately a year (12.5 months) while 25% of sex offender releases recidivated
within 4.5 months.

135

120

25%
within

. 105

months
U
o 90-

C

75
0
0
%

0

I
30

15

0

50% within
12½ months

4 75% within 22 months

— — Cl Lfl ‘0 N 0’ 0— N C) to -o r- 0’ 0— Cl C) ‘C to ‘0 N W a o — N C) to ‘0
v N N N N N N N Cl N N C) C) C) C) C) nfl

Months to General Recidivism
Sex Offender kecidivists after Release from Prison I 992•20 10 (Three-Year Follow-up)

II lriiliji I)iiizt i I rio, lo:’ I I it

85 of 199



tttijjcter 1, liii; —iii \tI,r itlau Ironi I’tLII

25%
within

8
months

________

50% within
24% months

12

Sexual Recidivism Rates by Time w Recidivism Event
Due to the low rates of sexual recidivism across shorter follow-up periods, the time to sexual recidivism event
was tracked across the 15-year cohort. For those who committed a sexual offense during the follow-up
period, the majority (approximately 75%) did so within five years after their release from prison. Twenty-
five percent of sex offender releases from prison recidivated sexually within eight months of their release,
whereas half of all sexual recidivists committed their offense within two years.

16 -

14

In

-c
U
C

C
2

a)
Lfl
I4-

0
— p
Is-a
E

z

10

8

6

4

2
4 75%

0

within 60 months

— fl .0 0 CN -, .0 0 CN 0 © (N .0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
V

— fl Ln N 0’ — fl Lfl 0’ fl N .- ) 0’ fl N — —
(N (N (N (N fl fl fl .0 N 0

0’ 0 — (N n -3 N

Months to Sexual Recidivkm
Sex Offender ecidiv,sts offer Release from Prison 1 992-1998 (Fifteen-Year Follow-up)

H ,,, l)usii,sii of (fire, tiOfI,h ‘‘ru- I I of UI

86 of 199



S’5 I IIIe,sdcr li’, nit’s i’sI \Ils’s’ KvIs’ts’ frotti l’ri—o,i

Crnninirison
Year Ciii in, I Reruh,’isni Rates b’ Unit’

Thr 1II Offritdrrs (2(110)
Race Total Recidivism

Cateaory Releases Recidivists Rate5

White 4,465 1,369 30.7%
Black 3,597 1,170 32.5%

Am. Indian/
Alaskan Native

Asian/Pacific
Islander

General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Race at Select Release Years: 3-Year Follow-Up

A sub.graup of offenders must make up a? least live percent of the total release cohort for recidivism rates to be reported. Recidivism rates far
very small populations can be misleading as slight changes in numbers ot recidivist, can produce large changes in recidivism rates.

General and Sexual Recidivism Rates by Race
General and sexual recidivism rates for Block and White sex offenders followed a similar pattern over time,
with rates largely decreasing over later release cohorts. Across all release years during the three-year
follow-up period, the rates of general recidivism were higher for Black than for White sex offenders, though
the divide between the two groups also diminished over time. Specifically, 37.8% of Black and 23.5% of
White sex offenders recidivated after release in 1992, but the rates of general recidivism fell to 19.6% for
Black and 14.9% of White sex offenders by the 2010 release cohort. In comparison, the rates of sexual

were higher for White than for Black sexrecidivism across all release years for the fifteen-year follow-up
offenders. Sexual recidivism rates for White sex offenders
fell from 13.0% in 1993 to 6.6% in 1998 and dropped
from 10.1% in 1993 to 5.2% in 1998 far Black sex
offenders. Total numbers of releases and recidivists for
American Indian/Alaskan Native and Asian/Pacific Islander
sex offenders are included in the tables below, but due to
small overall numbers of sex offenders in these race
groups, recidivism rates are not reported.5 The 2010
three-year general recidivism rate for Hispanic/Latino sex
offenders was 15.1%, whereas the 1998 fifteen-year
sexual recidivism rate was I 2.9% for this group.

White

316

57

1 28

10

Black American Indian?
Alaskan Native Asian / Pacific tdande,

Release Total Total Total Total
Year Reteases RecidWists Releases Recidvists Releases Recidivist, Releases Recidivist,
1992 200 47 23.5% 74 28 378% 12 5 — 0 a —

1995 271 67 24.7% 161 56 34.8% 18 7 — 1 0 —

1998 314 69 22.0% 197 55 27.9% 19 4 — 3 1 —

2001 385 74 19.2% 195 46 23.6% 30 10 — 6 2 —

2004 563 106 18.8% 265 87 32.8% 29 9 — 7 2 —

2007 594 96 16.2% 304 57 18,8% 34 8 — 9 1 —

2010 678 101 14.9% 281 55 19.6% 40 12 — 6 1 —

‘ 5ee Thhle_ in Appendie c Ipage 34) for a sate incl,dir all release years cr the 3yeor tallc’..’up period.

Sexuol Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Race: 1 5-Year Follow-Up
. American Indian /Wlste Black . Asian / Pacific IslanderAlaskan Native

Release Total Sexual Total Sexuot Total Sexual Total Sexual
Year Releases Recidivist, Release, Recidivists Releases RecIdIvist, Releases Recidivist,
1992 194 16 8.2% 74 5 6.8% 12 I — 0 0 —

1993 293 38 13.0% 109 11 10.1% 13 3 — 0 0 —

1994 193 23 11.9% 103 10 9.7% 9 0 — 2 0 —

1995 263 21 8.0% 159 11 6.9% 18 0 — 1 0 —

1996 307 21 6.8% 146 9 6,2% 19 0 — 2 0 —

1997 330 24 7.3% 158 10 6.3% 16 2 — 2 0 —

1998 302 20 6.6% 191 10 5.2% 9 I — 3 0 —

II I)i;s,tirtti’iil if Lot r,,It,iii.% I.; j n

87 of 199



4 lIltiitls-i’ lh-t tin ‘—iii \flt-r R-l,i< Irtiti Prs—,.ii

General Recidivism Rates by Release Thpe
Of the sex offenders released in 2009, those who discharged directly from prison without supervision had the
highest rates of general recidivism (19.1%) over the next three yearsfollowed by those who had non
discretionary releases to supervision (18.4%) and those with discretionary releases to parole (4.5%). Sex
offenders with discretionary releases to parole had the lowest recidivism rates, but also represented a very
small portion of all releases in 2009 due to changes in Wisconsin legislation. In fact, the rates of discretionary
releases to parole for sex offenders were so low in 2010 that general recidivism rates could not be
calculated as they represented less than five percent of all releases in that cohort year. Nevertheless, general
recidivism rates for sexual offenders with discretionary releases to parole were the lowest of all release
types for every cohort year except for 1992.

Discharged without
Supervision

5’
In
a
V
5’ Non.Discretionary

Release to Supervision
0

5’
a

Discretionary Release
to Parole Supervision

% All Offetiders

——f__i
• Se Offenders

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35%

General Recidivism Rate (2009)t
3-Year Follow-up Period

General recidirium rates for 2009 ore reported here due a forensic her of i,cretisnan, Releases to Parole Sspervision’ in 2010 (less than 5% of releases).

General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Type: 3-Year Follow-up
1992 200? 20091

Release Type Total Releases Recidiviste Tolal Releases Recidivists Total Releases Recidivists
Discharged without

17 4 23.5% 108 28 25.9% 94 18 19.1%Supervision

Nan -Discretionary
86 30 34.9% 394 89 22.6% 826 152 18.4%Release to Supervision0”

Discretionary Relea,e to
185 46 24.9% 105 13 12.4% 67 3 4.5%Parole Supervision

Other”” 5 2 — 10 2 — 10 1 —

- See tctiylel in Appendix c lpage 5l for table including oil release year’ for the 3-year foliaw.up. Recidivism rates tsr years I 990 ord 1991 were excluded due so low Notreleases.
Geteral recidivism rates for 2009 are reported here due a low number of Dhctetionary Reteases to rarole 5upervluion In 2010 (tess than 5% of releanen(.
‘Non-DIscretionary Release to Supervision” includes offend cr5 re leased to extended supervision and those released foe mandatory release. Offend cr5 re leased to extendedsupervision have completed their prison sersences under the Truth In Sentencing low and now have a period of community supervision no compiete, the length at which wan

determined by a ludge at sentencing. Offend cr5 re teased an mandatory release are those who committed offetses prior to Truth in Sentencing and are required to be released ta
sup ervjus once tiey h ae cry ed leo-thirds of it eir sentence.

Ottendets in the “Other deane type category —eree ither reieosed by the court ar releasea due to cosnnmsnat.on. Due to the very Sm all n.mber of ortendern in sb, category
recidivism rates are not re ported.

II ,srotiui,s I),jtiettiiisrtl nj f turn tutttuu
t’r. 16 u/ 56

88 of 199



lIlt ‘Icr ltyil115 iwitI tIcr lrItai Iron, l’r,wo,t

Sexual Recidivism Rates by Release Tipe
For sex offenders released from prison in 1998, those who had a non-discretionary release to supervision had
the highest rates of sexual recidivism (6.6%) over the next fifteen years, followed by those with a
discretionary release to parole supervision (5.5%) and those discharged from prison without supervision
(2.9%). Though sex offenders that were discharged without supervision hod the lowest levels of sexual
recidivism in both 1992 and 1998, in no other release year did the numbers of those discharged meet the
minimum threshold (at least 5% of the release cohort) for recidivism rate calculation. Across every cohort year
of the fifteen-year follow-vp period, sex offenders with a discretionary release to parole supervision had a
lower rate of sexual recidivism than those with a non-discretionary release to supervision.

Discharged without
Supervision

U

Non-Di;cretionary
Releose to Supervision

0
5,
a
5,-

Discretionary Release
to Parole Supervision

______

-. -r—--— I

5% 10% 15% 20%

Sexual Recidivism Rate (1998)
15-Year Follow-up Period

Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Type: 15-Year Follow-up
7992 7995 7998

Release Type Tolal Releases Recidivists Total Releases Recidivists Total Releases Recidivists
Discharged without

17 0 0.0% 16 3 — 35 1 2.9%Supervision

Non-Discretionary
82 8 9.8% 206 18 8.7% 331 22 6.6%Release to Supervision”

Discretionary Release to
183 13 7.1% 219 11 5.0% 145 8 5.5%Parole Supervision

Other” 5 1 — 4 0 — 6 0 —

• See Tnhle_ is Appadit c page 35i for able indudir.g oh rehease years for ste 1 S.year follo—.rp. fecdivinm rates for years 1990 and 1991 were esthyded due ‘clawnumber of releases.
Non.Discretlonary Release to Supervision Irciudes ofterd em re leased to extended superr Isbn and those re leased for mandatory release. Offend Cm re leased Ia extendednupervlnion h ore corn pleted ‘heir prison nenlences ryder the Truth In 5 enlendn g low and now hove a period of community supervision to complete, the length of which wandetermined by a vdge at sersencing. Offender, released on mordotory release are th aoe who commuted offenses prior to Truth in Senlencing and or erequire d to be released tosupervision once they h ave served iwo.lhlrdn of their sentence.
Offenders in the Other release type category were either released by ‘ho court or released due To commutation. Due to the very smoll number of offerderu ir lhln calegaryrecidivism roses ore net reponted.

0%

It liristHiti lb pritlilsvil if C ri-ri fittit’
i’’tih 17 ti/ Jr

89 of 199



Ni’s, (ttlissilt’r Hut In i’,iii \tiur ruin I5i’i—iiti

°

1
80

70

60

; 50
‘a
5,

.t 40-

10

I

I

I

Top Five Most Common Offenses by Sex Offender General Recidivisis in Each Category (1992-2010)
Public Order Offense Violent Offense Property Offense Drug Offense Sex Offenset

Statute Description N Statute Description N Statute Description N Statute Description N Statute Description N
Failure to Provide

. Theft - Movable 2nd Degree SexualRegistry Information 408 Bohery 238 93 Possession of THC 67 68
. Property Assault of Child/ Registry Violotion

Disorderly Conduct 247
2rd Degree Sexual Burglary - Building

85
Manufocture/ 1’ Degree Sexuol

Assault of Child or Dwelling Deliver Cocaine Assault of Child
Resisting ar

. Robbery / Armed Criminal Damage Possession of 4mn Degree SexualObstructing an 132 65 75 39 51
Officer Robbery to Property Cocaine / Coca Assault

Operating while 1” Degree Sexual Possession with Intent Lewd and Lascivious
. 72 51 Forgery - Uttering 46 35 46Intoxicated Assault of Child to Deliver - Cocaine Behavior

Possession of
46

4th Degree Sexual
51

Issue of Worthless
40

Possession with Intent 17 Sex with a Child Age
38Firearm by a Felon Assault

— Checks to Deliver - THC 16 or Older
• Data from all release cohorts, 3-year foitow.up period. Oniy the top tin emost common off enles committed by recidiviits are iisted osan example of the types of offentes in ead,
category. For a cmr,iele table of recidivism theme types by release year, see TableS in Appendx C lpa;e 361.
* Offenses ti at foil in the Sex Offense category itcLde those mat fot witnh, the Public Order Ottense and Voient Off erie sate gorien. these nnmbe’s d onot reare Lent
recidivism case,, but rather a subset of offenders sisal fat within other offense types.

General Recidivism Offense Types
The graph below shows the types of offenses that sex offender recidivists committed in the three years after
release from prison in 2010. Though offenders may have been charged and convicted of more than one
offense, only their most serious recidivism offense was selected for this analysis. The majority of sex offender
recidivists released in 2010 (46.7%) were convicted with offenses that fell into the Public Order Offense
category (see table below for examples of offenses that make up each category, followed in number by
convictions for Violent Offenses (23.1%), Property Offenses (16.0%), and Drug Offenses (14.2%). Less than
ten percent of sex offender recidivists released in 2010 were convicted of a Sex Offense.

0
Public Order Offense Violent Offense Property Offense Drug Offense Sex Offenset

General Recidivism Offense Type (2010)
3-Year Follow-up Period

Offenses that tail in the Set Offense sate gory include those that fali within rho Public Order Offense and Vioient Offense categories. thene numbers do
no represent unique recidivism coset, but rather a subset of otfenderi that fail within other otfense rypen.

II lisfitituilt I)fiiif,n,ti/ of (:, ri’
“itt, 111 ‘f .5/,

90 of 199



‘i\ (Ill,,ulcr Bc di’ iiit \flit R,I,ai’, Irm

Sexual Reoffending
A final investigation of offense types focused specifically on sexual reoffending commiffed by sex offenders
at any point during the period of analysis, covering prison releases from 1992 to 2010. To maximize the
number of sexual re-offense instances counted in this analysis, data was included from all release cohorts,
independent of follow-up period. In other words, if an offender committed a sex offense at any point after
release from prison, even if the offense occurred outside the follow-up period, that event was included in this
examination. in addition, though offenders may have been charged and convicted of more than one offense,
if a sex offense was included in their list of convictions, the offender was selected for this analysis. In total,
there were 631 instances (4.9% of all releases) of sexual reoffending for sex offenders released from prison
between 1992 and 2010. The table below documents the top ten most common sexual reoffending types
during the period of study. Overall, though sex offenses without a specific reference to a victim type factor
into some of the most common offenses in this list, sex offenses that specifically reference children represent a
greater proportion of the whole.

Top Ten Most Common Re-offense Types by Sex Offenders at Any Point (1 992-201 O)

StaMe Description N

2 Degree Sexual Assoult of a Child 103

1.1 Degree Sexual Assault of a Child 100

4’ Degree Sexual Assault 77

3d Degree Sexual Assault 59

Lewd and Lascivious Behavior 57

Sex with a Child Age 16 or Older 46

Repeated Sexual Assault of the Same Child 33

Possession of Child Pornography 33

2Md Degree Sexual Assault with Use of Force 29

1” Degree Sexual Assault 24

Da’a ,,Iuded for or release cohort,, ide pedenr of to::o* -p period
Asy i,nce of ,exval ,eoffing ns cowled tiere, e’e it tot erent
ocarred OL’cde an ottede, sipected to Ic— np period.

II psisill /)17111 t,ii’,,I of t us s,rtsssii /iar l)o/ 16

91 of 199



IIl.ii,Itr lc i,li IIII \IIii lk{IVdC Iron,

References

Jones, M. & Rogers, J. (2014, June). Recidivism after release from prison. Madison, WI: Wisconsin
Deportment of Corrections, Research and Policy Unit.

2 Cams, T. W., McKelvie, S., Cohn, L., & Martin, S. (2007, January). Criminal recidivism in Alaska. Anchorage,
AK: Alaska Judicial Council.

Langan, P. A. & Levin, D. J. (2002, June). Recidivism of prisoners released in 7994. Washington, D.C.: U.S.
Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

“ Langan, P. A., Schmitt, E. L., & Durose, M. R. (2003, November). Recidivism of sex offenders released from
prison in 7994. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Deportment of Justice, Office of Justice Programs.

Wong, T. (2015, July). State of Hawaii, F)’ 2077 cohort: 2074 recidivism update. Honolulu, HI: Interagency
Council on Intermediate Sanctions.

6 Bostwick, L., Boulger, J., & Powers, M. (2012, August). juvenile recidivism in Illinois: Exploring youth re-arrest
and re-incarceration. Chicago, IL: Illinois Criminal Justice Information Authority.

Garner, A. (2008, April). Recidivism rates compared 2005-2007. Indianapolis, IN: Indiana Department of
Correction.

B Orchowsky, S. & Iwama, J. (2009, November). Improvina state criminal history records: Recidivism of sex
offenders released in 2001. Washington, D.C.: Justice Research and Statistics Association.

Rubin, M., & Ethridge, W. (2010, October). Sexual assault trends and sex offender recidivism in Maine.
Portland, ME: USM Muskie School of Public Service, Maine Statistical Analysis Center.

‘° Kohl, It, Hoover, H. M., McDonald, S. M., & Solomon, A. L. (2008, April). Massachusetts recidivism study: A
closer look at releases and returns to prison. WashTngton, D.C.: The Urban Institute, Justice Policy
Center.

Ii Levine, B. R. (2009, August). Denying parole at first eligibility: How much public safety does it actually buy? A
study of prisoner release and recidivism in Michigan. Lansing, MI: Citizens Alliance on Prisons and Public
Spending.

12 Levine, B. R. & Kettunen, B (2014, December). Paroling people who committed serious crimes: What is the
actual risk? Lansing, Ml: Citizens Alliance on Prisons ond Public Spending.

‘ Huebner, B., Valentine, D. C., Stokes, S. D., Cobbino, J., & Berg, M. (2006, June). Sex offender recidivism in
Missouri and community corrections options. Columbia, MO: University of Missouri — Columbia, Institute
of Public Policy.

“ McElfresh, P., Yan, J., & Janku, A. (2009, September). Missouri iuvenile offender recidivism: 2009 statewide
juvenile court report. Jefferson City, MO: Office of Stote Courts Administrator, Division of Court
Programs and Research.

IS Office of Criminal Justice Services (2006, January). Report to the Ohio Criminal Sentencing Commission: Sex
offenders. Columbus, OH: Ohio Public Safety.

Bell, N., Bucklen, K. B., Nakamura, K., Tomkiel, J., Santore, A., et al. (2013, February). Pennsylvania
recidivism report 2073. Mechanicsburg, PA: Pennsylvania Department of Corrections, Bureau of
Planning, Research and Statistics.

17 Fowler, J., Anderson, P., Bender, L., & Green, T. (2013, April). The Pennsylvania iuvenile iustice recidivism
report: Juveniles with a 2007 case closure. Harrisburg, PA: Juvenile Court Judges’ Commission.

8 Tennessee Bureau of Investigation (2007, August). Tennessee recidivism study. Nashville, TN: Tennessee
Bureau of Investigation, Crime Statistics Unit

Eisenberg, M. (1997, February). Recidivism of sex offenders: Factors to consider in release decisions. Austin,
TX: Criminal Justice Policy Council.

II ,qflI,%g,, l)pi,Iin.,,t vi to, ?c4Iion% - I’,Iu. JO Ui

92 of 199



•‘,\ OIfladcr U.’i.Li lrI It’r ltlca’t rorli l’rL—.’tt

20 Sample, L L. & Bray, T. M. (2003). Are sex offenders dangerous? Criminology & Public Policy, 3, 59-82.
doi; 10.111 1/j.1745-9133.2003.tb00024.x

21 Kuzyk, I. (2012, February). Recidivism among sex offenders in Connecticut. Hartford, U: Office of Policy
and Management, Criminal Justice Policy and Planning Division.

22 Office of Research (2015, July). 2014 outcome eva/uation report. Sacramento, CA: California
Deportment of Corrections and Rehabilitation, Research and Evaluation Branch.

23 Bureau of Research and Data Analysis (2010, May). 2009 Florida prison recidivism study: Releases from
2001 to 2008. Tallahassee, FL: Florida Department of Corrections.

24 Rodriguez, N. & Stevenson, P. (2009, February). Recidivism of sex offenders released from the Arizona
Department of Corrections in 2001. Phoenix, AZ: Arizona Crimina’ Justice Commission, Statistical
Analysis Center.

25 Levenson, J. S. & Shields, R. T. (201 2). Sex offender risk and recidivism in Florida. Boca Raton, FL: Lynn
University.

26 Hanson, R. K. & Bussière, M. T. (1998). Predicting relapse: A meta-analysis of sexual offender recidivism
studies. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 66, 348-362. doi: 10.1037/0022-
006X.66.2.348

27 Hanson, R. K. & Morton-Bourgon, K. E. (2005). The characteristics of persistent sexual offenders: A meta
analysis of recidivism studies. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 73, 1154-1163. doi:
10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1 154

28 Harris, A. J. R. & Hanson, R. K. (2004). Sex offender recidivism: A simple question. Ottawa, Canada: Public
Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada.

29 Adkins, G., Huff, D., & Stageberg, P. (2000, December). The Iowa sex offender registry and recidivism. Des
Moines, IA: Iowa Department of Human Rights, Division of Criminal and Juvenile Justice Planning and
Statistical Analysis Center.

Minnesota Department af Corrections (2007, April). Sex offender recidivism in Minnesota. St. Paul, MN.
‘ Consortium for Crime and Justice Research (2013, July). Nebraska sex offender registry study. Omaha, NE:

University of Nebraska — Omaha.
32 Krueger, J. (2007). Research bulletin: Sex offender populations, recidivism and actuarial assessment. Colonie,

NY: New York State Division of Probation and Correctional Alternatives.
Sample, L. L. & Bray, T. M. (2006). Are sex offenders different? An examination of rearrest patterns.

Criminal Justice Policy Review, 17, 83-102. doi: 10.1177/0887403405282916
McManus, R. (2007, September). Recidivism among sex offenders in South Carolina. Blythewood, SC: South

Carolina Department of Public Safety.
35 Tewksbury, R., Jennings, W. G., & Zgoba, K. (2012, March). Sex offenders: Recidivism and collateral

consequences. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Justice.
36 Song, L. & Lieb, R. (1995, February). Washington State sex offenders: Overview of recidivism studies.

Olympia, WA: Washington State Institute for Public Policy.
Zgoba, K. M., Miner, M., Knight, R., Letourneau, E., Levenson, J. et al. (2013, May). A multi-state evaluation

of sex offender risk and recidivism usina the Adam Walsh Act tiers. Alexandria, VA: American
Correctional Association.

38 Zgoba, K. M. & Simon, L. M. i. (2005). Recidivism rates of sexual offenders up to 7 years later: Does
treatment matter? Criminal Justice Review, 30, 155-173. doi: 10.1177/0734016805284146.

Kostelac, C. & Streveler, A. (2015, September). Framework for defining and measuring recidivism. Madison,
WI: Wisconsin Criminal Justice Coordinating Council, Data Sharing and Outcomes, Trends and
Indicators Subcommittee.

I? .. I).psi

i;izi

,, I ))j, 4

93 of 199



•‘t I )lIttiltr !tili’ iiit \Ii,r I(ltIt Ironi

Appendix A

Definition of Recidivism
The WI DCC defines recidivism as a new offense resulting in a conviction and sentence to the WI DCC. This
definition of recidivism is based on a rather straightforward, yet fundamental principle in defining public
safety. That is, generally, when members of the public are asked what they expect of an offender who is
placed on probation supervision, or released from prison following a conviction for a crime, many simply
respond “...that they do not commit another crime.” Therefore, the WI DCC method for calculating recidivism
rates centers on an offense date for which the offender, through full due process of the legal system, is
ultimately convicted of another crime. These events can be substantiated through documentation of actions
taken by the court (e.g., a Judgment of Conviction).

A notable limitation to fully applying this principle to
calculating recidivism rates involves not having full access to
data containing information on court dispositions that do not
come under the custody or supervision of the WI DCC (see
bulleted list at right). As additional data on municipal
violations, fines, jail-only sentences, or convictions resulting in
sentences in other state or federal correctional systems
becomes available to the WI DCC, and can meet stringent
validation standards, the Department will expand the scope of
its recidivism calculations to include these documented incidents
of new criminal behavior. Under current circumstances, the
Department can only measure what it is able to count and
verify as accurate. Despite this limitation, it is important to note
that the WI DCC uses the same methodology to calculate
recidivism rates for all past recidivism rates, and will continue
to use this methodology for all future rates, allowing for
consistent reporting of recidivism trends over time.

Methodology
There are four key components involved in recidivism rate
calculations (see the CJCC recidivism framework for a general description)2.

o Stoning point — This defines the date on which a criminal justice event occurs that starts the
measurement period. For the purposes of the assessment of recidivism in this report, the dote of
release from prison serves as the starting point and offender releases are grouped by calendar
year.

o Cohort —The group of offenders who are at risk to recidivate that are tracked over a consistent
period of time, which in this case is offenders released from prison after a sentence for a sex
offense. An individual offender is only counted once in each cohort year.

:1 of if,

Ii ISIOhISIll n’iiiiiisiii mu’

(((left lt:tio,zs do ii of in elude:

o persons convicted/sentenced in another
state

o persons convicted/sentenced in Federal
court

o persons convicted/sentenced in another
country

o persons arrested with no conviction

o persons charged with no conviction

o persons with municipal ordinance
violations

o persons convicted of a crime that results in
a court disposition that does not lead to
custody or supervision under the WI DCC

o persons admitted to oil or prison without
0 new conviction

o persons who have not been apprehended
or convicted of a new crime

o charges that do not result in a conviction
due to plea bargoining or are read-in
during sentencing

II I) iI ‘I I ,,rr.

94 of 199



‘ ‘. k)ttr-tttltr lt-s itt,’ iiit \ltt-r Ftlctn ruin l’ri—i,,

o Follow-up period — Timeframe in which an offender has the opportunity to engage in a recidivism
event. The timeframe typically used for follow-up periods is three years, but other follow-up
periods (one, two, five years) are common as well. To accurately measure recidivism rates all
offenders in the cohort must have the same amount of follow-up time.

o Recidivism event — The measure that identifies whether and when recidivism occurred. Some
commonly used recidivism events ore arrest new conviction, new prison sentence, and admission to
prison. WI DCC defines a recidivism event as an offense that results in a new conviction and
sentence to WI DCC custody or supervision. The WI DCC uses the date of the offense that
resulted in the conviction as the dote of the recidivism event. Note that the conviction and sentence
can occur after the end of an offender’s follow-up period.

Release date (from
3 years for general recidivismprison) is the storting Follow-up Period i 5 years for sexual recidivism

point dote
Also include, five- and ten-year foilou.-up

- End ofStarting
‘1 —

— + Follow-upPoint
Period

Recidivism
Event

Who is in the cohori
Offense date is theOfferdoru roinased from prison . -

after a,errcqce that requi’es rectdivt,m event dote
£bns33iOfl to the in. offender o Conviction 4 Probation
tegistry (see Appendin B} o Conjiction 4 Jail and Probation

C, Conviction -, Priton

It is important to note what starting point, follow-up period, and recidivism event are being used when
comparing results from different recidivism studies, as rates are not comparable when any one of these
components are different.

Starting Point

For this report offenders released from a WI DCC facility between 1992 and 2010 were included in the
various release year cohorts with the following exception: offenders who were released from a temporary
stay in a WI DCC facility, such as a hold, an alternative to revocation (ATR), or an alternative to prison (ATP)
were not included in the release cohorts. Only those offenders who were released from a period of
incarceration due to completing the confinement portion of their sentence or revocation were included in each
release cohort. However, individuals who were released from a period of incarceration only to be committed
to DHS as a ‘Sexually Violent Person’ under Wisconsin’s Chapter 980 were also excluded from the release
cohorts. As these offenders did not spend time in the community before admission to a DHS facility, they did
not have a comparable starting point for time at risk as other WI DCC releases.

1’

(I ftii,itt i):jtstitiini if (.nttt, tint’ I,,-,, —, tt/ it

95 of 199



Su (HI&tstlr lr’ ilj i’.tt’ \tIcr trt.i,t ‘tçj%4%55

Cohort

A cohort is defined as a group of offenders who are ot risk to recidivate that is tracked over a consistent
period of time. For the purposes of this report, the cohort of interest is offenders who are released from prison
(in a given calendar year) after serving a sentence for an offense requiring submission to the sex offender
registry (see Appendix B). An offender was only counted once in any given cohort. If an offender was
released more than once during a calendar year, the last release in the year was used as the offender’s
starting point for his or her follow-up period.

Follow-up Period

Follow-up periods for a given starting point cohort were the same for every offender in the cohort Meaning if
an offender was released fram prison on January 1, 1995, he was followed until December 31, 1997 for a
three-year follow-up period, while an offender released on December 31, 1995 was followed until
December 30, 1998.

Offenders who died within the timeframe of each specified follow-up period were removed from the starting
point cohort. For example, an offender who died three-and-a-half years after being released would not be
included in the five-year follow-up cohort, because he died before the five years were complete. However,
this offender would still be included in the three-year follow-up cohort because he did not die until after he
had been in the community for the entire three years following his release. The WI DOC is only able to track
the deaths of offenders who are under the supervision of the WI DCC at the time of their deaths. Therefore
offenders who died and were not under WI DCC custody or supervision at that time remain in the cohort.

Recidivism Event

An offender was considered a recidivist if he or she committed a new offense and was convicted and
sentenced to WI DCC custody or supervision within his or her follow-up period. Although an offender must be
convicted and sentenced to WI DCC custody or supervision to be considered a recidivist it is the date of the
actual offense that is considered the date of the recidivism event not the date of conviction, sentencing, or
admission to prison. Therefore, the offense itself must have occurred during the offender’s follow-up period. If
an offender had multiple offense dates in a given follow-up period the earliest offense date was counted as
the recidivism event. An offender can only be counted as a recidivist once within any given cohort.

For some older data, offense dates were missing but corresponding sentence dates were available. Estimated
offense dates were calculated for all missing offense dates using the following equatiam

Estimated Offense Date = Sentence Date — 209 days’
Median number of days between offense and sentence dotes based on sentence dotes

that acairred between January 1,2006 and December21, 2011

If an estimated offense date fell within an offender’s follow-up period he or she was counted as a recidivist.
WI DOC’s methodology considers the date of an offense as the date of the recidivism event. Often an
offender is not arrested, tried, convicted, and sentenced until years after committing an offense. The WI DCC
does not obtain data for that offense until the time that the offender is sentenced to custody or supervision
under the Department. Therefore, past recidivism rates can change depending on when data is analyzed. For

Il so 1)55.115 i)1,,t,i,,is,st sf is, nato,,, i’s, _‘I of He

96 of 199



‘ 4 IItillcr Ici. Ii,r Iroin

example, if an offender was arrested, convicted, and sentenced in 2009 for an offense committed in 1996, a
recidivism rate calculated in 2008 for a 1995 starting point cohort would not count the offender as a
recidivist However, if that rote was calculated again in 2010, the offender would be considered a recidivist
for the 1995 starting point cohort.

Even when an offender is arrested, tried, convicted, and sentenced shortly after the occurrence of an offense,
the WI DCC still will not obtain offense data until 209 days (an average) after the offense. Therefore,
recidivism rates calculated by the WI DCC provide for a minimum one-year lag time to account for the time
between apprehension for a new offense and subsequent court disposition. This allows the Department to
capture data on offenders who committed offenses during the last year of their follow-up periods, but who
were not convicted and sentenced until sometime after the follow-up period. For example, a report of 2010
release from prison recidivism rates with a three-year follow-up period would not be published until after
2014, allowing for the three-year follow-up period (ending in 2013) and the one-year lag time (ending in
2014).

Furthermore, WI DCC is only able to calculate recidivism rates based on the data that is available to the
Department. Therefore offenses that result in convictions to only county jail or fines are not counted as
recidivism events because the WI DCC is not notified when offenders receive these types of sentences or court
dispositions. At this point in time, the WI DCC is only able to obtain and validate data on offenders who are
under WI DCC custody or supervision.

Age at Release

An offender’s age at release was calculated as the number of years between the offender’s date of birth
and his or her release date. The offender’s age was rounded down, meaning that if 25 years and 300 days
had passed between an offender’s date of birth and release date, that offender was identified as being 25
years old.

Time to Recidivism Event

Time to recidivism event was calculated as the number of months between the offender’s date of release and
the date of his or her recidivism offense. The number of months was rounded down, such that if the time
between the release and the recidivism offense was two months and 27 days, the offender was categorized
as having recidivated in two months from his or her release.

Recidivism Offense and Sexual Re-offense Type
Recidivism offense categories were based on the Association of State Correctional Administrators (ASCA)
Performance-Based Measures System (PBMS) standards. While the ASCA standards were followed as closely
as possible in the categorization of offenses, supplementary rules were developed to aid in categorizing
statutes that did not clearly fit into one category or another. Offense categorization methodology is available
upon request. In addition, the Sex Cffense category highlighted on page 18 of the text and Table 9 of
Appendix C is not included in the ASCA categorization standards, as crimes from this ‘pseudo-category’ are
included in the Public Crder Offense and Violent Offense categories for ASCA. The offenses that were
included in this category—as well as to define sexual offender releases and sexual recidivism events—were

B ,cgooslH it In, i,,tuitz% j’,m _‘.; if)

97 of 199



IIIlfliI(i Ic, Ii’ itcr lIca,, Ir.,iii

identified using the Federal Bureau of investigation’s Uniform Crime Reporting (UCR) standards and Wisconsin
State statutes defining offending inclusion criteria for submission to the sex offender registry [see WI Statute
301A5(1D)(Bfl. A listing of the associated Sex Offense statutes is presented in Appendix B.

Sex offenses were not further differentiated into crimes against children and crimes against adults for two key
reasons. First, depending on the statute for which an offender was convicted, it may be unclear whether the
resulting victim(s) of the offense was a child, an adult, or both. For example, convictions under WI Statute
944.20 (Lewd and Lascivious Behavior) and WI Statute 940.22 (Sexual Exploitation by a Therapist), among
others, do not include sub-statutes that serve to differentiate between an offense toward a child versus an
adult. Second, the sentencing data available to WI DOC only reflect those statutes for which an offender was
evenivally convicted and do not include information on the actual behavior that led to the conviction, read-ins
during the sentencing phase, or any other charges that may have been dismissed or changed following a plea
agreement. As such, on offenders final set of sustained convictions may not reliably reflect the actual
behavior that would allow a child versus adult victim discrimination.

If an offender had committed offenses on multiple dates within his or her follow-up period, the first offense
date was selected as the date on which the offender became a recidivist. To determine the offender’s most
serious offense, the offenses committed on that offense date only were examined.

Finally, the offense type analysis focusing specifically on sexual reoffending (see page 19) used a slightly
different methodology to identify the most common offenses. In order to maximize the number of sexual
reoffending instances counted in this analysis, data was included from all release cohorts, independent of
follow-vp period. In other words, if an offender committed a sex offense at any point after release from
prison, even if the offense occurred outside the specified follow-up period, that event was included in this
examination. This methodology, ignoring follow-up period restrictions, was only used in the sexual
reoffending type analysis.

Percentage Change in Recidivism Rate

The percentage change in the recidivism rate reported in the executive summary and on pages eight and ten
is calculated by dividing the percentage-point change by the initial recidivism rate and multiplying the
resulting number by 100. This yields the percentage by which the recidivism rate changed. For example, in
1992 the general recidivism rate for sex offenders was 28.0%, and it decreased 1 1.5 percentage points to
16.5°/c, in 20 0. Therefore, the resulting change in the recidivism rate was 41.1°/c,.

Recidivism vs. Reincarceration
One statistic commonly reported by most corrections agencies that is sometimes confused with a recidivism
rote is a reincarceration rate. This statistic is the percentage of offenders released from prison who then return
to prison for any reason within a specified follow-up period. For the WI DOC, this would include offenders
who returned to prison for a temporary stay in a WI DOC facility, such as a hold, an alternative to revocation
(ATR), or an alternative to prison (ATP), and those who returned for revocations without new sentences. The
Department will be tracking reincarceration rates as a means to report on prison bed utilization and
population prolections, but not as a means to calculate recidivism rates.

II tic (iii.%iIt I)j)iii,,tci,c of (4,iri(icII. I’vr. J/i if J(,

98 of 199



t)Iltiiiltr l,ti,lji .jj’ \tt,r lcli;It from l’ri—oii

Appendix B

Defined Sexual Offrnses by (iCR Category

UCR 02 — Forcible Rape
Statute Description Statute Number(s)

1” Degree Sexual Assault 940.225(1)

—, with Great Bodily Harm 940.225(1 )(A)

—‘with a Dangerous Weapon 940.225(1)(B)

—‘Aided by Others 940.225(13(C)

1” Degree Sexual Assault af a Child 940.225(13(0), 948.02(1), 948.025

—. with Great Bodily Harm 948.02fl(A), 948.02(1)(AM)

—, under the Age of 12 948.02(1 3(B)

—‘under the Age of 16 948.02(1)(C)

under the Age of 16 with Threat af Force 948.020 3(D)

—‘ under the Age of 13 948.02(1 3(E)

2 Degree Sexual Assault 940.225(2)

— with the Use of Farce 940.225(2)(A)

—‘ Sexual Organ Injury 940.225(23(B)

—‘ Mentally Ill Victim 940.225(2)(C)

—‘ Intoxicated Victim 940.225(2)(CM)

— Unconscious Victim 940.225(23(D)

— Aided by Others 940.225(23(F)

—* by Treatment Facility Staff 940.225(23(0)

—‘ by Correctional Staff 940.225(23(H)

—. by Probation, Parole, or ES Agent 940.225(23(l)

— by Employee of Child Welfare/Care/Service Agency 940.225(2)(i)

2nd Degree Sexual Assault of a Child 940.225ç2)(E), 948.02(2)

3rd Degree Sexual Assault 940.225(3)

4th Degree Sexual Assault 9%0.225(3M)

Rape 944.010)

Repeated Sexual Assault of Same Child 948.025(1)

10 Degree Sexual Assault (3+ Violations) 948.025(13(A), 948.025(1)(B), 948.025(13(C), 948.025(1)(D)

— 1” and 2nd Degree Sexual Assault (3+ Violations) 948.025(1)(E)

Sexual Assault of a Child Placed in Substitute Care 948.085(1), 948.085(2)

Sexual Assault of a Child by School Staff 948.095(2)
Sexual Assault of a Child by a Person who Works or

948 095(3)Volunteers with Children

II fl’1,,,, (otto, of (wit t’’n(tiit,% l’,tc,’ ol Th

99 of 199



4 )Ifitnltr lt’,idi ,.iti 1 Etlt’ast truiti lhil,oIi

UCR 16— Prostitution and Commercialized Vice
Statute Description Statute Number(s)

Child Enticement — Prostitution 948.07(2)

Soliciting a Child for Prostitution 948.08

UCR 17—Sex Offense
Statute Descriptkn Statute Number(s)

Lewd and Lascivious Behavior 944.20(1)

— Sexual Gratification in Public 944.20(1 )(A)

Expose Genitals 944.20(1 )(B)

Expose Genitals to a Child/Cause Child to Expose Genitals 948.10(1)

Incest 944.06

— with a Child 948.06(1)

Sexual Gratification/Perversion 944.17(1), 944.17(2)

in Public 944.1 7(2)(A)

—‘with an Animal 944.17(2)(C), 944.17(2)(D)

Sexual Exploitation by a Therapist 940.22(2)

Child Enticement 948.07

— Sexual Contact 948.07(1)

—‘Expose Sexual Organ 948.07(3)

— Take Pictures/Recording 948.07(4)

Child Sexploitation/Sexual Exploitation of a Child 948.050)

Employ, Use, Induce 948.05(1)(A)

— Videos, Records, and Pictures 948.05(1)(B)

—, Produce and Perform 948.05(IM)

Cause Child (< 13) to View Sex Act 948.055(1), 948.055(2)(A)

Cause Child (13-18) to View Sex Act 948.055(1), 948.055(2)(B)

Sex with Child Age 1 6 or Older 948.09

UCR 26 — All Other Offenses
Statute Description Statute Number(s)

Use Computer/Facilitate Child Sex Crime 948.075(1), 948.075(1 R)

Possession of Child Pornography 948.12(1), 948.12(1 M)

Exhibition of Child Pornography 948.1 2(2), 948.1 2(2M)

II ,s,c,,i,,’ of (u;; t,ohi% _)fi cif (i

100 of 199



Appendix C

lllt’iitlt’r Itt’itIi —ii, \ltcr fi’Ia’aSt’ iroiti T’t’i—oit

Table I. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders (1992-2010)

Total
Recidivists Releases

82 28.0% 293

130 304¾ 427

93 29.7% 312

130 28.6% 452

1 23 25.4% 483

147 28.3% 517

129 24.1% 530

115 23.2% 493

152 24.3% 620

132 21.4% 615

151 21.2% 709

187 21.8% 853

204 23.6% 861

187 22.4% 832

167 19.4% 855

162 17.2% 936

176 17.5% 1,001

174 17.5% —

Total
Recidivists Releases

104 35.5% 288

163 38.2% 422

115 36.9% 310

168 37.2% 448

160 33.1% 479

185 35.8% 513

176 33.2% 526

164 33.3% 487

200 32.3% 613

196 31.9% 608

219 30.9% 700

254 29.8% 845

274 31.8% —

247 29.7% —

224 26.2% —

226 24.1% —

235 23.5% —

Recidivists

141 49.0%

205 48.6°/c

154 49.7%

218 48.7%

217 45.3%

249 48,5%

228 43.3%

227 46.6%

262 42.7%

259 42.6%

284 40.6%

330 39.1%

Recidivists

155 54.0%

222 53.1%

167 54.0%

234 52.6%

231 48.5%

263 51.9%

246 47.6%

3-Year Follow-Up S-Year Follow-Up 7 fl-Year Follow-Up I S-Tear Follow-Up

Release
Year

1992

1993

1994

1995

1996

1997

1998

I 999

2000

200)

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Total
Releases

293

428

313

455

485

520

535

496

625

617

713

859

864

835

860

942

1,005

997

1,007

Total
Releases

287

418

309

445

476

507

517

169 16.8% — — — — — — — — —

Total 12,849 2,810 21.9°/s 10,789 3,310 30.7% 6,239 2,774 44,5% 2959 1,518 51.3%

II ,, oe.sjtt IL jsritnswsI 01 1.,, Iotsojt.%
_‘) i/ .i6

101 of 199



Sr’, I tiltistler Icridl\ islil \It.’i’ KtIiis’ lii,i,t I’rj’.on

Table 2. General Recidivism Trends for All Offenders (1992-2010)

3-Year F&kw1., 5-Year Follow-Up 70-Year Follow-Up IS-Year Follow-Up

Recldlylsis

2,194 61.3%

2,640 62.9%

2,456 6L9%

2,945 60.5°/.

2,886 60.9%

2,970 60.6%

2,742 58.5%

3,122 61.2%

4,196 59.5%

3,979 58.6%

4,187 56.5%

4,377 56.5%

lotol
Releases

3,556

4,150

3,939

t,823

4,693

4,855

4,646

ReIee Total Total Total
Year Releases RecIdlvi%ts Releases Recidivists Releo%es
1992 3,631 1,542 42.5% 3,618 1,881 52.0% 3,582

1 993 4,252 1,928 45.3% 4,225 2,286 54.1% 4,195

1994 4,018 1,754 432% 4,001 2,062 51.5% 3,969
1995 4,922 2,025 41.1% 4,905 2,456 50.1% 4,970

1996 4,811 1,993 41.4% 4,788 2,414 50.4% 4,739

1997 4,979 1,968 39.5% 4,953 2,444 49.3% 4,898

1998 4,761 1,799 37.8% 4,740 2,296 48.4% 4,689

1999 5,171 2,083 40.3% 5,153 2,635 51.1% 5,104

2000 7,121 2,820 39.6% 7,099 3,537 49.8% 7,047

2001 6.864 2,700 39.3’% 6,844 3,365 49.2% 6,794

2002 7,520 2,742 36.5% 7,487 3,511 46.9% 7,412

2003 7,870 2,889 36.7% 7,826 3,629 46.4% 7,744

2004 8,321 2,985 35.9% 8,278 3,723 45.0%

2005 8,538 2,902 34.0% 8,499 3,726 43.8%

2006 8,377 2,814 33.6% 8,324 3,607 43.3%

2007 8,525 2,806 32.9% 8,469 3,589 42.4%

2008 9,092 2,796 30.8% 9,030 3,656 40.5%

2009 8,671 2,657 30.6%

2010 8,466 2,679 31.6%

Total 125,910

Recidivistt

2,308 64.9%

2,741 66.0%

2,580 65.5%

3,074 63.7%

3,001 63.9%

3,103 63.9%

2,880 62.0%

45,882 36.4% 1 08,239 50,817 46.9% 65,043 38,694 59.5% 30,662 1 9,687 64.2%

II iv i)puitus’ist v ( ,,tr,,t,,,,s.s it) vi i’

102 of 199



‘ 4 Hlewler kttisIi I%Ifl \li r BiJiast mlii I’ri—osi

Table 3. Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offrnders (1992-2010)

3-Year Follow-Up 5-Year Follow-Up 10-Year Follow-Up 75-Year Follow-Up

Releoe Total Sexual Total Sexual Total Sexual Total Sexual
Year Releases Recidivtsts Releases Recidivist, Releases Rectdivists Releases Recidivists
1992 293 17 18% 293 18 6.1% 288 22 7.6% 287 22 7.7%
1993 428 36 8.4% 427 43 10.1% 422 50 11.8% 418 52 12.4%
1994 313 16 5.1% 312 26 83% 310 32 10.3% 309 33 10.7%
1995 455 23 5.1% 452 27 6.0% 448 32 7.1% 445 32 7.2%
1996 485 17 3.5% 483 22 4.6% 479 28 5.8% 476 30 6.3%
1997 520 23 4.2% 517 25 4.8% 513 32 6.2% 507 36 7.1%
1998 535 17 3.2% 530 20 3.8% 526 27 5.1% 517 31 6.0%
1999 496 14 2.8% 493 23 4.7% 487 30 6.2% — — —

2000 625 21 3.4% 620 22 3.5% 613 31 5.1% — —

2001 617 24 3.9% 615 37 6.0% 608 43 7.1%

2002 713 15 2.1% 709 21 3.0% 700 25 3.6%
2003 859 20 2.3% 853 27 3.2% 845 37 4.4%

2004 864 25 2.9°/s 861 30 3.5% — — —

2005 835 24 2.9% 832 36 4,3% — — —

2006 860 16 1.9% 855 26 3.0% — — —

2007 942 22 2.3% 936 27 2.9% — — —

2008 1,005 14 1.4% 1,001 17 1.7% — — —

2009 997 18 1.8% — — — — — —

2010 1,007 15 1.5% — — — — — —

Total 1 2,849 377 2,9% 10,789 447 4.1% 6,239 389 6.2% 2,959 236 8.0%

II IS(i5?t%itt IL7,ittt,nc,ii Of (.55, 55’ ftI)is,%
l’st!Z’’ fl ol its

103 of 199



(I
ll

,
‘d

ir
II

,,
ni

ts
—

ii’
l
i
i
i

H
l..

,—
tr

o
u
t

‘n
—

u,

T
ab

le
4.

G
en

er
al

R
ec

id
iv

is
m

T
re

nd
s
fo

r
S

ex
O

ff
en

de
rs

by
A

ge
:

3-
Y

ea
r

F
ol

lo
w

-u
p

79
or

Y
ou

ng
er

20
-2

9
3
0
3
9

40
-4

9
50

-5
9

60
or

O
ld

er
R

el
ea

se
T

ot
al

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

T
ol

ol
T

ol
ol

T
ot

al
Y

ea
r

R
el

ea
se

s
R

ec
id

iv
is

t,
R

el
ea

se
s

R
ec

id
iv

is
t,

R
el

ea
se

s
R

ec
id

iv
is

t,
R

el
ea

te
s

R
ec

id
iv

is
t,

R
el

ea
se

,
R

ec
id

iv
is

i,
R

el
ea

se
,

R
ec

id
iv

is
t,

19
92

2
1

—
11

6
45

38
.8

%
10

1
22

21
.8

%
55

12
21

.8
%

12
2

—
7

0
—

19
93

6
4

—
16

8
64

38
.1

%
13

0
39

30
.0

%
74

16
21

.6
%

34
6

17
.6

%
16

1
—

19
94

4
2

—
13

0
54

41
.5

%
10

1
26

25
.7

%
59

9
15

.3
%

13
I

—
6

1
—

19
95

2
I

—
18

5
65

35
.1

%
15

9
47

29
.6

%
72

11
15

.3
%

26
5

19
.2

%
II

I
—

19
96

1
0

—
19

6
71

3
6
2
%

17
1

34
19

.9
%

83
13

15
.7

%
21

4
—

13
I

—

19
97

7
4

—
20

5
73

35
.6

%
18

0
47

26
.1

%
84

14
16

.7
%

31
8

25
.8

%
13

1
—

19
98

10
6

—
19

0
60

31
.6

%
18

7
46

24
.6

%
10

1
II

10
.9

%
36

6
16

.7
%

II
0

—

19
99

5
4

—
17

4
58

33
.3

%
18

7
43

23
.0

%
88

7
6.

0%
30

3
10

.0
%

12
0

—

20
00

6
2

—
21

1
72

34
.1

%
22

2
54

24
.3

%
12

5
18

14
.4

%
44

4
9.

1%
17

2
—

20
01

1
0

—
20

7
60

29
.0

%
21

7
49

22
.6

%
12

7
16

12
.6

%
44

5
11

.4
%

21
2

—

20
02

3
I

—
27

5
76

27
.6

%
22

6
50

22
.1

%
14

7
21

14
.3

%
43

2
4.

7%
19

I
—

20
03

6
2

—
31

5
88

27
.9

%
24

0
49

20
.4

%
21

5
43

20
.0

%
62

5
8.

1%
21

0
—

20
04

10
5

—
32

0
11

4
35

.6
%

25
8

54
20

.9
%

17
7

23
1
1
0
%

74
6

8.
1%

25
2

—

20
05

9
3

—
30

6
92

29
.9

%
23

1
47

20
.3

%
19

6
35

17
.9

%
64

10
15

.6
%

27
0

—

20
06

3
1

—
33

1
10

0
30

.2
%

24
0

33
13

.8
%

19
8

23
11

.6
%

66
7

10
.6

%
22

3
—

2
0

0
7

4
0

—
34

6
93

26
.9

%
25

8
40

15
.5

%
22

5
21

9.
3%

76
7

9.
2%

33
I

—

20
08

7
1

—
40

3
98

24
.3

%
26

2
46

17
.6

%
20

3
26

12
.8

%
89

3
3.

4%
41

2
—

20
09

4
I

—
39

0
92

2
1
6
%

25
9

42
16

.2
%

20
6

29
14

.1
%

10
1

7
6.

9%
37

3
—

20
10

4
0

—
38

8
90

23
.2

%
26

5
49

16
.5

%
21

1
25

11
.8

%
10

5
4

3.
8%

34
I

—

N
ot

e:
R

ec
id

iv
is

m
ra

te
s

ar
e

on
ly

pr
et

en
te

d
w

he
n

th
e

ag
e

gr
ou

p
re

pr
es

en
te

d
at

le
au

l
fi

ve
pe

rc
en

i
of

th
e

to
ta

l
re

le
as

e
co

ho
rt

fo
r

th
e

gi
ve

n
ye

ar
.

II
t
,t

t
f
l
t
O

j
f
J
,
,
i
f
l
t
n
t
,
!
j
1

1
1

‘
‘
,f

l,
t

no
’.

104 of 199



IN
-.

pi
n

p
it

’
pp

IN
i’

p
_
.

lr.
pp

pp
jtp

T
ab

le
5.

S
ex

u
al

R
ec

id
iv

is
m

T
re

n
d

s
fo

r
S

ex
O

ff
en

de
rs

k
A

ge
:

15
-

Y
ea

r
Fo

llo
tu

-u
p

7
9
0
,

Y
ou

ng
er

20
-2

9
30

-3
9

4
0
4
9

5
0
-5

9
60

or
O

ld
er

R
el

ee
rs

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

T
ot

al
T

ot
al

Y
ea

r
R

el
ea

se
s

R
ec

id
iv

is
t,

R
el

ea
se

s
R

ec
id

iv
is

ts
R

el
ea

se
s

R
ec

id
iv

is
ts

R
el

ea
se

t
R

ec
id

iv
is

ts
R

el
ea

se
s

R
ec

id
iv

is
t,

R
el

ea
se

s
R

ec
id

iv
is

t,
19

92
2

0
—

11
5

9
7.

8%
10

1
6

5.
9%

5
4

5
9.

3%
12

2
—

3
0

—

19
93

6
I

—
16

6
28

16
.9

%
12

8
15

11
.7

%
71

3
4.

2%
31

4
12

.9
%

16
I

—

19
94

4
I

—
12

9
20

15
.5

%
10

1
6

5
9
%

59
4

6.
8%

13
2

—
3

0
—

19
95

2
0

—
18

4
Ii

6.
0%

15
7

13
8.

3%
71

4
5.

6%
23

3
13

.0
%

8
I

—

19
96

1
0

—
19

4
13

6.
7%

17
0

10
5.

9%
81

4
4.

9%
20

3
—

10
0

—

19
97

7
0

—
20

3
17

8.
4%

17
9

II
6
1
%

81
6

7.
4%

28
2

7.
1%

9
0

—

19
98

10
1

—
18

3
II

6.
0%

18
5

14
7.

6%
97

4
4.

1%
32

I
3.

1%
10

0
—

N
ot

es
R

ec
id

iv
is

m
ra

te
s

ar
e

on
ly

pr
es

en
te

d
w

he
n

th
e

ag
e

gr
ou

p
re

pr
es

en
le

d
at

le
as

l
fi

ve
pe

rc
en

t
of

th
e

to
ta

l
re

le
as

e
co

ho
rt

ta
r

th
e

gi
ve

n
ye

a,
.

Ii
tf

ii
I
P

s
iI

i
l,

i,
,t

it
i,

i.
ii

,
fl

(
i
s
,

!
i
I
t

1
o
.,

:t
ii

/
;,

105 of 199



Ut’’ sin i,ti \Ili’r UeI,’.sst in,,, PrNtus

Table 6. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Race: 3-Year Follow-up

White Black Amerkcnlndian/
Ashes / Po61k Islander Nat Reported

Release Tctal Total Total Total Total
Year Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivist, Releases Recidivist,
1992 200 47 23.5% 74 28 37.8% 12 5 — 0 0 — 7 2 —

1993 302 79 26.2% 110 46 41.8% 13 5 — 0 0 — 3 0 —

1994 196 45 23.0% 104 45 43.3% 9 3 — 2 0 — 2 0 —

1995 271 67 24.7% 161 56 348% 18 7 — 1 0 — 4 0 —

1996 315 71 22.5% 147 43 29.3% 19 9 — 2 0 — 2 0 —

1997 342 83 24.3% 159 57 35.8% 16 7 — 2 0 — I 0 —

1998 314 69 22.0% 197 55 27.9% 19 4 — 3 I — 2 0 —

1999 298 60 20.1% 171 48 28.1% 23 5 — 3 2 — 1 0 —

2000 403 89 22.1% 195 54 27.7% 23 8 — 3 1 — 1 0 —

2001 385 74 19.2% 195 46 23.6% 30 10 — 6 2 — I 0 —

2002 466 85 18.2% 223 60 26.9% 21 6 — 3 0 — 0 0 —

2003 523 85 16.3% 312 90 28.8% 22 12 — 2 0 — 0 0 —

2004 563 106 18.8% 265 87 32.8% 29 9 — 7 2 — 0 0 —

2005 539 102 18.9°% 271 80 29.5% 19 5 — 4 0 — 2 0 —

2006 543 83 15.3% 261 69 26.4% 42 14 — 13 1 — 1 0 —

2007 594 96 16,2% 304 57 18.8% 34 8 — 9 I — 1 0 —

2008 655 94 14.4% 304 71 23.4% 34 10 — 10 1 — 2 0 —

2009 643 88 13.7% 306 71 23.2% 34 II — 13 4 — 1 0 —

2010 678 101 14.9% 281 55 19.6% 40 12 — 6 1 — 2 0 —

Note: Recidivism rates are only presenled when she race group represented at least five perent ci the total release cohart far the given year.

II sst ors%stt I)rptrslrIrc;tl vi Cr us’s litttt.s
f’t,t ii of ifs

106 of 199



)llttssls’r It’s’idi i,,is \l’irr IiIt,s.’ hoisl

Table 8. Sexual Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Type: 15-Year Follow
up

Discharged without Non-Discretionary Release to Discretionary Release to
Supervision Supervision Supervision

Release Total Total Total TotalYear Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivists Releases Recidivist, Release, Recidivist,
1992 17 0 0.0% 82 8 9.8% 183 13 7.1% 5 I —

1993 8 1 — 103 19 184% 303 31 10.2% 4 1 —

1994 11 0 — 130 16 12.3% 163 17 10.4% 5 0 —

1995 16 3 — 206 18 8.7% 219 11 5.0% 4 0 —

1996 19 4 — 249 20 8.0% 204 6 2.9% 4 0 —

1997 20 0 — 281 25 8.9% 199 10 5.O% 7 1 —

1998 35 1 2.9% 331 22 6.6% 145 8 S.S°/e 6 0 —

at east five percent of the total release cohort
Note: Recidivism rate, are only presented when the release type group represented
far the given year.

Table 7. General Recidivism Trends for Sex Offenders by Release Tjpe: 3-Year Follow-up
Di,choed without Non-Discretionary Release to Discretionary Release to

OtherSupervision Supervision Supervision
Release Total Total Total TotalYear Releases Recidivist, Releases Recidivist, Releases Reddivists Releases Recidivists
1992 17 4 23.5% 86 30 34.9% 185 46 24.9% 5 2 —

1993 9 4 — 105 36 34.3% 310 90 29.0% 4 0 —

1994 12 5 — 130 36 27.7% 166 51 30.7% 5 1 —

1995 16 6 — 213 66 31,0% 222 58 26.1% 4 0 —

1996 19 7 — 256 64 25.0% 206 SI 24.8% 4 1 —

1997 20 5 — 293 89 30.4°/s 200 52 2&.O/s 7 1 —

1998 38 14 36.8% 344 86 25.0% 147 29 19.7% 6 0 —

1999 59 20 33.9% 355 83 23.4% 74 I I 14.9% 8 1 —

2000 95 31 32.6% 422 98 23.2% 94 21 22.3% 14 2 —

2001 108 28 25.9% 394 89 22,6% 105 13 12.4% 10 2 —

2002 122 27 22.1% 378 90 23.8% 202 32 15.8% 11 2 —

2003 110 31 28.2% 473 110 23.3% 268 44 16.4% 8 2 —

2004 110 31 28.2% 490 131 26.7% 25) 39 15.5% 13 3 —

2005 107 31 29.0% 560 130 23.2% 155 21 13.5% 13 5 —

2006 75 20 26.7% 638 131 20.5% 139 16 11.5% 8 0 —

2007 95 15 15.8% 750 142 18.9% 85 4 4.7% 12 1 —

2008 100 22 22.0% 809 145 17.9% 86 9 10.5% 10 0 —

2009 94 8 19.1% 826 152 18.4% 67 3 4.5% 10 1 —

2010 100 18 18.0% 864 146 16.9% 36 3 — 7 2 —

Note: Recidivism rates are only presented when the release type group represented at least five percent of the total release cohortfar the given year.

Other

II ttwi.s’,,i I).,,s,snsc,si 0/ C I’s’s tsssss. u,

107 of 199



‘i’ I )tiistItr Ktrstlii .,ti \Iiir BeIntt hoiii

Table 9. General Recidivism Offense Tpes for Sex Offenders

PuWk Order
Release rotoi

Violent Offense Property Offense Drug Offense
Offense Sex Offense

Year Recidiyisls N % N % N % N % N
1992 82 35 42.7% 16 19.5% 8 9.8% 23 28.0% 17 20.7%
1993 130 63 48.5% 22 16.9% 11 8.5% 34 26.2% 36 27.7%
1994 93 38 40.9% 18 19.4% 7 7.5% 30 32.3% 16 17.2%
1995 130 53 40.8% 32 24.6% 8 6.2% 37 28.5% 23 17.7%
1996 123 47 38.2% 27 22.0% 10 8.1% 39 31.7% 17 13.8%
1997 147 46 31.3% 33 22.4% 23 15.6% 45 30.6% 23 15.6%
1998 129 34 26.4% 33 25.6% 14 10.9% 48 37.2% 17 13.2%
1999 115 45 39.1% 23 20.0% 15 13.0% 32 27.8% 14 12.2%
2000 152 47 30.9% 34 22.4% 10 6.6% 6 I 40.1% 21 13.8%
2001 132 47 35.6% 22 16.7% 18 13.6% 45 34.1% 24 18.2%
2002 151 43 28.5% 19 12.6% 18 11.9% 71 47.0% 15 9.9%
2003 187 40 21.4% 30 16.0% 19 10.2% 98 52.4% 20 10.7%
2004 204 61 29.9% 23 11.3% 24 11.8% 96 47.1% 25 12.3%
2005 187 48 25.7% 23 12.3% 18 9.6% 98 52.4% 24 12.8%
2006 167 30 18.0% 28 16.8% 16 9.6% 93 55.7% 16 9.6%
2007 162 41 25.3% 21 I3.O/s 22 13.6% 78 48.1% 22 13.6%
2008 176 48 27.3% 31 17.6% 18 10.2% 79 44.9% 14 8.0%
2009 174 45 25.9% 27 15.5% 20 11.5% 82 47.1°/p 18 10.3%
2010 169 39 23.1% 27 16.0% 24 14.2% 79 46.7% 15 8.9%

Offenses that fall in the Sex Offense category include those that foil within the Public Order Offense and Violent Offense categories.These nunbers do nor represent unique recidivism cases, but rather a subset of offenders that fall within other offense types.

Ii r,ss’i.,si l)jt,it,irni of (“sr (tots’ f°u Us of Jo

108 of 199



109 of 199



110 of 199



111 of 199



112 of 199



113 of 199



114 of 199



115 of 199



116 of 199



117 of 199



118 of 199



119 of 199



120 of 199



121 of 199



122 of 199



123 of 199



124 of 199



125 of 199



126 of 199



127 of 199



128 of 199



129 of 199



130 of 199



131 of 199



132 of 199



133 of 199



134 of 199



135 of 199



136 of 199



137 of 199



138 of 199



139 of 199



140 of 199



141 of 199



142 of 199



143 of 199



144 of 199



145 of 199



146 of 199



147 of 199



148 of 199



149 of 199



150 of 199



151 of 199



152 of 199



153 of 199



154 of 199



155 of 199



156 of 199



157 of 199



158 of 199



159 of 199



160 of 199



161 of 199



162 of 199



163 of 199



164 of 199



165 of 199



166 of 199



167 of 199



168 of 199



169 of 199



170 of 199



171 of 199



172 of 199



173 of 199



174 of 199



175 of 199



176 of 199



177 of 199



178 of 199



179 of 199



180 of 199



181 of 199



182 of 199



183 of 199



184 of 199



185 of 199



186 of 199



187 of 199



188 of 199



189 of 199



190 of 199



191 of 199



192 of 199



193 of 199



194 of 199



195 of 199



196 of 199



197 of 199



198 of 199



199 of 199


	Agenda 07-31-17
	CC Minutes 07-10-17
	2016 Annual Fire Department Report
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	2016 �Active Membership Roster
	Slide Number 4
	2016 Promotions
	Slide Number 6
	In 2016, the Cedarburg Fire Department responded to a total of 1,000 incidents in both the City and Town of Cedarburg, and mutual aid requests.�
	Types of Fire Incidents in 2016�City: 154  Town: 52  Mutual Aid/Mabas: 28
	Slide Number 9
	Apparatus 2016 Update
	Slide Number 11
	2016 Training
	CFD Training Hours �(3 year span)
	EMS Rescue Standby � Cedarburg Festivals
	Public Education
	Fire Prevention
	Goals for 2017
	150th Anniversary Celebration
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20

	Blue Sheet - Distillery Outdoor Patio
	PC Minutes 07-13-17
	Landmarks Minutes 06-29-17
	Distillery Outdoor Seating Plans
	Blue Sheet - RJ Thirsty's liquor license
	Blue Sheet - New Fortune
	New Fortune Premise Extension Request
	Blue Sheet - Sal's Nonpayment
	Sal's Letter - Non-payment
	Attorney Letter Sexual Preditor Ordinance
	Ord 2017-19 - Sex Offender Residency Restrictions
	Current Sex Offender Ordinance
	Child Safety Zone Map 8.5x11 2017
	US DOJ 2003 report
	WI DOC report 9-15
	Bills
	City Administrators Report
	2nd Quarter Financial Report
	Ethics Certification



